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GeoEye

MESSAGE FROM MATTHEW OCONNELL

GeoEye had another outstanding year in 2010 We reached series of important

milestones making 2010 pivotal year in our evolution as company

Our largest customer the National

Geospatial-Intelligence Agency NGA
awarded us $3.8 billion 10-year

contract That award clearly demon

strates the value of our business model

and gives us years of revenue visibility

We launched EyeQ an exciting new

Web services platform that has already

increased demand for and facilitated

distribution of our high-resolution

imagery Finally we completed strate

gic acquisition that enhances our port

folio and diversifies the customer base

in our core vertical markets GeoEye

is now poised to become one of the

worlds leading providers of geospatial

information and insight

Our performance in 2010 provided

solid foundation for realizing this objec

tive GeoEye produced revenues of

$330.3 million in 2010 representing

growth of 21.9% over the previous

year The Companys Adjusted EBITDA

was $176.9 million up 33.9% from

2009 Our strong operating perfor

mance resulted in an increase in our

operating margins to 31.4% up from

26.8% in 2009

Today GeoEye offers decision makers

precise view of changes around the

globe deep location analytics and the

ability to access specific information on

demand Four strategic goals that we

developed in 2010 will ensure our

leadership in these areas

Expand our satellite constellation

As part of our new $3.8 billion

EnhancedView contract with the NGA

the agency will provide up to $337.0

million for construction costs on our

next-generation satellite GeoEye-2

When operational in 2013 GeoEye-2

will deliver the industrys most accurate

and highest resolution satellite imagery

This program is on time and on budget

Increase accessibility to our industry-

leading imagery Our new Web-based

information services platform EyeQ

can serve up imagery and other layers

of geospatial information on demand

Our customers see in EyeQ an opportu

nity to increase their competitiveness

and enhance the value of the services

they provide their clients

History of Success

1992 1997 1999 2004 2005 2006

Predecessor Launch of Launch of Wins $SOOM Acquires Space Begins trading

company founded OrbView-2 IKONOS satellite NGA NextView Imaging on NASDAQ

satellite contract

Please refer to page 34 of the Form 10 for description of Adjusted EBITDA
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Diversify our customer base We

acquired SPADAC which we renamed

GeoEye Analytics expanding our port

folio of services to include geospatial

predictive analytics For many years our

largest government customer the NGA

has represented substantial majority

of our business Even as we grow and

strengthen this important relationship

GeoEye Analytics specialized expertise

provides the opportunity to enter new

customer markets including law enforce

ment and homeland defense

Maintain market leadership by

introducing differentiating value

added products and services In

2010 we created new vessel tracking

and fleet monitoring system for the

Republic of the Maldives We also

developed number of services based

on our predictive analytic and data

mining tools for U.S defense and

intelligence agencies

To reinforce our ability to achieve these

strategic goals GeoEye took number

of significant steps to strengthen

our balance sheet We completed

private placement of 80000 shares of

convertible preferred stock to Cerberus

Satellite LLC generating proceeds

of $78.0 million We also issued

$125.0 million of senior secured notes

at 8.625% due in 2016 As result we

ended 2010 with unrestricted cash and

short-term investments of $333.4 million

In addition we created new positions

that raised the profile of sales marketing

and product integration and filled these

positions with experienced senior exec

utives who came to us from firms like

Cisco Oracle and other enterprise solu

tion companies They are well equipped

to drive our continued success in the

government market and to help us pur

sue commercial growth opportunities in

such areas as oil and gas infrastructure

engineering and mining

Finally we targeted new regions for

growth We made investments that will

expand our geographic reach in Russia

India and Latin America

decade ago GeoEye was small

company with revenue of just $9.0

million and goal of delivering satellite

imagery of unprecedented quality

Thanks to our investment in advanced

technology and our emphasis on financial

performance GeoEye is now leading

end to end provider of geospatial

information and insight with revenue

over $330.0 million With our robust

pipeline of breakthrough products

strong financial foundation experienced

leadership team and diverse customer

base we are well positioned for even

greater success in the next decade

would like to thank our stockholders

for their confidence in the Company

would also like to thank our highly

skilled employees Over the years they

have maintained an intense focus on

meeting our customers needs They

have created the culture of operational

excellence and innovation that has been

vital to our success

Matthew OConnell

CEO and President

.4

2006 2007 2008 2010 2010 2010
Market Cap Acquires Mi Launch of Wins $3.8B NGA Acquires Market Cap

of $268.3M Harden aerial GeoEye-1 EnhancedView SPADAC GeoEye of $1.OSB

the week of company satellite contract Analytics the week of

September 15th November 9th



CeoEye

ELEVATING INSIGHT FOR PRECISE DECISION MAKING

About GeoEye

GeoEye is leading source of geospatial information and insight for decision makers and analysts who

need clear understanding of our changing world to protect lives manage risk and optimize resources

Each day organizations in defense and intelligence public safety critical infrastructure energy and

online media rely on GeoEyes imagery tools and expertise to support important missions around the

globe Widely recognized as pioneer in high-resolution satellite imagery GeoEye has evolved into

complete provider of geospatial intelligence solutions GeoEyes ability to collect process and analyze

massive amounts of geospatial data allows our customers to quickly see precise changes on the ground

and anticipate where events may occur in the future

GeoEye is public company listed on NASDAQ as GEOY and is headquartered in Herndon Virginia

with more than 700 employees worldwide Learn more at www.geoeye.com

Mission Statement

Enable our customers success by consistently providing superior quality location intelligence and

services resulting in timely and vital insightsanywhere anytime

Vision Statement

Be the worlds best source for location information and insight
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UNITED STATES SECURITIES AND EXCHANGWinmcinni
Washington D.C 20549

FORTS/I 10K MA 0520B

ANNUAL REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15d QL SMIJ1ITJE$
EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

For the fiscal year ended December 31 2010

OR

TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15d OF THE SECURITIES

EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

For the transition period from to

Commission ifie number 001-33015

GeoEye Inc
Exact name of registrant as spec fled in its charter

Delaware 20-2759725

State of other jurisdictian afincarparatian ar I.R.S Employer Identflcatian Na
arganizatian

21700 Atlantic Boulevard 20166

Dulles VA Zip Cade

Address afprincipal executive affices

Registrants telephone number including area code

703 480-7500

Securities registered pursuant to Section 12b of the Act

Title of each class Name of each exehanee on which renistered

Cammon Stock Par Value $0.01 The NASDAQ Global Market

Securities registered pursuant to Section 12g of the Act

None

Indicate by check mark if the registrant is well-known seasoned issuer as defined in Rule 405 of the Securities Act Yes No

Indicate by check mark if the registrant is not required to file reports pursuant to Section 13 or Section 15d of tbe Act Yes No

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant has filed all reports required to be filed by Section 13 or 15d of the Securities Exchange Act

of 1934 during the preceding 12 months or for such shorter period that the
registrant was required to file such reports and has been subject to such

filing requirements for the past 90 days Yes No

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant has submitted electronically and posted on its corporate Web site if any every Interactive Data

File required to be submitted and posted pursuant to Rule 405 of Regulation S-T 232.405 of this chapter during the preceding 12 months or for such

shorter period that the registrant was required to submit and post such files Yes No

Indicate by check mark if disclosure of delinquent filers pursuant to Item 405 of Regulation S-K 229.405 of this chapter is not contained

herein and will not be contained to the best of the registrants knowledge in definitive proxy or information statements incorporated by reference in Part III

of this Form 10-K or any amendment to this Form 10-K

Indicate by cheek mark whether the registrant is large accelerated filer an accelerated filer non-accelerated filer or smaller reporting company See the

definitions of large accelerated filer accelerated file and smaller reporting company in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act Check one

Large accelerated filer Accelerated filer 151 Non-accelerated filer Smaller reporting company

Do not check if smaller reporting company

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is shell company as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act Yes No

State the aggregate market value of the voting and non-voting common equity held by non-affiliates computed by reference to the price at which

the common equity was last sold or the average bid and asked price of such common equity as of the last business day of the registrants most recently

completed second fiscal quarter $692598238

The number of shares outstanding of Common Stock par value $0.01 as of March 10 2011 was 22111796 shares

DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE



Portions of GeoEye Inc.s 2011 Definitive Proxy Statement for the Annual Meeting of Stockholders to be held on

June 2011 to be filed within 120 days after the close of the Registrants fiscal year are incorporated by reference in Part

III of this Form 10-K
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FORWARD LOOKDTG STATEMENTS

This Annual Report on Form 10-K and the documents incorporated by reference herein include forward-looking

statements within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933 and Section 21 of the Securities Exchange Act

of 1934 The Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995 provides safe harbor for certain forward-looking

statements as long as they are identified as forward-looking and are accompanied by meaningful cautionary statements

identifying important factors that could cause actual results to differ materially from the expectations expressed or implied in

the forward-looking statements Without limitation the words anticipates believes estimates expects intends

plans will and similar expressions are intended to identify forward-looking statements All statements that address

operating performance events or developments that we expect or anticipate will occur in the future including statements

relating to growth expected levels of expenditures and statements about future operating results are forward-looking

statements Similarly statements that describe our business strategy outlook objectives plans intentions or goals also are

forward-looking statements All such forward-looking statements and those presented elsewhere by our management from

time to time are subject to certain risks and uncertainties that could cause actual results to differ materially from those in

forward-looking statements These risks and uncertainties include but are not limited to those described in Risk Factors

included in this Annual Report The following list represents some but not necessarily all of the factors that could cause

actual results to differ from historical results or those anticipated or predicted by these forward-looking statements

risks associated with operating our in-orbit satellites

satellite launch failures satellite launch and construction delays and in-orbit failures or reduced

performance

potential cbanges in the number of companies offering commercial satellite launch services and the number

of commercial satellite launch opportunities available in any given time period that could impact our ability

to timely schedule future launches and the prices we have to pay for such launches

our ability to obtain new satellite insurance policies with financially viable insurance carriers on

commercially reasonable terms or at all as well as the ability of our insurance carriers to fulfill their

obligations

termination suspension or other changes of funding or purchase levels under contracts with U.S

govemment agencies

market acceptance of our products and services

our ability to maintain and protect our Earth imagery content and our image archives against damage

possible future losses on satellites that are not adequately covered by insurance

domestic and intemational government regulation

changes in our revenue backlog or expected revenue backlog for future services

pricing pressure and overcapacity in the markets in which we compete

inadequate access to capital markets or other financing

the competitive environment in which we operate

customer defaults on their obligations owed to us

our intemational operations and other uncertainties associated with doing business intemationally

litigation

other factors disclosed in our subsequent filings under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 as amended which is referred to

as the Exchange Act and the other factors beyond our control These cautionary statements should not be construed by you to

be exhaustive and are made only as of the date of this prospectus We undertake no obligation to update or revise any

forward-looking statements whether as result of new information future events or otherwise

Trademarks

We own or have rights to various copyrights trademarks and trade names used in our business including the

following GEOEYE IKONOS MJ HARDEN ORBIMAGE ORBVIEW ROADTRACKER GEOEYE

FOUNDATIONtm GEOPROFESSIONALtm GEOSTEREOtm GEOFUSEtm EYEQtm EYEONtm SEASTARtm
SEASTAR FISHERIES INFORMATION SERVICEsm MARINE INFORMATION SERVICEsm MASTERCASTtm
OCEAN MONITORING SERVICEsm ORBBUOYtm ORBMAPtm TRUSTED IMAGERY EXPERTStm VESSEL

TRACKINGtm ELEVATING INSIGHTtm GEOEYE ANALYTICStm EARTHWHEREtm and SIGNATURE

ANALYSTtm



PART

Item Business

Overview

GeoEye is leading commercial provider of high-accuracy high-resolution Earth imagery and provider of image-

processing services and geospatial information services to U.S and foreign govemment defense and intelligence

organizations domestic federal and foreign civil agencies and commercial customers We own and operate two Earth-

imaging satellites GeoEye-1 and IKONOS and three airplanes with advanced high-resolution imagery collection

capabilities GeoEye-1 is the worlds highest resolution and most accurate commercial Earth-imaging satellite In addition to

our imagery collection capacities we are global leader in the creation of enhanced satellite imagery information products

and services

We believe we are the only major commercial imagery satellite operator that can produce imagery from multiple

satellite sources in addition to our own Our satellite and aerial imagery products and services provide our customers with

timely and accurate location intelligence enabling them to analyze geospatial information and monitor and map areas of

interest to their needs and demands We serve growing global market that requires high-resolution imagery and precision

mapping products for applications in national defense and intelligence online mapping environmental monitoring and

resource management energy exploration asset monitoring urban planning infrastructure planning and monitoring disaster

preparedness and emergency response We own one of the worlds largest libraries of commercial color digital satellite

imagery it contains more than 507 million square kilometers of color imagery of the Earth We believe the combination of

our highly accurate satellite and aerial imaging assets our high-resolution image processing and production facilities

especially our multi-source production capabilityand our color digital imagery library differentiate us from our

competitors This combination enables us to deliver comprehensive range of imaging products and services to our diverse

customer base

Our Web site is www.geoeye.com We make available free of charge on or through our Web site our annual reports

on Form 10-K quarterly reports on Form 10-Q current reports on Form 8-K and any amendments to those reports filed or

thmished pursuant to Section 13a or 15d of the Exchange Act as soon as reasonably practicable after we electronically file

such material with or fumish it to the Securities and Exchange Commission or the SEC This reference to our Web site is

for the convenience of shareholders as required by the SEC and shall not be deemed to incorporate any information on the

Web site into this Form 10-K or our other filings with the SEC

Our Web site is also key source of important information about us We routinely post to the About Us/Investor

Relations section of our Web site important information about our business our operating results and our financial condition

and prospects including for example information about important acquisitions and dispositions our eamings releases and

certain supplemental financial information related or complementary thereto We also have Corporate Govemance page in

the Investor Relations section of our Web site that includes among other things copies of our Code of Business Conduct

Ethics and the charters for each standing committee of our Board of Directors which currently are the Audit Committee the

Compensation Committee the Nominating and Govemance Committee the Strategy Committee and Risk Committee

Copies of our Bylaws and these charters and policies are also available in print to stockholders upon request

Products and Services

Sateffite Imagery

We offer wide range of high-resolution satellite imagery products that provide our customers with time-critical

visual imagery data and information which we divide into three general categories

Geo Our Geo product which is the foundation of the imagery product line is map-oriented image

suitable for broad range of customer uses Geo images are suitable for customer visualization and

monitoring applications and are delivered to our customers in data and information format capable of

being processed into other advanced imagery products using standard commercially available software

GeoProfessional Our GeoProfessional products consist of imagery that has been aligned and

geographically corrected by our experienced staff of production personnel to provide the most accurate and

precise imagery currently available from commercial satellite provider Our production personnel can

also combine various satellite and aerial images into single highly detailed and comprehensive image

Available in various levels of accuracy these GeoProfessional products are suitable for feature extraction

change detection base mapping and other similargeo-location applications



GeoStereo Our GeoStereo product uses at least two images of the same location at different angles to

provide our customers with three-dimensional image of given location GeoStereo provides the base

images that are used for three-dimensional feature recognition and extraction These GeoStereo products

support wide
range of imagery applications such as digital elevation model creation building height

extraction spatial layers and three-dimensional feature extraction

Aerial Imagery

Our aerial imagery products are designed to support specific customer requests for high-resolution and highly

accurate images We offer two main types of aerial imagery collected by our dedicated fleet of three imaging aircraft

digital aerial imaging and light detection and ranging or LiDAR imaging an optical remote sensing technology using

laser pulses to determine distances to an object or surface The use of digital aerial imaging provides our commercial and

government customers with complete digital images which can be easily stored in data management system The LiDAR

technology is valuable tool for measuring and recording elevation data for use in topographic mapping and three-

dimensional terrain and surface modeling useful in the field of engineering

Production Services

Images and image products generated by our production service operations are purchased by U.S govemment

agencies and domestic and intemational commercial customers including intemational governments and state and local

governments Production services typically entail the processing and production of specific data and imagery information

products that are built to stringent customer specifications We have developed advanced processing systems that enable us to

process raw data from wide range of both government and commercial sensors imaging satellites and then merge the

source images into very precise information and imagery products to meet the needs of broad range of customers Our

production services
range from the generation of precision imagery products for example digital elevation maps to the

extraction of site-specific features for example airports highways and buildings for our customers database development

Our production services which are designed to increase the accuracy and precision of satellite and aerial imagery

include the following production processes

GeorectfIcation This is computer-processing operation that corrects the pixel locations of digital image

to remove image distortions caused by the non-vertical pointing and movement of the sensor during the

imaging event

Tonal Correction This is the scientific correction of the color variations between various component

images of an image mosaic so that the image or picture reflects coherent color structure

Image Mosaicking This is the process of merging or stitching multiple satellite images together Since

images are taken at different look angles elevations weather times and season etc they do not match

each other tonally or in exact location to the ground Prior to mosaicking images are tonally corrected as

much as possible They are also block adjusted the images are shifted in relation to each other and to

ground truth to improve accuracy The result is group of images that will match each other in location and

color so they can be stitched together to create mosaic The result is one composite image which is as

seamless as possible

Orthorectfication This is the process of accurately registering imagery to ground coordinates and

geometrically correcting it for Earth elevation differences at the image location For example

orthorectification is used to make buildings and objects in an image appear to be standing straight instead

of leaning After processing the image can be used for variety of mapping applications including land

use and land-cover classification terrain analysis natural resource mapping backdrops for maps temporal

change analysis multi-image fusion and others

Our production services include LiDAR elevation data maps topographic maps digital orthophoto imagery remote

sensing services survey
and inventory services and Geospatial Information System or GIS consulting and implementation

We also offer geospatial products and services to help develop and manage geospatial data to support customer

documentation needs inventory of resources and engineering and development applications



Information Services

We provide imagery information services which combine our imagery with third-party data to create sophisticated

and customized information product for our customers During the second quarter of 2010 we launched our information

services business to give our customers global on-demand access to imagery and related information products over the

Internet This new Web-based services platform which we call EyeQ provides the core infrastructure for this new service

and our new geospatial information services business EyeQ commenced operations in April 2010 with support to the U.S

govemments National Geospatial-Intelligence Agency or NGA customers In September 2010 EyeQ became available to

our commercial customers

EyeQ delivers imagery and other location-based information through annual subscriptions and user licenses EyeQ
offers Web interface with tools that function as our customers data center EyeQ serves up imagery and other standards-

based content throughout the customers data network and out to theft customers and partners

With EyeQ our customers have access to secure timely and accurate location information delivered into their

business environment EyeQ is user friendly and is available twenty-four hours day and seven days week EyeQ serves

our goal of simplifying access to and delivery of imagery and location information

On December 15 2010 GeoEye Inc completed the acquisition of 100 percent of the stock of SPADAC Inc or

SPADAC geospatial predictive analytics company for net purchase price of $44.3 million in cash and stock which

includes an adjustment for changes to the tangible net worth of SPADAC as defined in the merger agreement With the

completion of the acquisition SPADAC became wholly owned subsidiary named GeoEye Analytics Our highly trained

geospatial and all source analysts combine location-based information geographic data human geography and wide range

of other information sources with proprietary software tools to enable customers to gain the insight they need to support

mission-critical operations around the world Geoflye Analytics provides geospatial predictive analytic solutions to over 40

customers in key markets of defense intelligence and homeland security

Customers

Our products and services are sold and provided to many U.S government agencies including the national security

community foreign governments and North American and international commercial customers

We sell our imagery by means of image collection orders both satellite and aerial and from our satellite imagery

library which currently comprises over 507 million square kilometers of high-resolution imagery Our imagery products and

services are sold through direct and indirect sales channels resellers direct salespeople strategic partners and through our

customer service and production services persormel Our imagery customers can buy imagery from us through various sales

arrangements including purchasing imagery by the
square kilometer or by buying monthly subscription-based access to one

of our satellites and associated ground processing technology and support services Certain international government

customers pay for direct access to our satellites giving them the right to task the satellites and to receive direct downlinks

from the satellite We can deliver imagery products by means of electronic delivery using file transfer protocol or FTP or by

the use of physical media such as CDs DVDs hard drives or electronic distribution The key factors in determining the

appropriate delivery method depend on the customers needs and the file size of the imagery product ordered

us Government

Our products and services are provided to various U.S government defense intelligence and law enforcement

agencies and civil agency customers Under the NextView program and the EnhancedView program the NGA acquires

imagery and imagery derived products on behalf of its clients in the U.S defense intelligence and law enforcement agencies

Other U.S government agencies that purchase satellite imagery include the U.S Department of Interior U.S Geological

Survey U.S Fish and Wildlife Service National Park Service National Aeronautics and Space Administration U.S Air

Force US Army and the U.S Department of Agriculture For the year ended December 31 2010 we recognized aggregate

revenues of $218.6 million from the U.S government which represented approximately 66 percent of our total revenues

International

Our international customers who represented 26 percent of our total revenues for the
year

ended December 31

2010 are primarily comprised of foreign governments but also include commercial customers Most foreign countries

currently do not have satellite collection programs as technically sophisticated as the programs in the United States and must

either rely on their own limited aerial imagery collection for their imagery applications or purchase imagery from reliable

commercial satellite providers such as GeoEye Our international customers primarily use imagery for national defense

intelligence programs agricultural planning and monitoring resource monitoring national border monitoring environmental

and infrastructure monitoring and construction planning



North American Commercial and Other

Our North American commercial customers who represented percent of our revenues for the
year ended

December 31 2010 purchased both aerial imagery and satellite imagery from us Our North American commercial

customers operate in variety of different market segments including online mapping GIS precision mapping

infrastructure oil and gas environmental monitoring agriculture mining utilities and transportation We sell imagery and

products to our resellers and they in turn add additional value to the products for sale to the end user One example of our

commercial relationships is our multi-year agreement with Google Inc to provide satellite imagery for its online consumer

and commercial applications Google EarthTM and Google MapsTM

Government Programs

Enhanced View Program

On August 2010 the NGA awarded us contract under its EnhancedView program that is worth up to $3.8

billion assuming the NGA exercises all of its options and we perform as specified The award provides for new satellite

imagery delivery SLA the engineering construction and launch of GeoEye-2 the design and procurement of associated

ground station equipment and the design and procurement of additional infrastructure to support government operations

value-added products and other services including Web-based delivery of information This competitively awarded contract

supports the EithancedView program by providing products and services that will help meet the increasing geospatial

intelligence needs of the intelligence community and the U.S Department of Defense

The award provides for the purchase of new satellite imagery under the terms of the new SLA with the NGA which

is valued at up to $2.8 billion The EnhancedView SLA initially provides for continued monthly payments by the NGA of up

to $12.5 million $150.0 million per year subject to maximum reduction of 10 percent based on performance metrics

Under the EnhancedView SLA when GeoEye-2 becomes operational which we currently expect will occur in 2013

payments under the award will increase by an additional $15.3 million per month $183.6 million per year The term of the

ErthancedView SLA is one year with nine one-year renewal options exercisable by the NGA Imagery deliveries under the

ErthancedView SLA began on September 2010 and the imagery is collected by the Companys existing satellite

constellation with GeoEye-2 to collect additional imagery when it becomes operational

As part of the EnhancedView agreement the NGA has agreed to contribute up to $337.0 million of the overall

construction and launch costs of the GeoEye-2 satellite and associated ground station equipment The contribution will be

made in two cost-share payments the first payment of approximately $111.0 million when the GeoEye-2 satellite is ready for

integration and testing and the second payment and balance of the cost-share when the GeoEye-2 satellite becomes

operational

The award also provides for up to an estimated $702.0 million for value-added products and services and our EyeQ
Web Mapping Services to be delivered over the life of the EnhancedView SLA This award component includes ftinding for

the design and procurement of additional infrastructure to support government operations which will be initially recorded as

deferred revenue and recognized as revenue over the contractual term of the EnhancedView contract

This program replaced the NextView program except that GeoEye will continue to fulfill existing NextView value-

added product and services orders until such orders are complete New value-added product and services orders are expected

to be placed under the EnhancedView contract The EnhancedView SLA replaced the NextView SLA portion of the

NextView program as of September 2010 We recognized $49.0 million of imagery revenue under the EnhancedView SLA

during the year ended December 31 2010

Next View Program

The NGA announced in March 2003 that it intended to support through the NextView program the continued

development of the commercial satellite imagery industry The NGA also announced that it intended to award two imagery

providers with contracts to support the engineering construction and launch of the next generation of imagery satellites On

September 30 2004 the NGA awarded us contract as the second provider under the NextView program and as result

we contracted for the construction of new satellite Geoflye-1 Under the NextView program we began delivering imagery

to the NGA from our IKONOS satellite in February 2007 and from our GeoEye- satellite in the first quarter of 2009

GeoEye- was launched in September 2008 and started commercial operations and obtained certification from the NGA in

February 2009 at which point the satellite commenced full operations Total capitalized costs including financing and

launch insurance costs of the GeoEye- satellite and related ground systems incurred were $478.3 million



On December 2008 we entered into the NextView Service Level Agreement or SLA with the NGA under which

the NGA agreed to purchase GeoEye- imagery from us through November 30 2009 On September 2009 the NGA
extended the SLA through March 31 2010 In addition the NGA on March 2010 modified the SLA giving the NGA the

option to extend the term of the SLA beyond March 31 2010 The SLA was extended through August 31 2010

Our Satellites

GeoEye-

GeoEye- has been designed to collect 0.41-meter approximately equivalent to 16 inches resolution black-and-

white imagery known in the industry as panchromatic and 1.65-meter resolution color imagery known in the industry as

multispectral of the Earths surface both individually and simultaneously Although imagery can be collected at this highest

resolution for the U.S government due to current U.S licensing restrictions products for non-government customers must

be re-sampled to no better than 0.5 meters before being made available for sale to non-U.S government customers For more

details on this restriction see Government Regulation United States below In addition to 0.5-meter ground resolution

imagery GeoEye-1 offers geo-location accuracy which is currently better than five meters This means that customers can

map natural and man-made features to within five meters of their true location on the Earths surface without ground control

points

We maintain insurance policies for GeoEye- with both full coverage and total-loss-only coverage in compliance

with the indentures governing our 9.625 percent Senior Secured Notes due 2015 or the 2015 Notes and our 8.625 percent

Senior Secured Notes due 2016 or the 2016 Notes As of December 31 2010 we carried $255.8 million of in-orbit insurance

for GeoEye-1 comprised in part by $135.5 million of flail coverage to be paid if GeoEye-ls capabilities become impaired as

measured against set of specifications of such coverage $50.0 million expires on September 2011 and $85.5 million

expires on December 2011 We also carry $120.3 million of insurance in the event of total loss of the satellite which

expires December 2011

In December 2009 we announced that our engineers detected an irregularity in the equipment that GeoEye- uses to

point the antenna that transmits imagery to receiving stations on the ground The irregularity limits the
range

of movement of

GeoEye-1 downlink antenna which affects GeoEye-l ability to image and downlink simultaneously GeoEye-1 is still

able to downlink imagery to GeoEyes and customer ground stations when not collecting images

In May 2009 we announced that our engineers detected an aberration with GeoEye-1 affecting the collection of

color imagery in narrow band of pixels within an image As result we modified our collection operations and currently

collect produce and deliver color imagery to customers that is unaffected by the aberration Subsequently an adjacent band

of pixels experienced the same aberration GeoEye- imagery collection production and delivery to customers is unaffected

by this second occurrence because of the previous operational modifications implemented by the Company and the pixel

bands affected by the aberration continue to collect panchromatic images normally We have designed modifications that we
believe significantly reduce or eliminate the effects to the Company of these types of failures however any failure of our

cameras on any of our satellites or other loss of satellite capacity or functionality could require different satellite operational

modifications These modifications may have material adverse effect on our imagery collection operations and could

materially affect our financial condition and results from operations

IKONOS

GeoEye acquired this satellite through the acquisition of Space Imaging in 2006 IKONOS provides 0.82-meter

resolution black-and-white and 3.2-meter resolution color imagery with geo-location accuracy of approximately 7.8-meters

IKONOS can collect about 200000 square kilometers of imagery per day Like GeoEye-l IKONOS is designed to downlink

imagery to customer and to accept imaging collection orders directly from customers In addition like GeoEye- IKONOS
has the ability to take simultaneous black-and-white and color imagery allowing us to deliver pan sharpened multispectral

imagery It can also capture stereo images on the same orbital pass The Company maintains $9.0 million of in-orbit

insurance for IKONOS which expires December 2011 to be paid if the satellites capabilities become impaired as

measured against set of specifications The IKONOS satellite was launched in September 1999



Orb View-2

We ceased operating OrbView-2 our thirteen-year-old satellite launched in August 1997 in early 2011 an event we
have been anticipating for some time OrbView-2 was the first commercial satellite to image the Earths entire surface on

daily basis in color and it far outlived its expected operational life For over thirteen years OrbView-2 collected 1.0

kilometer low-resolution color imagery downlinking the imagery to both our primary and backup ground stations and to

various regional receiving stations around the world Over the past eighteen months OrbView-2 experienced operational

aberrations on several occasions related to various components Discontinuance of OrbView-2 operations has no impact on

our expected revenues for 2011 we have been using other available sources of low-resolution imagery in anticipation of this

event for quite some time

GeoEye-2

On August 2010 the NGA awarded us contract under its EnhancedView program that is worth up to $3.8

billion assuming the NGA exercises all of its options and we perform as specified One component of the award is cost-

share of up to $337.0 million for the development and launch of GeoEye-2

In preparation for meeting the U.S govemments need and given the long lead-time associated with providing

additional capacity we entered into contract with ITT Corporation during the third quarter of 2007 pursuant to which ITT

Corporation commenced work on the advanced camera for our GeoEye-2 satellite ITT Corporations work was used to

accelerate the development of GeoEye-2 so that it could become operational in 2013 On March 11 2010 the Company
announced the selection of Lockheed Martin Space Systems Company to build the GeoEye-2 satellite and subsequently

signed launch agreement with Lockheed Martin Commercial Launch Services As of December 31 2010 we have incurred

total capitalized costs of $309.9 million for EnhancedView primarily consisting of costs for the development of and

constmction of GeoEye-2

Production Facilities

GeoEye operates production facilities that provide advanced image processing products engineering analysis and

related services We also operate or contract with other facilities that provide satellite control and communications services

The following table summarizes the primary characteristics of production facilities and satellite control and

communications services

Satellite

Communications and Imagery Processing

_____________________
Satellite Control Image Receiving Image Order Tasking Center

Thomton Colorado

Dulles Virginia

St Louis Missouri

Point Barrow Alaska

Fairbanks Alaska

Mission Kansas

Kimna Sweden

Tromso Norway

Troll Antarctica

Company History

GeoEye was initially organized as ORBIMAGE Holdings Inc Delaware corporation on April 2005 and is the

successor registrant of ORBIMAGE Inc On January 10 2006 we adopted the brand name GeoEye On September 28 2006
the stockholders of the Company voted to formally change the legal name of the Company from ORBIMAGE Holdings Inc

to GeoEye Inc

On January 10 2006 we completed the acquisition of Space Imaging or SI pursuant to the terms of an asset

purchase agreement to acquire the operating assets of SI The final cash purchase price including acquisition costs was

approximately $51.5 million

On March 15 2007 we acquired MJ Harden Associates Inc or MJ Harden through stock purchase of all of the

outstanding stock of MJ Hardens sole owner iS Inc MJ Harden is leading provider of digital aerial imagery and

geospatial information solutions



In December 2009 we established new foreign subsidiary in Singapore to serve our expanding Asia customer

base GeoEye Asia Pte Ltd

In January 2010 we changed the names of the Companys subsidiaries as follows

Old Name New Name

ORBIMAGE Inc GeoEye Imagery Collection Systems Inc

ORBIMAGE SI Holdco Inc GeoEye Solutions Holdco Inc

ORBIMAGE SI Opco Inc GeoEye Solutions Inc

ORBIMAGE License Corporation GeoEye License Corporation

On December 15 2010 we acquired SPADAC for net purchase price of $44.3 million in cash and stock which

includes an adjustment for changes to the tangible net worth of SPADAC as defined in the merger agreement With the

completion of the acquisition SPADAC became wholly owned subsidiary named GeoEye Analytics Inc GeoEye

Analytics provides geospatial predictive analytics solutions to customers in key markets of defense intelligence and

homeland security enabling customers to gain the insight they need to support mission-critical operations around the world

Competition

We compete against various public and private companies systems owned by the U.S govemment and foreign

state-sponsored entities that provide satellite and aerial imagery products and services to the commercial market Our major

competitor for high-resolution satellite imagery is DigitalGlobe Inc or DigitalGlobe publicly listed commercial vendor of

space imagery Intemational competitors for high-resolution satellite imagery and imagery products include the National

Remote Sensing Agency Department of Space govemment of India RADARSAT International Canada ImageSat

Intemational N.y Israel SPOT Image SA France Taiwan and Korea

Employees

As of December 31 2010 we had 723 employees Generally our employees are retained on an at-will basis We

have entered into employment agreements with certain of our key employees Certain of our employees have non-

competition agreements that prohibit them from competing with us for various periods following termination of their

employment

Government Regulation

The satellite remote imaging industry is highly regulated industry both domestically and intemationally In the

United States the operation of remote-imaging satellites generally requires licenses from the Department of Commerce or

DoC and from the Federal Communications Commission or FCC Furthermore remote-sensing satellite and ground-station-

control technologies are subject to U.S export control licensing and regulation under the International Traffic in Arms

Regulations or ITAR administered by the Department of State and the Export Administration Regulations or EAR
administered by the DoC In addition we are party to certain classified U.S govemment contracts the performance of which

is subject to U.S facility and personnel clearance laws and regulations As is the case with any U.S business we are subject

to U.S govemment Foreign Corrupt Practices Act restrictions regarding conducting business with foreign govemment

officials and U.S Treasury Department restrictions prohibiting conducting business with certain embargoed countries or with

entities or persons on the Specifically Designated Nationals list maintained by the U.S Treasury Department Finally to

provide satellite access services and imagery products intemationally our satellites may require International

Telecommunication Union or ITU notification and registration and licenses from the govemments of foreign countries

where our services and products will be distributed

United States

Department of Commerce Regulation

The DoC through the National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration or NOAA is responsible for granting

commercial imaging satellite operating licenses and for coordinating satellite-imaging applications among several

governmental agencies to ensure that any license addresses all U.S national security and foreign policy concerns and

complies with all international obligations of the United States We are required to obtain DoC license to operate each of

our remote sensing satellite systems and provide imagery services to our customers



We currently have DoC licenses for all of our existing satellite systems We also hold DoC license that we intend

to use for the Geoflye-2 satellite system that is being developed We intend to modify this DoC license subject to DoC

approval to reflect the final technical specifications for the GeoEye-2 satellite under the NGAs EnhancedView program

The DoC license for GeoEye-2 is constellation license and authorizes us to operate an additional satellite subject to DoC

approval The DoC licenses for our satellites are valid through the operational lifetime of each satellite We expect to satisfy

the terms of each of the DoC licenses for our satellites and to maintain the regulatory licenses and approvals necessary for

their ongoing operations

Our DoC licenses generally include the following key operating conditions

We are required to maintain positive operational control of our satellite systems from location within the

United States at all times

We are restricted froth disseminating to anyone other than the U.S govemment pancbromatic imagery with

resolution better than 0.5-meters or multispectral imagery with resolution better than 2.0-meters within

24 hours of collection

The U.S government reserves the right to exercise shutter control the interruption of service by

limiting imagery collection andlor distribution as necessary to meet significant U.S government national

security or foreign policy interests or intemational obligations Although the U.S government has never

exercised shutter control with respect to our satellite systems the exercise of this authority would require

us to make imagery data available exclusively to the U.S govemment by means of approved re-keyable

encryption on the downlink We cannot anticipate whether or under what circumstances the U.S

government would exercise its shutter control authority nor can we reasonably determine what costs and

terms would be negotiated between us and the U.S government in such event

We are required to obtain DoC approval before implementing significant or substantial agreements with

foreign nations entities or consortiums foreign persons to protect the national security and foreign policy

interests and intemational obligations of the U.S govemment Transfers of significant or substantial

agreements also require DoC approval Examples of significant or substantial agreements include

customer agreements for high-resolution imagery collection and distribution operating agreements and

agreements relating to equity investments in the Company of 20 percent or more of the total outstanding

shares or that entitle foreign person to position on our Board of Directors Foreign persons entering into

significant or substantial agreements with us are required to comply with our DoC license imagery

collection and distribution restrictions and are subject to the U.S governments exercise of shutter

control which could adversely affect our ability to collect imagery products for distribution to our foreign

customers and

We are restricted from disseminating imagery of the state of Israel with resolution better than 2.0 meters

Federal Communications Commission Regulation

The FCC is responsible for licensing commercial satellite and ground systems and the radio frequencies used by

commercial satellite systems In general the FCC grants licenses to commercial satellite systems that conform to the

technical legal and financial requirements for these systems set forth in FCC regulations The FCC also regulates the

ownership and control of its licensees and must consent to certain changes in such ownership or control

Below is table summarizing the FCC license grant and expiration dates for our current commercially operational

satellites and related ground systems

GeoEye-1 IKONOS

FCC Satellite License Grant Date 2004 1999

Commercially Operational Yes Yes

FCC Satellite License Expiration Date 2018 2014

Grant Date of Associated FCC Ground 2004 1999

Station Licenses

Expiration Date of Associated FCC April 15 2024 renewable for 15 years October 2022 and October 17
Ground Station Licenses subject to FCC approval 2022 renewable for 15 years subject

to FCC approval



We also hold an FCC license to operate the OrbView-3 satellite which ceased commercial operations in 2007 We

recently completed the successful de-orbit of the OrbView-3 satellite and intend to surrender the OrbView-3 FCC and NOAA
licenses Additionally we hold an FCC license to operate the OrbView-2 satellite which remains in orbit but which ceased

commercial operations in 2011 In the future we will be required to obtain FCC licenses and approvals in connection with

any new high-resolution satellites that we plan to operate We are currently preparing an application to modify our GeoEye-

satellite FCC license to add the Geoflye-2 satellite and associated ground stations We expect to file this application in the

near future and expect to obtain the FCC licenses and approvals necessary for GeoEye-2 operations

Export Controls and Security Clearance Regulation

We are subject to complex set of export control and security clearance regulations for the products and services we

offer

Among other things we are registrant under ITAR and we hold export licenses and other approvals from the U.S

Department of States Directorate of Defense Trade Control or DDTC for the export of hardware software and technical

data relating to the potential defense-related satellites ground stations image-processing facilities and support services

provided to customers Additional approvals may be required from DDTC and from the DoCs Bureau of Industry and

Security in certain cases For example export licenses may be required if certain foreign persons or entities are involved in

the development or acquisition of our products and services Also the export of GeoEye-supplied ground station or image-

processing facility to foreign person would require DDTC export approval The suspension or cancellation of our ITAR

registration or DDTC approval to export our products and services could have material adverse effect on our business and

results of operations

In addition we require certain facility and personnel security clearances to perform our classified U.S government-

related business Security clearances are subject to regulations and requirements This includes the National Industrial

Security Program Operating Manual or NISPOM which provides baseline standards for the protection of classified

information released or disclosed to industry in connection with classified U.S government contracts Among other things

the NISPOM restricts non-U.S foreign ownership control or influence or FOCI over U.S citizen performing

classified work for the U.S govemment such that investments in the Company by non-U.S entities or individuals could

require prior review by the U.S Department of Defense and could result in changes in the terms of our facility or personnel

clearances The suspension or cancellation of our facility clearances or the inability to maintain personnel security clearances

for our personnel to perform classified U.S government contracts could have material adverse effect on our business and

results of operations

Furthermore any change in our ownership involving transfer to foreign persons or entities may increase U.S

government scrutiny and lead to more onerous requirements connection with both export controls and security clearances

transfer to foreign ownership could also trigger other requirements including filings with and review by the Committee on

Foreign Investment in the United States pursuant to the Exon-Florio Provision and approval by NOAA under our DoC

licenses Depending on the country of origin and identity of foreign owners other restrictions and requirements could arise

Future Developments

U.S regulators may subject us in the future to new laws policies regulations or changes in the interpretation or

application of existing laws policies and regulations that modify the present U.S regulatory environment In addition U.S

regulators could decide to impose limitations on U.S companies that are currently applicable only to other countries or other

regulatory limitations that affect satellite remote imaging operations Any limitations of this kind could adversely affect our

business or our results of operations

International

All satellite systems providing services in the international markets must comply with the following general

international regulations and the specific laws of the countries in which satellite imagery is downlinked or satellite imagery

products are distributed

International Telecommunication Union or ITU Regulations ITU regulations define for each service the

technical operating parameters including maximum transmitter power maximum interference to other services

and users and the minimum interference the user must operate under for that service The FCC on our behalf

has completed the ITU notification process for our IKONOS OrbView-3 and OrbView-2 satellite systems The

ITU received GeoEye- satellite system notification documents in June 2009 and we expect the ITU to publish

its findings recognizing completion of the GeoEye- ITU notification within the next twelve months After

completion of the ITU notification process ongoing coordination with other satellite systems could occur from

time to time
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Foreign Downlink License The regulations of some foreign countries require satellite operators to secure

appropriate licenses and operational authority to use the required spectrum in each country Within foreign

countries our foreign customers are responsible for securing appropriate licenses and operational authority to

use the required spectrum for downlinking our high-resolution satellite imagery with assistance from us as

required

Foreign Imagery Acquisition or Distribution Regulations The regulations or policies of foreign countries

may restrict the acquisition or distribution of satellite imagery products and services For example in the

Republic of India we obtained permission from the government to promote satellite imagery product sales to

customers in India provided the actual product deliveries are made through govemment-appointed reseller

While we believe we will be able to obtain all U.S ITU and foreign government licenses authorizations and

registrations necessary to provide services internationally we cannot assure you that we will be successful in doing so The
failure to obtain some or all necessairy licenses approvals or registrations could have material adverse effect on our

business or results of operations

Item 1A Risk Factors

The risks described below among others could cause our actual operating results to cflffer materially from those

indicated or suggested by forward-looking statements made in this Form 10-K or presented elsewhere by management from

time to time

substantial portion of our revenues are generated from contracts with U.S government agencies that are subject to

annual renewal and Congressional appropriations Termination of these contracts or failure by Congress to make

appropriations to the NGA could materially reduce our revenue and have material adverse effect on our business

Revenues from U.S government contracts accounted for 66 percent of our total revenues for the year ended

December 31 2010 Our contracts with U.S government agencies are subject to risks of termination with or without cause

or reduction in scope due to changes in U.S government policies priorities or funding level commitments to various

agencies Our primary contract with the U.S government through the NGA is the EnhancedView SLA which was awarded

and authorized on August 2010 Any inability on our part to meet the performance requirements of the EnhancedView

SLA could result in breach of our contract with the NGA The EnhancedView SLA is structured as one-year agreement

with nine one-year renewal options exercisable at the NGAs option breach of our contract with the NGA resulting in its

termination or decision by the NGA not to exercise it renewal options under the EnhancedView SLA or any other U.S

government contract would have material adverse effect on our business financial condition and results of operations

Although our NCA contracts generally involve fixed annual minimum commitments such commitments are subject

to annual Congressional appropriations and as result the NGA may not continue to fund these contracts at current or

anticipated levels If the NGA terminates significantly reduces in scope or suspends any of its contracts with us or changes

its policies priorities or binding levels these actions would have material and adverse effect on our business financial

condition and results of operations We recognized $99.2 million of revenue under the NextView SLA with the NGA and

$49.0 million of revenue under the EnhancedView SLA for the year ended December 31 2010 which accounted for

approximately 45 percent of our revenue during the year ended December 31 2010

As part of the EnhancedView award we have entered into cost-share agreement with the NGA that provides for

approximately $337.0 million of binding for the development and launch of GeoEye-2 this amount represents approximately

40 percent of our expected GeoEye-2 development and launch expense If the cost-share agreement is terminated it will be

difficult for us to obtain similar level of financing on comparable or acceptable terms if at all If such termination is

accompanied by termination or non-renewal of the EnhancedView SLA we will experience significant difficulty in

obtaining financing for the construction and development of GeoEye-2 which would have material adverse effect on our

business financial condition and results of operations

delay in the passage of the U.S governments budget could affect U.S government procurement of our services

and have an adverse effect on our future sales When the U.S government does not complete its budget process before the

end of its fiscal year government operations are typically funded pursuant to continuing resolution that authorizes agencies

of the U.S government to continue to operate but does not authorize new spending initiatives When the U.S government

operates under continuing resolution government agencies may delay or cancel funding we expect to receive from

customers on work we are already performing Additionally when operating under continuing resolution U.S government

agencies may delay or cancel new initiatives and programs which could materially adversely affect our business and

financial condition and results from operations
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Changes in U.S government policy regarding the use of commercial imagery products and service providers or

material delay or cancellation of the U.S government Enhanced View program may have material adverse effect on

our revenue and our ability to fund operations and achieve our growth objectives

Current U.S government policy encourages
the use of commercial imagery products and services to support U.S

national security objectives We are considered by the U.S government to be commercial imagery products and services

provider U.S government policy is subject to change and any change in policy away from supporting the use of commercial

imagery products and service providers to meet U.S government imagery needs could materially adversely affect our

business financial condition and results of operations

Satellites have limited useful lives and are expensive to replace

Satellites have limited useftil lives We determine satellites useful life or its expected operational life using

complex calculation involving the probabilities of failure of the satellites components from design or manufacturing defects

environmental stresses estimated remaining fuel or other causes

number of factors can affect the expected operational lives of our satellites including the quality of construction

the supply of thel the expected gradual environmental degradation of solar panels the durability of various satellite

components and the orbits in which the satellites are placed Certain advanced components such as its cameras are integral

to satellites design functionality and expected operational life The failure of satellite components can cause damage to or

loss of the use of satellite before the end of its expected operational life Electrostatic storms or collisions with other

objects could damage our satellites which could in turn impair their design functionality and expected operational life Such

objects could include debris from exploded satellites and spent rocket stages dead satellites and meteoroids We cannot

assure you that each satellite will remain in operation for its expected operational life We expect the performance of any
satellite to decline gradually near the end of its expected operational life

Our GeoEye- satellite was launched in September 2008 and has an expected operational life of nine
years

IKONOS another of our satellites was fully depreciated in June 2008 In December 2010 study on IKONOS was updated

indicating the life expectancy would go through January 2012 Management currently expects that IKONOS commercial

operations could last significantly longer However there can be no assurance that IKONOS will continue to operate

adequately to remain commercially viable

Replacing satellite can be expensive We are currently building GeoEye-2 which we expect to be operational in

2013 We expect to use up to $337.0 million in federal government cost-share funds current cash balances proceeds from

the Preferred Stock sold to Cerberus Satellite LLC and funds generated from operations to develop and launch GeoEye-2 If

our cost-share agreement with the NGA is terminated by the NGA or if Congress fails to make appropriations to fund

payments by the NGA under this cost-share agreement we will have to seek additional financing from outside sources which

we may be unable to obtain If we do not generate sufficient funds from operations and we cannot obtain financing from

outside sources we will not be able to deploy new satellite to replace GeoEye-1 at the end of its expected operational life

We cannot assure investors that we will be able to generate sufficient funds from operations or be able to raise additional

capital on acceptable terms or on timely basis if at all to develop or deploy follow-on high-resolution satellites

We cannot assure you that our satellites will operate as designed We may experience in-orbit satellite failures or

degradations in performance that could impair the commercial performance of our satellites which could lead to lost

revenue an increase in our operating expenses lower operating income or lost backlog

Our satellites employ advanced technologies and sensors that are subject to severe environmental stresses in space

that could affect the satellites performance Hardware component problems in space could lead to degradation in

performance or loss of functionality of the satellite with attendant costs and revenue losses In addition human operators

may execute improper implementation commands that can negatively impact satellites performance Unanticipated

catastrophic events such as meteor showers or collisions with
space debris could reduce the performance of or destroy any

of our satellites Even if satellite is operated properly minor technical flaws in the satellites sensors could significantly

degrade their performance which could materially affect our ability to collect imagery and market our products successfully

If we suffer partial or total loss of deployed satellite we would need significant amount of time and would

incur substantial expense to repair or replace that satellite We may experience other problems with our satellites that may
reduce their performance During any period in which satellite is not fully operational we may lose most or all of the

revenue that otherwise would have been derived from that satellite In addition we may not have on hand or be able to

obtain in timely manner the
necessary funds to cover the cost of any necessary satellite repair or replacement Our inability

to repair or replace defective satellite or correct any other technical problem in timely manner could result in

significant loss of revenue Our business model depends on our ability to sell imagery from our high-resolution satellites We
do not presently have plans to construct and launch replacement satellite for our high-resolution IKONOS satellite if it fails
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In December 2009 we announced that our engineers detected an irregularity in the equipment that GeoEye-1 uses to

point the antenna that transmits imagery to receiving stations on the ground The irregularity limits the range of movement of

GeoEye-1 downlink antenna which affects GeoEye-1 ability to image and downlink simultaneously GeoEye-1 is able to

downlink imagery to GeoEyes and customer ground stations when not collecting images

In May 2009 we announced that our engineers detected an aberration with GeoEye- affecting the collection of

color imagery by narrow band of pixels within an image As result we modified our operations and currently collect

produce and deliver color imagery that is unaffected by the aberration to customers Subsequently an adjacent band of pixels

experienced the same aberration GeoEye- imagery collection production and delivery to customers is unaffected by this

second occurrence because of the previous operational modifications implemented by the Company and the pixel bands

affected by the aberration continue to collect panchromatic images normally We have designed modifications that we believe

would significantly reduce or eliminate the effects to the Company of these types of failures however any failure of our

cameras on any of our satellites or other loss of satellite capacity or functionality could require different satellite operational

modifications that may have material adverse effect on our imagery collection operations and could materially affect our

financial condition and results from operations

New or proposed satellites are subject to construction and launch delays the occurrence of which can materially and

adversely affect our operations

We have in the past experienced delays in satellite construction and launch which have adversely affected our

operations Such delays can result from delays in the construction of satellites and the procurement of requisite components

and launch vehicles limited availability of appropriate launch windows possible delays in obtaining regulatory approvals

and launch failures Failure to meet satellites construction schedule resulting in significant delay in the future delivery of

satellite could also adversely affect our marketing strategy for the satellite Even after satellite has been manufactured and

is ready for launch an appropriate launch date may not be available for several months Further any significant delay in the

commencement of service of any of our satellites would allow customers who pre-purchased or agreed to utilize capacity on

the satellite to terminate their contracts which could affect our plans to replace an in-orbit satellite prior to the end of its

service life

Our information systems and security systems and networks may be subject to intrusion rests king in possible

interruption delay or suspension of our ability to provide our products and services which could result in loss of

current and future business

breach or breaches of our system security could materially adversely affect our business Our business involves

the transmission and storage of large quantities of electronic data including the imagery comprising our global imagery

library In addition our business is becoming increasingly Web-based allowing our customers to access and take delivery of

imagery from our digital imagery library over the Intemet From time to time we have experienced computer viruses and

other forms of third-party attacks on our systems that to date have not had material adverse affect on our business

Despite the implementation and continued upgrading of security measures our network infrastructure may be

vulnerable to computer viruses unauthorized third-party access or other problems caused by third parties which could lead

to interruptions delays or suspension of our operations loss of imagery from our global imagery library and the loss or

compromise of technical information or customer information Inappropriate use of the Intemet by third parties including

attempts to gain unauthorized access to information or systems commonly known as cracking or hackingcould also

potentially jeopardize the overall security of our systems and could deter certain customers from doing business with us If

breach involves information subject to breach disclosure laws such as certain personally identifiable information we may
be required to publicly disclose the breach which may deter customers from dealing with us andlor expose us to material

notification expenses In addition security breach that involved classified or other sensitive govemment information or

certain controlled technical information could subject us to civil or criminal penalties and could result in loss of our

government contracts loss of access to classified information loss of export privileges or debarment as government

contractor

Because the techniques used to obtain unauthorized access or to otherwise infect or sabotage information systems

change frequently and often are not recognized until launched against target we may be unable to anticipate these new

techniques or to implement adequate preventive measures We may also need to expend significant people and financial

resources to protect against security breaches or remedy any breaches that might occur The risk that these types of events

could seriously harm our business is likely to increase as we expand the number of Web-based products and services we offer

and increase the number of countries within which we do business
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We operate in highly competitive and specialized industry The size and resources of some of our competitors may
allow them to compete more effectively than we can which could result in loss of our market share

Our products and services compete with other satellite and aircraft-based imagery sources and related imagery

products and services offered by wide range and scale of commercial and govemment providers Some competitors may
have greater financial personnel and other operating resources than us

Our major U.S competitor for high-resolution satellite imagery is DigitalGlobe DigitalGlobe currently operates

three high-resolution satellites Quickbird launched in 2001 WorldView-1 launched in September 2007 and WorldView-2

launched in October 2009 We believe that WorldView- has the ability to provide commercial customers with 0.5-meter

resolution black-and-white imagery In addition WorldView-2 has the ability to collect color imagery which could

strengthen DigitalGlobes position in the industry Our satellites have different capabilities from those of DigitalGlobe In

particular all of our satellites have the ability to produce color imagery while only two of DigitalGlobes satellites can image

in color and GeoEyes image resolution of .41 meters is believed to be the highest-resolution of any commercial satellite In

addition GeoEye-1 is the most accurate commercial satellite in the market today Historically we have enjoyed

competitive advantage over DigitalGlobe in the international markets because of our long-standing relationships with our

intemational customers whom we helped with the construction and development of their ground stations over the past ten

years The WorldView-1 and WorldView-2 satellites may now have some of the same capabilities as GeoEyes high-

resolution satellites The WorldView- WorldView-2 and QuickBird satellites have higher resolutions and WorldView-

and WorldView-2 have more advanced technologies than our IKONOS satellite

It is possible that foreign govemments could subsidize hind the development of constmct launch and operate

imagery satellites with comparable or higher resolution and accuracy in the future which could enable them to sell Earth

imagery from their satellites in the commercial market and thereby compete on price with our imagery products

If competitors develop and launch satellites with comparable or more advanced technologies than ours or offer

services at lower prices than ours then our business and results of operations could be harmed If we cannot maintain our

margins our financial position could be negatively affected

U.S and foreign governmental agencies may build and operate their own systems which could affect the current and

potential market share of our products and services and could lead to pricing pressure

The U.S govemment currently relies and is likely to continue to rely on govemment-owned and operated systems

for classified satellite-based high-resolution imagery The U.S government could reduce its purchases from commercial

satellite imagery providers or decrease the number of companies to which it contracts with no corresponding increase in the

total amount sjent

The U.S government and foreign governments also may develop construct launch and operate their own imagery

satellites which could reduce their need to rely on commercial suppliers In addition such governments could sell Earth

imagery from their satellites in the commercial market and thereby compete with our imagery products and services These

governments could also subsidize the development launch and operation of imagery satellites by our current or future

competitors and subsidize the pricing of imagery from their satellites which could lead to pricing pressure Pricing pressure

could lead to potential market share losses if we choose not to lower our prices to retain our existing customer base Any
reduction in purchases of our products and services by the U.S government could have material adverse effect on our

business operations and financial condition

The success of our products and services will depend on market acceptance and you should not rely on historic

growth rates as an indicator offuture growth

Our success depends on existing markets accepting our imagery products and information services and our ability to

develop new business markets and new services 0ur business plan is based on the assumption that we will generate

significant future revenues from sales of high-resolution imagery produced by our satellite constellation and from sales of our

information services to current and new customers in our existing and new markets The commercial availability of high

resolution satellite imagery is still fairly new market Consequently it is difficult to predict accurately the ultimate size of

the market and the market acceptance of our products and services Our strategy is to target certain existing and new markets

for our satellite imagery and relies on number of assumptions The actual market for our products and services could vary

from the potential end markets that we have identified causing us to develop smaller end markets and potentially miss other

market opportunities
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We caimot accurately predict whether our products and services will achieve significant market acceptance or

whether there will be market for our products and services on terms we find acceptable Market acceptance of our

commercial high-resolution Earth imagery products and new information services depends on number of factors including

the quality scope timeliness sophistication and price of services and the availability of substitute products and services

Lack of significant market acceptance of our offerings or other products and services that utilize our products and services

delays in acceptance failure of certain markets to develop or our need to make significant investments to achieve acceptance

by the market would negatively affect our business operations financial condition and financial results

We may not continue to grow in line with our historical growth rates If we are unable to achieve sustainable

growth we may be unable to execute our business strategy expand our business or fund our liquidity needs As result our

prospects financial condition and business operations could be materially and adversely affected

Interruption or failure of our infrastructure and image downloading systems could impair our ability to effectively

perform our daily operations protect and maintain the Earth imagery content stored in our image archives and

provide our products and services which could damage our reputation and harm our results of operations

The availability of our products and services depends on the continuing operation of our infrastructure information

technology and communications systems Any system downtime damage to or failure of our systems could result in

interruptions in our service which could reduce our revenue and profits Our systems are vulnerable to damage or

interruption from floods fires power loss teleconmiunications failures computer viruses computer denial-of-service attacks

or other attempts to harm our systems Our data centers and ground stations can be powered by backup generators However
if our primary source of power and the backup generators also fail our daily operations and results of operations would be

materially and adversely affected

In addition our ground stations and collection systems are vulnerable to damage or interruption from human error

intentional bad acts earthquakes hurricanes floods fires war terrorist attacks power losses hardware failures systems

failures telecommunications failures and similar events Our satellite imagery is encrypted downloaded directly to our

ground stations and then stored in our image archives for sale to our customers As result our operations are dependent

upon our ability to maintain and protect our Earth imagery content and our image archives and to provide our images to our

customers including our foreign distribution network value-added resellers and EyeQ customers The impairment of our

ability to perform any of these functions could result in lengthy interruptions in our services and/or damage our reputation

which could have material adverse effect on our financial condition liquidity and results of operations

We rely on resellers and foreign distribution network to market and sell our products and services in certain

markets and to certain customers If these distributors and resellers fail to market our products and services

successfully our business financial condition and results of operations will be materially adversely affected

We rely principally on foreign regional resellers to market and sell our imagery from the GeoEye- and IKONOS
satellites in various intemational markets We are currently expanding our efforts to further develop our current and future

operations in intemational markets These regional resellers may not have the skill or experience to further develop regional

commercial markets for our products and services If we fail to enter into additional regional distribution agreements or if

our foreign regional resellers fail to market and sell our imagery products and services successfully abroad these marketing

failures could negatively affect our business operations and financial condition

We rely on resellers to develop market and sell our products and services to address certain target markets

including certain industries and geographical markets If our value-added resellers fail to develop market and sell our

products and services successfully this failure could negatively affect our business financial condition and results of

operations
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Although we carry insurance on our satellites there can be no assurance that insurance proceeds would be available

to us in the event of operational degradation of any our satellites or that proceeds that might be available will

adequately cover our losses

We procure insurance covering risks associated with our satellite operations through the commercial insurance

markets The cost and amount of coverage available to us and the types of loss coverage we are able to obtain at reasonable

costs are affected by factors beyond our control These include recent loss experience in insurance markets risk assessments

by insurance carriers and their advisors the carriers cost of capital general economic conditions and failures of other

satellites using components similar to ours or using similar launch vehicles Insurance premiums for satellite risk of loss

coverage have historically been quite volatile as have the terms of coverage and exclusions for coverage and there can be no

assurance that future premiums we may be required to pay to obtain or maintain our insurance will not exceed our ability to

pay those premiums Higher premiums on insurance policies will increase our costs Should the future terms of launch and

in-orbit insurance policies become lss favorable than those currently available this may result in limits on amounts of

coverage that we can obtain or may prevent us from obtaining insurance at all

Our insurance policies contain various exclusions from coverage based upon commercial realities and the types of

coverage available in the market For example the anomalies we have experienced in the operation of OeoEye- are

excluded from our present policies and any costs we have experienced to mitigate such anomalies are not covered by

insurance If we experience other operational anomalies associated with our satellites that could degrade their performance or

our ability to collect the amount andlor quality of imagery that we anticipate we may not have access to proceeds to cover

our added costs or loss of revenue

Our 2016 Notes and 2015 Notes require us to obtain launch and in-orbit insurance for our satellites which is costly

and may be difficult or impossible to obtain loss of high-resolution satellite such as GeoEye-1 will require us to

offer to repurchase our 2016 Notes and 2015 Notes and we may lack sufficient insurance to cover that cost

The terms of the 2016 Notes and 2015 Notes require us to obtain launch and in-orbit insurance for any future

satellites we construct and launch and require us to maintain specified levels of in-orbit operation insurance for GeoEye-1 to

the extent that such coverage can be obtained at premium that is not disproportionately high With respect to GeoEye- we

currently carry $255.8 million of in-orbit insurance consisting of $120.3 million of in-orbit insurance in the event of the total

loss of the satellite expiring December 2011 We also carry $135.5 million of in-orbit full coverage to be paid if the

satellites capabilities become impaired as measured against set of specifications of which $50.0 million expires on

September 2011 and $85.5 million expires on December 2011 We believe that under current market conditions the

premiums for additional
coverage

would be disproportionately high This insurance is not sufficient to cover the cost of

replacement high-resolution imagery satellite such as GeoEye- or to provide us with sufficient funds to repurchase all of the

2016 Notes and the 2015 Notes then outstanding in the event that as result of such loss we are required to make

mandatory offer to repurchase the 2016 Notes and the 2015 Notes We will seek to obtain insurance coverage for Geoflye-2

and all future satellites as required under the 2016 Notes and the 2015 Notes However any failure to obtain required

insurance could cause default under the 2016 Notes and the 2015 Notes

The global financial crisis may affect our business operations financial condition and financial results in ways that

we currently cannot predict

The global credit crisis and related turmoil in the global financial system may have an impact on our business our

business operations financial condition and financial results In particular the cost of capital has increased substantially in

certain markets while the availability of funds from the capital markets has diminished significantly in certain markets

Accordingly our ability to access the capital markets may be restricted or be available only on terms we do not consider

favorable Limited access to the capital markets could adversely affect our ability to take advantage of business opportunities

or react to changing economic and business conditions and could adversely affect our strategy

The current economic situation could affect our customers causing them to fail to meet obligations to us which

could have material adverse effect on our revenue results from operations and cash flows State and local govemments may
be more vulnerable to the economic downtum and accordingly the operations of our subsidiary M.J Harden Associates

Inc have and could continue to face greater exposure to this state and local govemment risk continued economic

downtum coupled with the uncertainty and volatility of the global financial crisis may have further adverse affect on our

business and our consolidated financial condition results of operations and cash flows that we currently cannot predict or

anticipate
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In addition the current economic downtum has also led to concems about the stability of financial markets generally

and the financial strength of our counterparties For example if one or more of our insurance carriers fails we may not

receive the full amount of proceeds due to us in the event of loss or damage to one of our satellites In addition if we attempt

to obtain future insurance in addition to or replacement of our existing coverage the credit market turmoil could negatively

impact our ability to obtain such insurance

Our business is capital intensive and we may not be able to raise adequate capital to finance our business strategies

including any future satellite or we may be able to do so only on terms that significantly restrict our ability to operate

our business

The implementation of our business strategies requires substantial outlay of capital As we pursue our business

strategies and seek to respond to opportunities and trends in our industry our actual capital expenditures may differ from our

expected capital expenditures and there can be no assurance that we will be able to satisfy our capital requirements in the

future We currently expect that our ongoing liquidity requirements for sustaining our operations will be satisfied by cash on

hand cash generated from our existing and future operations proceeds from the Equity Financing and the net proceeds from

the Notes offering However we caimot provide assurances that our businesses will generate sufficient cash flow from

operations in the future or that future borrowings will be available in amounts sufficient to enable us to execute our business

strategies

Lending institutions have suffered and may continue to suffer losses due to their lending policies and their other

financial relationships especially because of the general weak U.S economy As result changes in the capital markets may
impact our ability to obtain new financing or refinance our existing debt on reasonable terms and in adequate amounts if at

all If we determine we need to obtain additional funds through extemal financing and are unable to do so we may be

prevented from fully implementing our business strategies We can provide no assurance that we will be able to raise

sufficient capital to continue funding our satellite constellation and expand our other businesses

Failure to obtain or the revocation of regulatory approvals could result in service interruptions and materially

adversely affrct our business financial position and results of operations

us Government Approvals Operation of our satellites requires licenses from and is subject to regulation by the

DoC The failure to obtain these licenses or the revocation of one or more licenses for example as the result of our failure to

comply with our licenses or applicable regulations could adversely affect our ability to conduct our business DoC

regulations and license conditions provide that we must obtain prior DoC consent to certain changes in control over or the

holding of certain interests in the Company DoC regulations and license conditions also provide that the U.S govemment

may interrupt service or otherwise limit our ability to distribute satellite images to certain parties including certain of our

customers to address national security or foreign policy concems or because of the intemational obligations of the U.S

govemment Actual or threatened interruptions or limitations on our service could adversely affect our ability to market our

products In addition the DoC has the right to review and approve our agreements with foreign entities including contracts

with international customers for high-resolution imagery We have received such approvals for the agreements in place with

our existing international customers However such reviews could delay or prohibit us from executing new international

agreements or renewals or extensions of our existing agreements which could materially adversely affect our financial

condition and results of operations See Government Regulation United States Department of Commerce Regulation

We have in the past and may in the future supply certain of our international customers with access to ground

stations that enable these customers to downlink data directly from our satellites Exporting these ground stations and

technical information relating to these stations may require us to obtain export licenses from the DoC or the U.S Department

of State If the DoC or the U.S Department of State does not issue these export licenses in connection with future exports or

if these licenses are significantly delayed or contain restrictions or if the DoC or the U.S Department of State revokes

suspends or denies request for renewal of existing licenses then our business financial condition and results of operations

could be materially adversely affected See Government Regulation United States Export Controls and Security

Clearance Regulation
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We require certain facility and personnel security clearances to perform our classified U.S government related

business Security clearances are subject to regulations and requirements including the National Industrial Security Program

Operating Manual or NISPOM which provides baseline standards for the protection of classified information released or

disclosed to industry in connection with classified U.S government contracts Among other things the NISPOM restricts the

ability of non-U.S foreign entities or individuals to hold foreign ownership control or influence or FOCI over U.S

person performing classified work for the U.S government such that investments in the Company by non-U.S entity or

individual could require prior review by the U.S Department of Defense The suspension or cancellation of our facility

security clearances or the inability to maintain personnel security clearances for our personnel to perform classified U.S

government contracts could have material adverse effect on our business and results of operations See Government

Regulation United States Export Controls and Security Clearance Regulation

Our operation of satellites and ground stations also requires licenses from and is subject to regulation by the FCC
The FCC regulates the launch and operation of our satellites the use of satellite spectrum and the licensing of our ground

station terminals located within the United States The FCC also regulates the ownership and control of its licensees and

must consent to certain changes in such ownership or control We currently have all required FCC licenses necessary to

operate our business as it is currently conducted However these licenses have expiration dates which are expected to occur

while the satellites and ground systems are still in use In light of the EnhancedView contract award which includes up to

$337.0 million in cost-share funds from the NGA for the development and launch of the GeoEye-2 satellite we are preparing

an application to modify our GeoEye- satellite FCC license to add the GeoEye-2 satellite and associated ground stations and

expect to file this application in the near future The FCC generally renews licenses in the ordinary course but there can be

no assurance that our licenses will be renewed at their expiration dates for fttll terms or without adverse conditions or that

our application to modify our GeoEye- satellite FCC license will be granted Failure to renew or modify these licenses

obtain FCC authorization to launch and operate any new satellites or otherwise maintain our existing licenses for example

as the result of our failure to comply with our licenses or applicable regulations could have material adverse affect on our

ability to generate revenue and conduct our business as currently planned See Government Regulation United States

Federal Communications Commission Regulation

International Registration and Approvals The use of satellite spectrum is subject to the requirements of the ITU

Additionally satellite operators must abide by the specific laws of the countries in which downlink services are provided

from the satellite to ground station terminals within such countries Our customers or distributors are responsible for

obtaining local regulatory approval from the govemments in the countries in which they receive imagery downlinked directly

from our satellites to ground stations within such countries If the necessary approvals are not obtained we will not be able to

distribute real-time imagery in those regions and this inability to offer real-time service in foreign country could negatively

affect our business In addition regulatory provisions in countries where we wish to operate may impose unduly burdensome

restrictions on our operations Our business may also be adversely affected if the national authorities where we plan to

operate adopt treaties regulations or legislation unfavorable to foreign companies or limiting the provision of our products

and services

Our international business exposes us to risks relating to increased regulation and political or economic instability in

foreign markets

For the year ended December 31 2010 approximately 26 percent of our total revenues were derived from

international sales We intend to continue to pursue international contracts and we expect to continue to derive substantial

revenues from international sales of our products and services International operations are subject to certain risks such as

Changes in domestic and foreign governmental regulations and licensing requirements

Deterioration of relations between the United States and particular foreign country

Increases in tariffs and taxes and other trade barriers

Changes in political and economic stability including fluctuations in the value of foreign currencies which may
make payment in U.S dollars as provided for under our existing contracts more expensive for foreign

customers and

Difficulties in obtaining or enforcing judgments in foreign jurisdictions

These risks are beyond our control and could have material adverse effect on our business
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Our success depends upon limited number of key personnel

Our success depends on attracting retaining and motivating highly skilled engineering and information technology

professionals number of our employees are highly skilled engineers and other information technology professionals In

addition our success depends to significant extent upon the abilities and efforts of the members of our senior executive

management team Competition for highly skilled individuals is intense and if we fail to continue to attract retain and

motivate such professionals our ability to compete in our industry could be adversely affected

Government audits of our contracts could result in decrease in our earnings and or have negative effect on our

cash position following an audit adjustment

Our government contracts are subject to cost audits which may occur several years after the period to which the

audit relates If an audit identifies significant unallowable costs we could incur material charge to our eamings or reduction

in our cash position

Our effective income tax rate may vary

Various intemal and extemal factors may have favorable or unfavorable effects on our future effective income tax

rate These factors include but are not limited to changes in tax laws regulations and or rates the results of any tax

examinations changing interpretations of existing tax laws or regulations changes in estimates of prior years items

acquisitions changes in our corporate structure and changes in overall levels of income before taxes All of these factors

may result in periodic revisions to our effective income tax rate

We may pursue acquisitions investments strategic alliances and joint ventures which could affect our results of

operations

We may engage in various transactions including purchases or sales of assets acquisitions of businesses or enter

into investments or contractual arrangements such as strategic alliances or joint ventures These transactions may be intended

to result in the realization of cost savings the generation of cash the generation of income or the reduction of risk We cannot

assure you that we will be able to identify suitable acquisition investment alliance or joint venture opportunities or that we

will be able to consummate any such transactions or relationships on terms and conditions acceptable to us or that such

transactions or relationships will be successful

In addition upon consummation of an acquisition investment strategic alliance or joint venture we may face

challenges with integration efforts including the combination and development of product and service offerings sales and

marketing approaches and establishment of combined operations There can be no assurance that an acquired business will

perform as expected that we will not incur unforeseen obligations or liabilities that the business will generate sufficient cash

flow to support the indebtedness if incurred to acquire them or the expenditures needed to develop them or that the rate of

retum from such businesses will justify the decision to invest the capital

Any future acquisitions investments strategic alliances or joint ventures may require additional debt or equity

financing which in the case of debt financing would increase our leverage and potentially affect our creditworthiness Any
deterioration in our creditworthiness or our future credit ratings associated with an acquisition could adversely affect our

ability to borrow by resulting in more restrictive borrowing terms

We have substantial amount of indebtedness

Our substantial indebtedness has important consequences For example it

limits our ability to borrow additional funds

limits our ability to pay dividends

limits our flexibility in planning for or reacting to changes in our business and our industry

increases our vulnerability to general adverse economic and industry conditions

limits our ability to make strategic acquisitions

requires us to dedicate substantial portion of our cash flow from operations to payments on indebtedness

reducing the availability of cash flow to fund working capital capital expenditures and other general

corporate activities and

places us at competitive disadvantage compared to competitors that have less debt
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Interest costs related to our debt are substantial and as result the demands on our cash resources are significant

Our ability to make payments on our debt and to fund operations and planned capital expenditures will depend on our future

results of operations and ability to generate cash Our future results of operations are to certain extent subject to general

economic financial competitive legislative regulatory and other factors that are beyond our control

The terms of the Indenture will permit us and our subsidiaries to incur substantial additional indebtedness in the

future including secured indebtedness with first-priority liens or pan passu liens which could further exacerbate the risks

described above

Servicing our indebtedness will require significant amount of cash Our ability to generate sufficient cash depends

on numerous factors beyond our control and we may be unable to generate sufficient cash flow to service our debt

obligations

Our ability to make payments on and to refinance our indebtedness will depend on our ability to generate cash in the

future This to certain extent is subject to general economic political financial competitive legislative regulatory and

other factors that are beyond our control

For the
year ended December 31 2010 our interest payments totaled $44.9 million We cannot assure you that our

business will generate sufficient cash flow from operations to enable us to pay our indebtedness or to fund our other liquidity

needs If our cash flows are insufficient to allow us to make scheduled payments on our indebtedness we may need to reduce

or delay capital expenditures sell assets seek additional capital or restructure or refinance all or portion of our indebtedness

on or before maturity We cannot assure you that we will be able to refinance any of our indebtedness or that we will be able

to refinance on commercially reasonable terms or that these measures would satisfy our scheduled debt service obligations If

we are unable to generate sufficient cash flow or refinance our debt on favorable terms it could have material adverse

effect on our financial condition the value of our outstanding debt including the Notes offered hereby and our ability to

make any required cash payments under our indebtedness

lowering or withdrawal of the credit ratings assigned to our debt securities by rating agencies may increase our

future borrowing costs and reduce our access to capitaL

Our debt currently has non-investment grade credit rating and any credit rating assigned could be lowered or

withdrawn entirely by rating agency if in that rating agencys judgment future circumstances relating to the basis of the

rating such as adverse changes so warrant Consequently real or anticipated changes in our credit ratings will generally

affect the market value of the Notes Credit ratings are not recommendations to purchase hold or sell the Notes Additionally

credit ratings may not reflect the potential effect of risks relating to the structure or marketing of the Notes Any downgrade

by rating agency could decrease earnings and may result in higher borrowing costs

Any future lowering of our ratings likely would make it more difficult or more expensive for us to obtain additional

debt financing If any credit rating initially assigned to the Notes is subsequently lowered or withdrawn for any reason you

may not be able to resell your Notes without substantial discount

Item lB Unresolved Staff Comments

None
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Item Properties

The properties used in our operations consist principally of satellite ground stations and terminals production

facilities and administrative and executive offices The following table sets forth certain information about the location of

each property used in our business

________________________ Sq Ft Lease/Own _______________________________________________
81236 Lease

57392 Lease

42106 Own

Point Barrow Alaska

Sterling Virginia

McLean Virginia

Singapore Asia

These facilities will be replaced with the Hemdon Virginia headquarters in 2011

Item Legal Proceedings

In the normal course of business we may be party to various lawsuits legal proceedings and claims arising out of

our business We cannot predict the outcome of these lawsuits legal proceedings and claims with certainty Nevertheless we

believe that the outcome of any existing or known threatened proceedings even if determined adversely should not have

material adverse effect on our business financial condition liquidity or results of operations

Item Removed and Reserved

PART II

Item Market for Registrants Common Equity Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Repurchase of Equity

Securities

Our sole class of common equity is our $0.01 par value common stock which is listed on the NASDAQ Global

Market and is listed under the symbol GEOY Effective September 14 2006 our common stock began trading as GEOY
From the period January 13 2004 to September 13 2006 our common stock traded over-the-counter and sales were reported

on the NASDAQ bulletin board under the symbol ORBM Prior to January 13 2004 there was no established trading

market for our common stock

We had approximately 115 holders of record of our common stock at December 31 2010 one of which is Cede

Co nominee for Depository Trust Company or DTC All of the shares of common stock held by brokerage firms banks

and other financial institutions as nominees for beneficial owners are deposited into participant accounts at DTC and are

therefore considered to be held of record by Cede Co as one stockholder

Information conceming the stock prices as reported on the NASDAQ composite transaction tape is as follows

4th Quarter

3rd Quarter

2nd Quarter

1st Quarter

High Low High Low

46.06 39.86 33.00 24.00

40.48 30.80 26.90 21.94

32.98 26.10 28.90 19.10

29.75 23.61 23.42 16.03

We have 80000 shares of percent Series Convertible Preferred Stock or the Preferred Stock authorized at

$0.01 par value per share of which 80000 shares were issued and outstanding as of December 31 2010 with liquidation

preference of 1.000 per share

Location

Hemdon Virginia

Dulles Virginia

Thomton Colorado

St Louis Missouri

Mission Kansas

Fairmont West Virginia

Fairbanks Alaska

21060

17493

600

5041

620

26733

35079
436

Lease

Lease

Own
Lease

Lease

Lease

Lease

Lease

Purpose

Future headquarters to replace Dulles and Sterling Virginia

properties in 2011

Satellite operations information services and principal

executive offices

Satellite operations and production services backup for

GeoEye-

Production services

MJ Harden aerial imagery and production services

Ground terminal station to support OrbView-2

Ground terminal station and IKONOS backup command and

control

Ground terminal station

Administrative offices and services

GeoEye Analytics operations

Sales marketing and customer service activities

2010 2009
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Dividends

We have never paid any cash dividends on our common stock nor do we anticipate paying cash dividends on our

common stock at any time in the foreseeable future We are prohibited with certain exceptions allowed under the debt

indentures from paying dividends under instruments governing our 2015 and 2016 Notes until the principal amount of all

such notes has been repaid These restrictions are more fully discussed in Item Managements Discussion and Analysis of

Financial Condition and Results of Operations Liquidity and Cash Flows below

Cumulative dividends on the Preferred Stock are payable at rate of percent per annum of the $1000 liquidation

preference per share At the Companys option dividends may be declared and paid in cash out of funds legally available

when as and if declared by the Board of Directors of the Company If not paid in cash an amount equal to the cash dividends

due is added to the liquidation preference Dividends payable in cash are recorded in current liabilities All dividends payable

whether in cash or as an addition to the liquidation preference are recorded as reduction to our retained earnings On

October 2010 we paid $0.1 million of dividends and as of December 31 2010 we had $1.0 million of unpaid dividends

These dividends were paid on January 2011

Securities Authorized for Issuance under Equity Compensation Plans

The following table sets forth as of December 31 2010 the number of securities outstanding under our equity

compensation plans the weighted average exercise price of such securities and the number of securities available for grant

under these plans

Securities

to Be

Issued Upon
Exercise Weighted-

of Outstanding Average Securities

Options Exercise Available

and Equity Price per for Future

Plan Category Awards Share Issuance

Equity compensation plans approved by security holders 1704389 21.67 1086237

Equity compensation plans not approved by security holders N/A

Total 1704389 21.67 1086237

Includes stock options time-based nonvested stock time-based director stock units performance-based

restricted stock units and performance-based nonvested stock awards

Includes weighted-average exercise price of outstanding stock options only

Stock Performance Graph

The following graph compares the yearly percentage change in the cumulative total shareholder return on our

Common Stock during the period December 31 2005 to December 31 2010 with the cumulative total return on the

NASDAQ Global Market Index and with selected peer group consisting of us and other companies we deem to be

comparable The
peer group

consists of the following publicly traded technology and government contracting companies

AeroVironment Inc Applied Signal Technology Inc Costar Group Inc Cubic Corporation DigitalGlobe Inc Neustar

Inc Savvis Inc Trimble Navigation Limited Tyler Technologies Inc and Viasat Inc The
peer group is consistent with

that in our 2009 Form 10-K with the exception of the removal of Argon ST Inc from the peer group This graph assumes

the investment of $100 on December 31 2005 in our Common Stock the NASDAQ Global Select Index and the peer group

identified above and ii assumes that dividends are reinvested
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The information under Stock Performance Graph is not deemed filed with the Securities and Exchange

Commission and is not to be incorporated by reference in any of our filings under the Securities Act of 1933 as amended or

the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 as amended whether made before or afler the date of this Form 10-K and irrespective

of any general incorporation language in those filings

Item Selected Financial Data

The table below sets forth the selected historical consolidated financial and operating data for each of the five years

ended December 31 2010 which has been derived from the audited consolidated financial statements of GeoEye Inc The

following consolidated financial information should be read in conjunction with Item Managements Discussion and

Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations and our consolidated financial statements and related notes in

Item Financial Statements and Supplementary Data of this Annual Report

COMPARISON OF YEAR CUMULATIVE TOTAL RETURNS
Among GeoEye Inc the NASDAQ Global Select Index

anda Peer Group

12/31/05 12/31/06 12/31/07 12131/03 12131109 12131/10

ASSUMES $100 INVESTED ON DECEMBER 31 2005

ASSUMES DIVIDEND REINVESTED

FISCAL YEAR ENDING DECEMBER 31 2010

Company Index

GeoEye Inc

NASDAQ Global Select

Peer Group

Base Period

December

Year ndi ng Decem ber 31

31 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010

100.00 176.71 307.31 175.62 254.61 387.12

100.00 113.57 127.29 75.22 110.99 130.77

100.00 124.68 130.60 102.69 120.21 157.98
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SELECTED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL DATA

2010 2009 2008 2007 2006

in thousands except per share amounts
Revenues 330345 271102 $146659 $183023 $151168

Income before provision benefit for income taxes 47989 14488 10348 68005 20004
Net income 24637 32061 26615 28470 2974
Net income available to common stockholders 22747 32061 26615 28470 2974

Eamingspercommonshare-basic 1.05 1.71 1.48 1.62 0.17

Eamings per common share diluted 1.02 1.55 1.36 1.44 0.16

Total assets 1269085 947207 $794605 $853090 752601

Long-term debt 508160 380594 247502 246789 246075

Stockholders equity 443243 279955 230404 193209 153327

Item Managements Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

The following discussion and analysis should be read in conjunction with GeoEye consolidated financial

statements and related notes and the discussions under Application of Critical Accounting Policies also under Item

which describes key estimates and assumptions we make in the preparation of its consolidatedfinancial statements and Item

JA Risk Factors which describes key risks associated with our operations and industry

Business and Industry Factors

Business Strategy

We believe we are well positioned as leading global provider of imagery and imagery information services due to

our broad
range

of imagery collection assets world class image processing and production facilities and strong global

distribution network Key elements of our strategy to take advantage of our competitive position and grow our business

include

Expand our satellite constellation With the NGA EnhancedView award we will continue to develop and

grow our constellation and add capacity to serve our customer base and expand our services GeoEye-2 is

currently under construction and as of December 31 2010 we have spent $309.9 million on development

Our recent $3.8 billion EnhancedView award from the NGA included up to $337.0 million cost-share to

help fund the development of GeoEye-2 It also provided for ten-year EnhancedView SLA for GeoEye-1

and GeoEye-2 after it is launched and value-added services

Further expand our value-added products and service offerings We believe our industry-leading image

resolution our proprietary production process
and expert personnel establish us as leader in the field of

imagery production and erthancement We also expanded the production capacity of our facilities housing

our classified and multi-source production operations Our recent acquisition of SPADAC Inc allows us to

provide customers with analytical services that can be used for mission critical and commercial needs We
believe these and continued investments in our imagery enhancement and production capabilities will

enable us to serve the next-generation demand for customer specific satellite imagery products and

services

Further commercialize our industry-leading high-resolution imagery We plan to develop new platforms

and distribution technologies to make our imagery and products more accessible to our current and

potential customers For example our EyeQ Web-based services platform sells imagery and other location

intelligence based on multi-year subscriptions and seat licenses rather than selling imagery pixels by the

square kilometer EyeQ also offers Web interface with tools that function as our customers data center

EyeQ can serve up imagery and other content for our customers to access via their own data network and

for delivery to their customers and partners
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Expand our existing geographically diverse customer base We will continue to build on our existing

relationships with our customers and our international resellers so that we can offer value-added products

and services to meet their growing needs We remain committed to growing our geographically diverse

customer base and driving growth through the continued development of our relationships with

international resellers and international ground stations

Continue to deliver quality and timely imagery Our ability to provide high-quality accurate imagery to our

customers in timely manner is the foundation of our business We plan to continue to provide high-quality

imagery and production services to our customers by means of GeoEye- and once it is launched GeoEye
We also plan to deploy capital into research and development to augment and enhance our ability to

serve our customers

Industry Factors

The geospatial technologies industry is affected by many different factors Factors that drive market demand for our

products and services include but are not limited to increased demand for technologies in response to national defense and

environmental observation initiatives commercial demand for satellite mapping technologies global infrastructure project

initiatives and advances in communication technologies Factors that could negatively affect market demand for our products

and services include but are not limited to U.S and foreign governments developing and launching their own imagery

programs the proliferation of competing surveillance technologies such as unmanned aerial vehicles U.S export constraints

and decreasing federal and international budgets

As with any industry there are trends both positive and negative that can have an impact on the commercial

imagery data providers Positive trends include the following

We expect that due to geopolitical uncertainty global terrorist activity changing climate trends and large

natural disasters there will be continued demand from both U.S and international government agencies for

up-to-date and accurate digital imagery and digital mapping databases Defense personnel may be called

upon to deploy to support actions in hostile environments or to respond to natural disasters and combat

mission planners will require the latest geospatial information Our customers in countries around the world

will continue to need to monitor their borders and the other areas of political and economic interest

The frequency of natural disasters such as tsunamis hurricanes and earthquakes has increased awareness of the

utility of imagery information products for humanitarian missions and the need for geo-information in risk assessment

response
and recovery Satellite data is valuable tool in assessing disaster

response
and recovery and planning logistical

operations

GeoEye is often the first to deliver commercial satellite imagery to the U.S government foreign governments

commercial customers and humanitarian agencies Commercial satellite imagery was put to immediate use following the

January 2010 earthquake in Haiti In late February 2010 Geohye provided imagery from both GeoEye- and IKONUS to the

U.S government after magnitude 8.8 earthquake struck Chile In March 2010 the entire world saw the practical application

of commercial satellite imagery for understanding the extent and
scope

of the volcanic eruption in Iceland and the effect of its

ash cloud on Western Europe In April 2010 GeoEye provided imagery to international customers to better assess the
scope

and magnitude- of the devastation of the earthquake in the central China city of Yu Shu Also in April 2010 GeoEye began

supplying the U.S Coast Guard with millions of kilometers of imagery to understand the
scope

of the man-made oil spill

disaster in the Gulf of Mexico GeoEye continued to supply the NGA and the U.S Coast Guard with current imagery

throughout the summer so that federal agencies could make better response decisions as the crisis evolved GeoEye-l

provided imagery for relief workers after the Pakistan floods which began in late July 2010 following heavy monsoon rains

in the Khyber Sindh and Punjab regions of Pakistan Over the past few months GeoEye has supplied imagery for

humanitarian support and emergency relief support for the wildfires in Colorado the massive floods in Queensland

Australia the catastrophic landslides in Brazil and the earthquake and tsunami in Japan
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We believe the heightened focus on the global environment could increase use of imagery for global observation to

support climate change initiatives or to verify or monitor carbon reduction projects established through legislation or done

voluntarily

Commercial demand for geospatial technologies continues to grow According to an industry study the

commercial market for imagery better than three-meter ground resolution from high-resolution imaging

satellites is expected to grow over the next few years We believe that growth will be fUeled in part by the

broad awareness created by the online mapping search engines such as Google EarthTM and Microsoft

Virtual EarthrM Consumers are beginning to utilize location-based technologies for everything from

navigation to social networking The convergence
of imagery with GPS and personal navigation devices

combined with inexpensive access to broadband communications networks appears to have generated

development of new commercial applications incorporating imagery and imagery information products

Our technology is well suited for infrastructure project management Both satellite and aerial imagery

along with other location-based technologies can help the U.S other countries and large commercial

enterprises achieve their infrastructure goals more efficiently and cost effectively since every infrastructure

project has reference to physical location on the surface of the globe According to an industry trade

group significant portion of the new stimulus programs proposed by the current U.S administration will

require geospatial data or services particularly in the areas of design and planning for infrastructure

projects wildfire mapping environmental infrastructure projects surveying and charting and airport

improvements

Rapid advancements in IT infrastructure capabilities such as cloud computing mobile communications and

broadband may have dramatic effects on the industry While digital information including satellite imagery

and products is easily distributed to customers over the Intemet there is increasing customer interest in

having others host imagery for them while adding value to it in service-oriented environment As result

we anticipate growth in the increasing use of cloud computing where data and applications reside in

cyberspace rather than on company servers or hard drives The NGA SLA is an exammiple of how agencies

may utilize geo spatial technology rather than just buying imagery pixels by the square kilometer

There are also some negative industry trends

The U.S govemment may build and launch its own classified satellite imaging program and produce

imagery similar to or better than that currently provided by commercial data providers While the current

and the last two govemment administrations in the U.S developed commercial remote sensing policies that

are favorable for the commercial satellite imagery industry the intelligence community may make efforts

to fUnd satellite systems that could compete with the commercial imagery data providers The current

economic demands on the U.S govemment resources and the inherent time it takes to design and deploy

new imagery satellite systems may mitigate any near-term impact should the govemment decide to develop

competing assets However we continue to monitor for any change in the U.S govemments policy toward

commercial imagery providers

More countries are increasingly interested in developing and launching their own imagery satellite systems

According to EuroConsult study done in January 2011 it is possible that over 30 high-resolution satellite

systems could be launched and in operation across all regions in the 2013 to 2018 timeframe While none

of these imaging systems can currently match the resolution and
accuracy

of U.S commercial systems

several countries are planning to launch systems with capabilities similar to our imagery assets The

development and launch of such systems does involve significant risk and uncertainty including

technological launch and financing risk We are mindful of this trend as we consider how best to grow our

business

The U.S govemment is increasingly using other sensors such as unmanned aerial vehicles for more

persistent surveillance While these systems are mainly used for tactical intelligence collection and tactical

and targeted munitions delivery they can provide commanders with visibility over smaller area of interest

on more sustained basis We believe that our imagery and products will remain an important element in

fUlfilling the U.S govemments broad imagery needs in both tactical and non-mission critical situations
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While not new the U.S government continues to place onerous restrictions on the export of space

components to all countries ITAR created decade
ago to ensure U.S space technology does not fall in

the wrong hands has in effect hampered U.S competitiveness overseas Such strict govemment licensing

restricts exchange of technical data and export of commercial remote sensing hardware such as ground

stations thereby encouraging development of foreign manufacturing capability

We are mindfhl of overall market trends and the
pressure on U.S federal defense and intelligence budgets

While our satellite imagery business is somewhat insulated from the general economic downturn because

we provide crucial information to defense and intelligence agencies around the world economic conditions

at the state and local level could affect MJ Harden our aerial division and it may be harder to penetrate

new markets particularly the commercial markets

Results of Operations

Comparison of the Results of Operations for the Years Ended December 31 2010 and 2009

For the Year Ended December 31 Change Between 2010

2010 2009 and 2009

in thousands except percentages

%of %of
Amount Revenue Amount Revenue Amount ________

Revenues $330345 100.0% $271102 100.0% 59243 21.9%

Operating expenses

Direct costs of revenue exclusive of

depreciation and amortization 104010 31.5 94693 34.9 9317 9.8

Depreciation and amortization 65262 19.8 57166 21.1 8096 14.2

Selling general and administrative 57451 17.4 46608 17.2 10843 23.3

Total operating expenses 226723 68.6 198467 73.2 28256 14.2

Income from operations 103622 31.4 72635 26.8 30987 42.7

Interest expense net 27918 8.5 31020 11.4 3102 10.0

Other non-operating expense 24466 7.4 24466 100.0
Gain from investments 3200 1.0 3200 100.0

Loss from early extinguishment of debt 37 0.0 27127 10.0 27090 99.9

Write-off of prepaid financing costs 6412 1.9 6412 100.0
Income before provision benefit for income

taxes 47989 14.5 14488 5.3 33501 231.2

Provision benefit for income taxes 23352 7.1 17573 6.5 40925 232.9
Net income 24637 7.5 32061 11.8 7424 23.2
Preferred stock dividends 1107 0.3 1107 100.0

23530 7.1 32061 11.8 8531 26.6
Income allocated to participating securities

... 783 0.2 783 100.0
Net income available to common stockholders

22747 6.9 32061 11.8 9314 29.1

Percentages in this table and throughout our discussion and analysis of financial condition and results of operations

may reflect rounding adjustments The totals shown above may not appear to sum due to rounding

Revenues

For the Year Ended December 31 Change Between 2010

2010 2009 and 2009

in thousands except percentages

%of %of
Revenues Amount Revenue Amount Revenue Amount ________
Imagery 249698 75.6% 206417 76.1% 43281 21.0%

NextView cost-share 24153 7.3 21062 7.8 3091 14.7

Production and other services 56494 17.1 43623 16.1 12871 29.5

Total revenues 330345 100.0 271102 100.0 59243 21.9
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Imagery revenues primarily include imagery sales affiliate access fees and operations and maintenance fees

NextView cost-share revenues include the recognition of deferred revenue related to the cost-share amounts from the NGA
Production and other services revenues primarily include revenue from production orders for the NGA and commercial

customers our digital aerial imagery service Marine Services and Geoflye Analytics Imagery revenues increased primarily

due to the increased level of deliveries to the NGA and other regional affiliate and domestic commercial customers using

Geoflye- for the full twelve months of 2010 as compared to ten-and-a-half months in 2009 as result of commencement of

GeoEye- operations in February 2009 and revenues related to the delivery of customer imagery system upgrades in 2010

NextView cost-share revenues increased in 2010 as compared to 2009 primarily due to revenue being recognized for the full

twelve months of 2010 as compared to ten-and-a-half months in 2009 as result of commencement of GeoEye- operations

in February 2009 Production and other services revenues increased in 2010 compared to 2009 primarily due to an increase in

our value-added production services resulting from higher customer demand and system process improvements and

enhancements and resulting from the commencement of our Web-based dissemination services in 2010

Total domestic and international revenues were as follows

For the Year Ended December 31 Change Between 2010

2010 2009 and 2009

in thousands except percentages

%of %of
Revenues Amount Revenue Amount Revenne Amount

_________
Domestic 244826 74.1% 196722 72.6% 48104 24.5%

International 85519 25.9 74380 27.4 11139 15.0

Total revenues 330345 100.0 271102 100.0 59243 21.9

Domestic revenues include those from the SLA agreements recognition of deferred revenue related to the NextView

cost-share payments from the NGA commercial imagery sales and sales of value-added products and services Domestic

revenues increased in 2010 compared to the same period in 2009 primarily due to the increase in imagery provided by

GeoEye- under the NextView and ErthancedView SLA agreements for full twelve months of 2010 compared to ten-and-a-

half months in 2009 and an increase in deliveries to commercial customers in 2010 Additionally there was an increase in

production services due to higher customer demand and system process improvements and enhancements International

revenues include those from access fee agreements and ground station operation and maintenance contracts with our

international regional affiliate customers and commercial imagery sales International revenues increased in 2010 compared

to the same period in 2009 primarily due to an increase from the recognition of revenues from ground system upgrades and

an increase in deliveries to regional affiliate customers including the delivery of customer imagery system upgrade

Operating Expenses

Direct Costs of Revenue

For the Year Euded December 31 Change Between 2010

2010 2009 and 2009

in thousands except percentages

%of %of
Direct Costs of Revenue Amount Revenue Amount Revenue Amount ________
Labor and overhead 53537 16.2% 48924 18.0% 4613 9.4%

Subcontractor 29541 8.9 27030 10.0 2511 9.3

Satellite insurance 6202 1.9 8235 3.0 2033 24.7
Other direct costs 14730 4.5 10504 3.9 4226 40.2

Total direct costs of revenue $104010 31.5 94693 34.9 9317 9.8
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Direct costs of revenue include the costs of operating our satellites and related ground systems construction and

ongoing costs related to our operations and maintenance contracts Subcontractor expenses primarily include payments to

third parties for support to operate the IKONOS and GeoEye- satellites and their related ground systems Other direct costs

include third-party costs and fees to support our satellite program and the costs associated with monitoring our ground station

equipment Labor and overhead costs increased in 2010 compared to 2009 primarily due to the increase in our value-added

production services resulting from higher customer demand Subcontractor expenses increased during 2010 compared to

2009 primarily due to 2010 costs incurred related to the GeoEye- satellite irregularity that occurred in the end of 2009
offset by decrease related to one-time projects and contracts in 2009 not continued in 2010 Satellite insurance decreased

during 2010 compared to the same period in 2009 due to the reduction in insurance premiums Other direct costs of revenue

increased during 2010 compared to 2009 primarily due to the costs related to the delivery of imagery system upgrades sold

in the second and third quarters of 2010 and the recognition of costs of ground system upgrades that are being recognized

over the combined delivery term of the service in 2010

Depreciation and Amortization

For the Year Ended December 31 Change Between 2010

2010 2009 and 2009

in thousands except percentages

%of %of
Depreciation and Amortization Amount Revenue Amount Revenue Amount

_________

Depreciation 62620 19.0% 54516 20.1% 8104 14.9%

Amortization 2642 0.8 2650 1.0 0.3
Total depreciation and amortization 65262 19.8 57166 21.1 8096 14.2

Depreciation increased during 2010 compared to the same period in 2009 primarily due to the full twelve months of

depreciation of GeoEye- in 2010 compared to ten-and-a-half months of depreciation in 2009 as result of commencement

of operations of the Geoflye-1 satellite in February 2009 Amortization expense is primarily associated with acquired

contracts and customer relationship intangibles from our acquisition of MJ Harden and Space Imaging LLC in prior years

Selling General and Administrative Expenses

For the Year Ended December 31 Change Between 2010

2010 2009 and 2009

in thousands except percentages

Selling General and of of

Administrative Expenses Amount Revenue Amount Revenue Amount

Payroll commissions and related

costs 25431 7.7% 22235 8.2% 3196 14.4%

Stock-based compensation 5276 1.6 2072 0.8 3204 154.6

Professional fees 12528 3.8 13450 5.0 922 6.9
Research and development 1647 0.5 1399 0.5 248 17.7

Other 12569 3.8 7452 2.7 5117 68.7

Total selling general and

administrative
expenses 57451 17.4 46608 17.2 10843 23.3

Selling general and administrative
expenses include the costs of the finance administrative and general

management functions and the costs of marketing advertising promotion and other selling expenses Total selling general

and administrative expenses increased in 2010 compared to 2009 primarily as result of an increase in stock-based

compensation and bonus expense as well as headcount growth and business development costs related to our sales and

marketing efforts to expand our product and service offerings to current and new customers We also incurred transaction

related expenses in connection with the acquisition of SPADAC Inc in the fourth quarter of 2010 Additionally we have

incurred rental-related costs in the fourth quarter for our new corporate headquarters in Hemdon Virginia to accommodate

our growth and to consolidate our operations
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Interest Expense net

For the Year Ended December 31 Change Between 2010

2010 2009 and 2009

in thousands except percentages

%of %of
Interest Expense Net Amonnt Revenue Amount Revenue Amount ________
Interest expense 44902 13.6% 36183 13.3% 8719 24.1%

Capitalized interest 16580 5.0 4771 1.8 11809 247.5

Interest income 404 0.1 392 0.1 12 3.1

Total interest expense net 27918 8.5 31020 11.4 3102 10.0

Interest expense net primarily includes interest expense on our 2015 and 2016 Notes and the interest on our

previously redeemed 2012 Notes Interest expense net also includes amortized prepaid financing costs and amortization of

debt discount Interest expense increased during 2010 compared to 2009 primarily due to an increase in our average

outstanding long-term debt Partially offsetting this increase was reduction in our cost of capital from floating rate of at

least 12 percent related to the 2012 Notes compared to fixed coupon rate of 9.625 percent and 8.625 percent related to the

2015 and 2016 Notes respectively The increase in capitalized interest during 2010 as compared to the same period in 2009

was due to the increased construction costs of the GeoEye-2 satellite during 2010 on which interest is applied

Other Non-Operating Expense

We recorded other non-operating expense of $24.5 million in 2010 related to the fair value measurement of the

Preferred Stock Commitment associated with the Cerberus Stock Purchase Agreement The Preferred Stock Commitment fair

value was marked to market and reflected as an adjustment to earnings and added to additional paid-in-capital when Cerberus

purchased the Preferred Stock on September 22 2010

Gain from Investments

In connection with the acquisition of GeoEye Analytics we recognized gain of $2.5 million resulting from the

increase in the estimated fair value of our non-controlling interest in SPADAC prior to the acquisition During the third

quarter of 2010 we liquidated our holdings in another cost-method investment and recorded gain of $0.7 million

Loss from Early Extinguishment of Debt

The loss from early extinguishment of debt for the
year

ended December 31 2009 was $27.1 million due to the

issuance of the 2015 Notes with face value of $400.0 million in October 2009 and repayment of $249.5 million of our 2012

Notes The early extinguishment of debt represents the expensing of the unamortized prepaid financing costs unamortized

discount and tender premium related to the 2012 Notes

Write-off of Prepaid Financing Costs

During the third quarter of 2010 we wrote-off unamortized prepaid financing costs of $6.4 million including $2.0

million non-reffindable commitment fee related to costs incurred on the debt financing under the Notes Purchase

Agreement with Cerberus In August 2010 the NGA awarded the Company the EnhancedView contract without letter-

of-credit requirement and as result the debt facility was cancelled and these financing costs were expensed

Provision for Income Taxes

We recorded income tax expense of $23.4 million and income tax benefit of $17.6 million for 2010 and 2009

respectively Tax provisions were calculated using our annual effective tax rate of approximately 48.7 percent and 38.8

percent for 2010 and 2009 respectively The increase in our annual effective tax rate is priruarily due to the non-reeurriug

non-deductible book charges related to the fair value adjustment of the preferred stock commitment partially offset by the tax

benefit of the research and development credit Our 2009 income tax benefit is mainly related to restored net operating losses

resulting from an IRS ruling approved in October 2009

The total federal and state net operating loss carryforwards are approximately $150.0 million and $70.3 million for

2010 and 2009 respectively The net operating loss carryforwards will expire between tax years 2024 and 2030 We had tax

credit carryforwards of approximately $7.4 million of which $6.5 million expire on various dates through 2026
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The statutes of limitation for income tax retums in the U.S federal jurisdiction and various state jurisdictions for tax

years 2006 through 2009 have not expired thus these years remain subject to examination by the IRS and state jurisdictions

Significant state jurisdictions that remain subject to examination include Colorado and Missouri for tax years 2006 through

2009 and Virginia for tax years 2007 through 2009 For tax years for which we are no longer subject to federal state and

local tax examinations by tax authorities the tax attribute carryforwards generated from these years may still be adjusted

upon examination by tax authorities

Comparison of the Results of Operations for the Years Ended December 31 2009 and 2008

For the Year Ended December 31 Change Between 2009

2009 2008 and 2008

in thousands except percentages

%of %of
Amount Revenue Amount Revenue Amount _________

Revenues $271102 100.0% $146659 100.0% $124443 84.9%

Operating expenses

Direct costs of revenue exclusive of

depreciation and amortization 94693 34.9 72216 49.2 22477 31.1

Depreciation and amortization 57166 21.1 11357 7.7 45809 403.4

Selling general and administrative 46608 17.2 36990 25.2 9618 26.0

Inventory impairment and satellite

impairment settlement 3296 2.2 3296 100.0
Total operating expenses 198467 73.2 123859 84.5 74608 60.2

Income from operations 72635 26.8 22800 15.5 49835 218.6

Interest expense net 31020 11.4 11452 7.8 19568 170.9
Other non-operating expense 1000 0.7 1000 100.0

Loss from early extinguishment of debt 27127 10.0 27127 100.0

Income before provision for income taxes 14488 5.3 10348 7.1 4140 40.0

Benefitforincometax 17573 6.5 16267 11.1 1306 8.0

Netincome 32061 11.8 26615 18.1 5446 20.5

Revenues

For the Year Ended December 31 Change Between 2009

2009 2008 and 2008

in thousands except percentages

%of %of
Revenues Amouut Revenue Amount Revenue Amount __________

Imagery $206417 76.1% $102102 69.6% $104315 102.2%

NextView cost-share 21062 7.8 21062 100.0

Production and other services 43623 16.1 44557 30.4 934 2.1
Total revenues 271102 100.0 146659 100.0 124443 84.9

Imagery revenues increased primarily due to the substantial increase in levels of deliveries to the NGA using the

Geoflye-1 satellite under the NextView SLA agreement which commenced in February 2009 During the fourth quarter
of

2009 we recorded reductions of revenue as result of the OeoEye-1 satellite irregularity and contract modifications

NextView cost-share revenues are related to the recognition of deferred revenue from cost-share amounts received from the

NGA and are recognized over the useffil life of the satellite Production and other services revenues decreased in 2009

compared to 2008 primarily due to revenue decrease in the combination of our digital aerial imagery service and Marine

Services both of which have been negatively affected by the economic downtum resulting in lower sales volumes This

revenue decline was partially offset by an increase in our U.S government and commercial based value-added production

services
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For the Year Ended December 31 Change Between 2009

2009 2008 and 2008

in thousands except percentages

%of %of
Revenues Amount Revenue Amount Revenue Amount _________
Domestic 196722 72.6% 75880 1.7% 120842 159.3%

International 74380 27.4 70779 48.3 3601 5.1

Total revenues $271102 100.0 146659 100.0 124443 84.9

Domestic revenues increased in 2009 compared to 2008 primarily due to the substantial increase in levels of

deliveries to the NGA using GeoEye-1 under the new SLA contract International revenues increased in 2009 compared to

the same period in 2008 primarily due to our international regional affiliates expanding their imagery demands to include

access to the new GeoEye-1 satellite

Operating Expenses

Direct Costs of Revenue

For the Year Ended December 31 Change Between 2009

2009 2008 and 2008

in thousands except percentages

%of %of
Direct Costs of Revenue Amount Revenue Amount Revenue Amount

_________
Laborandoverhead 48924 18.0% 27443 18.7% 21481 78.3%

Subcontractor 27030 10.0 23828 16.2 3202 13.4

Satellite insurance 8235 3.0 600 0.4 7635 1272.5

Other direct costs 10504 3.9 20345 13.9 9841 48.4
Total direct costs of revenue 94693 34.9 72216 49.2 22477 31.1

Labor and overhead costs increased compared to the same period in 2008 primarily due to increased labor and

overhead related to the operation of the GeoEye-1 satellite which became operational in the first quarter of 2009

Subcontractor costs increased in 2009 compared to 2008 primarily due to an increase in operational and maintenance costs to

support the GeoEye-1 satellite during 2009 Satellite insurance increased compared to the same period in 2008 due to the

commencement of amortization of in-orbit insurance premiums for the GeoEye- satellite which began operations in

Febmary 2009 Other direct costs decreased in 2009 compared to 2008 primarily due to the impact of the sale of ground-

station upgrades in 2008 that did not occur in 2009 and our decreased need to purchase IKONOS imagery from our regional

affiliates for resale to other customers in 2009 Partially offsetting this decrease was an increase in 2009 related to the

recognition of the costs of the ground systems upgrades that are being recognized over the combined delivery term of the

service

Depreciation and Amortization

For the Year Ended December 31 Change Between 2009

2009 2008 and 2008

in thousands except percentages

%of %of
Depreciation and Amortization Amount Revenue Amount Revenue Amount

_________

Depreciation 54516 20.1% 8624 5.9% 45892 532.1%

Amortization 2650 1.0 2733 1.9 83 3.0
Total depreciation and amortization 57166 21.1 11357 7.7 45809 403.4

The increase in depreciation in 2009 from 2008 was primarily due to the commencement of GeoEye- satellite

operations in February 2009 when we began depreciating the GeoEye-1 satellite and the related ground systems
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Selling General and Administrative Expenses

For the Year Ended December 31 Change Between 2009

2009 2008 and 2008

in thousands except percentages

Selling General and Administrative of of

Expenses Amount Revenue Amount Revenue Amount
________

Payroll commissions and related

costs 22235 8.2% 17465 11.9% 4770 27.3%

Stock-based compensation 2072 0.8 2905 2.0 833 28.7
Professional fees 13450 5.0 9127 6.2 4323 47.4

Research and development 1399 0.5 1399 100.0

Other 7452 2.7 7493 5.1 41 0.5
Total selling general and

administrative expenses 46608 17.2 36990 25.2 9618 26.0

Payroll commissions and related costs increased in 2009 compared to 2008 primarily due to increases in headcount

commissions and the annual performance bonus as result of growth from the commencement of GeoEye- operations in

2009 The increase in professional fees compared to the same period in 2008 was primarily attributable to fees for accounting

and tax services and related internal control remediation efforts and bid and proposal efforts related to new business

development mainly for the EnhancedView program Research and development expenses primarily include the cost of

services and supplies in the development of the new information services business

Inventory Impairment and Satellite Impairment Settlement

During 2008 we determined that $2.2 million of certain inventory costs related to terminated customer contract

should be written off

During 2007 we had post-launch on-orbit milestone payment obligation with Orbital Sciences in connection with

the ongoing performance of OrbView-3 that was written off in conjunction with the loss of OrbView-3 The obligation was

subsequently settled and $1.1 million was paid in April 2008

Interest Expense net

For the Year Ended December 31 Change Between 2009

2009 2008 and 2008

in thousands except percentages

%of %of
Interest Expense Net Amount Revenue Amount Revenue Amount

________
Interest

expense 36183 13.3% 38844 26.5% 2661 6.9%

Capitalized interest 4771 1.8 22657 15.4 17886 78.9
Interest income 392 0.1 4735 3.2 4343 91.7

Total interest expense net 31020 11.4 11452 7.8 19568 170.9

Interest expense net includes interest expense on our 2012 Notes and 2015 Notes amortized prepaid financing

costs amortization of debt discount market adjustments to fair value of the related derivative instruments and excludes

capitalized interest expense associated with the construction of the satellites and related ground systems and interest income

Interest expense net increased primarily due to the decrease in capitalization of interest as result of the

commencement of the UeoEye- satellite operations in February 2009 offset by decrease related to losses recorded on the

derivative instruments in 2008 and not incurred in 2009

Due to the issuance of the 2015 Notes in the fourth quarter of 2009 we were able to lower our cost of capital by

reducing our interest rate from floating rate of at least 12 percent to fixed coupon rate of 9.625 percent Interest expense

related to the 2012 Notes was $26.9 million and $36.4 million for the years ended December 31 2009 and 2008 respectively

Interest
expense

related to the 2015 Notes was $9.3 million for the
year

ended December 31 2009
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In connection with the issuance of the 2012 Notes we entered into an interest rate swap arrangement in June 2005

pursuant to which the effective interest rate under the 2012 Notes was fixed at 13.75 percent through July 2008 In

February 2008 we entered into $250.0 million interest rate cap agreement that intended to protect us from increases in

interest rates by limiting our interest rate exposure to the three-month LIBOR with
cap

of 4.0 percent The cap option cost

was $0.5 million and was effective July 2008 through January 2010 As of December 31 2009 the fair value of the

interest rate cap was zero

Interest income decreased in 2009 primarily due to lower average cash balances and lower average interest rates on

cash balances during 2009 as compared with 2008

Other Non-Operating Expense

During the fourth quarter of 2008 we impaired cost-method investment in the amount of $1.0 million

Loss from Early Extinguishment of Debt

The loss from early extinguishment of debt for the year ended December 31 2009 was $27.1 million due to the

issuance of the 2015 Notes with face value of $400.0 million in October 2009 and repayment of $249.5 million of our 2012

Notes The early extinguishment of debt represents the expensing of the unamortized prepaid financing costs unamortized

discount and tender premium related to the 2012 Notes

Provision for Income Taxes

We recorded an income tax benefit of $17.6 million and $16.3 million for 2009 and 2008 respectively Tax

provisions were calculated using our estimated annual effective tax rate of approximately 38.8 percent and 42.0 percent for

2009 and 2008 respectively prior to the application of discrete items

The total liability for unrecognized tax benefits including interest and penalties for 2009 and 2008 was $0.2 million

and $1.4 million respectively During 2009 we paid certain items that were reserved removed certain items for which we
have received waivers from related jurisdictions and removed those items settled as result of filing our 2008 income tax

returns and related method changes We recorded additional reserves related to income tax penalties and interest for state

taxes and research and development credits

On October 15 2009 the Internal Revenue Service approved our ruling request regarding an ownership change to

effectively allow us to recover $57.6 million of previously limited net operating loss generated prior to November 2004

We amended prior year federal income tax retums and will amend state income tax retums resulting in tax receivable of

approximately $12.4 million and the remaining $24.1 million carryforward balance has been recorded as an $8.9 million

deferred tax asset as of December 31 2009 The utilization of the deferred tax asset related to the restored net operating loss

carryforward is limited to approximately $4.0 million per year as part of Section 382 ownership change Additionally we

plan to carryback our current year loss for tax purposes
and adjust the effect of prior year restatements resulting in an income

tax receivable of approximately $27.3 million and the remaining $31.1 million carryforward balance has been recorded as an

$11.8 million deferred tax asset The total federal and state net operating loss carryforward is approximately $55.0 million

The federal net operating loss carryforward will expire between tax years 2021 and 2029 and the state net operating loss

carryforward from various jurisdictions will expire between tax years 2017 and 2029

During 2008 we filed an application for change in method of tax accounting for the NextView cost-share payments

with the Internal Revenue Service As result of the filing Section 481a revenue adjustment of $48.5 million is

recognized annually for tax years 2008 through 2011 During 2010 we submitted an amendment to the original application

for change in method of tax accounting which has not been finalized as of December 31 2010

Non-GAAP Financial Measures

Adjusted EBITDA

Adjusted EBITDA is non-GAAP financial measure that represents net income loss before depreciation and

amortization expenses net interest income or expense income tax expense benefit non-cash stock-based compensation

expense and other items We present adjusted EBITDA to enhance understanding of our operating performance We use

adjusted EBITDA as one criterion for evaluating our performance relative to that of our peers We believe that adjusted

EBITDA is an operating performance measure and not liquidity measure that provides investors and analysts with

measure of operating results unaffected by differences in capital structures capital investment cycles and ages of related

assets among otherwise comparable companies However adjusted EBITDA is not recognized term under financial

performance under GAAP and our calculation of adjusted EBITDA may not be comparable to the calculation of similarly

titled measures of other companies
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The use of adjusted EBITDA as an analytical tool has limitations and it should not considered in isolation or as

substitute for analysis of our results of operations as reported in accordance with GAAP Some of these limitations are

It does not reflect our cash expenditures or future requirements for all contractual commitments

It does not reflect our significant interest expense or the cash requirements necessary to service our

indebtedness

It does not reflect cash requirements for the payment of income taxes when due

Although depreciation and amortization are non-cash charges the assets being depreciated and amortized will

often have to be replaced in the future and adjusted EBITDA does not reflect any cash requirements for such

replacements and

It does not reflect the impact of earnings or charges resulting from matters we consider not to be indicative of

our ongoing operations but may nonetheless have material impact on our results of operations

Because of these limitations adjusted EBITDA should not be considered as measure of discretionary cash

available to us to invest in the growth of our business or as an alternative to net income or cash flow from operations

determined in accordance with GAAP Management compensates for these limitations by not viewing adjusted EBITDA in

isolation and specifically by using other GAAP measures such as cash flow provided by used in operating activities and

capital expenditures to measure our liquidity Our calculation of adjusted EBITDA may not be comparable to the calculation

of similarly titled measures reported by other companies

reconciliation of net income to adjusted EBITDA is as follows

27918
37

6412

23352

65262

6877

24466

3200
1167 __________

176928
_________

2010 2009

in thousands except

283233 208872

50124

302620 259332
3.41 3.81

2008

ratios

106733

3813

75878

1.71

The Companys principal sources of liquidity are its unrestricted cash cash equivalents short-term investments and

accounts receivable Our primary cash needs are for working capital capital expenditures and debt service

For the Year Ended December 31

2010 2009 2008

in thousands

24637 32061 26615Net income

Adjustments

Interest expense net

Loss from early extinguishment of debt

Write-off of prepaid financing costs

Provision benefit for income taxes

Depreciatiod and amortization

Non-cash loss on inventory and investment impairments

Non-cash stock based compensation expense

Non-cash change in fair value of financial instrument

Gain from investments

Acquisition costs

Adjusted EBITDA

Liquidity and Capital Resources

December 31

31020

27127

17573
57166

2371

11452

16267
11357

3154

3396

132172 39707

Cash and cash equivalents

Short-term investments

Working capital

Current ratio

Year ended December 31 cash from used in
Operating activities

Investing activities

Financing activities

Capital expenditures included in investing activities above

126693

265921
213589

233736

100207

123034

124966

79090

1872
124187

6031

127937

35



We believe that we currently have sufficient resources to meet our operating requirements through the next twelve

months However our ability to continue to be profitable and generate positive cash flow through our operations beyond that

period is dependent on the continued expansion of commercial and govemment services and adequate customer acceptance

of our products and services

As of December 31 2010 we had $283.2 million of cash and cash equivalents and $50.1 million in short-term

investments During the fourth quarter we issued $125.0 million in senior secured notes which we will use for general

corporate purposes which may include working capital future production and services expansion capital expenditures and

other strategic opportunities We are in strong cash position and continue to make prudent investments in GeoEye-2s

development and in the development of new product and service offerings to current and new customers We will continue to

fund our capital expenditures with cash flows from operating activities proceeds from the 2015 and 2016 Notes and revenues

from existing contracts Our total long-term debt consists of $400.0 million of 2015 Notes net of unamortized discount of

$16.8 million and $125.0 million of 2016 Notes as of December 31 2010

Cash Flow Items

Net Cash Provided by Used in Operating Activities

Net cash provided by used in operating activities was $126.7 million $100.2 million and $1.9 million in 2010
2009 and 2008 respectively

The increase of $26.5 million in 2010 compared to the same period in 2009 was primarily related to improved

operating performance and collection of income tax refunds offset by decline in deferred revenues as compared to the prior

year

The increase of $102.1 million in 2009 compared to the same period in 2008 was primarily due to $31.0 million in

income tax refunds for 2008 and $64.0 million in changes to the current tax receivable and deferred tax accounts offset by the

timing of vendor payments

Net Cash Used in In vesting Activities

Net cash used in investing activities was $265.9 million $123.0 million and $124.2 million in 2010 2009 and 2008

respectively

During 2010 cash used in investing activities of $265.9 million was primarily attributable to capital expenditures of

$233.7 million purchases of short-term investments of $50.2 million and cash consideration of $31.5 million related to the

acquisition of GeoEye Analytics These increases were partially offset by the restricted cash proceeds of $47.8 million which

became available in 2010 to finance portion of the costs of constructing GeoEye-2 The increase in capital expenditures of

$154.6 million compared to the same period in 2009 was primarily due to expenditures related to the construction of GeoEye
that were incurred in 2010 In 2010 we signed contract with Lockheed Martin Space Systems Company to build the

GeoEye-2 satellite As of December 31 2010 we have incurred total capita1ied costs of $309.9 million for EnhancedView

primarily consisting of costs for the construction of GeoEye-2

In 2009 capital expenditures decreased by $48.8 million compared to the same period in 2008 primarily attributable

to expenditures related to the construction of GeoEye- that were incurred in 2008 prior to commencement of full satellite

operations in February 2009 However we also incurred $36.9 million of capital expenditures for GeoEye-2 during 2009 In

addition there was net transfer to restricted cash of $47.8 million in the fourth quarter of 2009 as result of the net

proceeds of the 2015 Notes that are restricted for construction of new high-resolution satellite We spent $66.8 million in

building our next Earth-imaging satellite GeoEye-2 through December 31 2009

Capital expenditures of $127.9 million for the year ended December 31 2008 were primarily attributable to

expenditures related to the construction of GeoEye-1 and its related ground system assets However $21.2 million of capital

expenditures in 2008 was attributable to costs incurred for the construction of GeoEye-2

Net Cash Provided by Financing Activities

Net cash provided by financing activities was $213.6 million $125.0 million and $6.0 million in 2010 2009 and

2008 respectively

During 2010 we issued senior secured notes net of underwriting and financing costs of $121.0 million which was

used for general corporate purposes and we issued convertible preferred stock to Cerberus resulting in net proceeds of $78.0

million after discounts Additionally we received funds of $19.5 million for the issuances of common stock primarily due to

the exercise of warrants
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In 2009 we issued senior secured notes net of discount and net of financing costs of $377.1 million which was used

to pay for the repurchase of our 2012 Notes plus accrued interest In addition we received funds in the amount of $15.4

million for the issuances of common stock primarily due to the exercise of warrants

Long-Term Debt

In October 2010 we closed on publicly registered debt offering of $125.0 million of our 2016 Notes due October

2016 The 2016 Notes bear interest at 8.625 percent per annum Interest payments on the 2016 Notes will be made semi

aimually in arrears on April and October of each year At any time on or after October 2013 the Company may on one

or more occasions redeem all or part of the 2016 Notes at 104.3 13 percent of principal for the subsequent 12-month period

at 102.156 percent of principal on October 2014 for the subsequent 12-month period and at 100 percent of principal on

October 2015 and thereafter The net proceeds of the 2016 Notes offering are being used for general corporate purposes

which may include working capital future production and services expansion capital expenditures and other strategic

opportunities The 2016 Notes are unconditionally guaranteed jointly and severally on secured second-priority basis

In October 2009 we closed on private placement offering of $400.0 million of our 2015 Notes due October

2015 The net proceeds of the 2015 Notes offering were used to find the repurchase of $249.5 million in outstanding

principal or approximately 99.8 percent of the Companys outstanding $250.0 million 2012 Notes due July 2012 The

2015 Notes bear interest at the rate of 9.625 percent per annum Interest is payable semi-annually in arrears on April and

October of each year At any time on or after October 2013 Geohye Inc may on one or more occasions redeem all or

part of the 2015 Notes at 104.813 percent of principal for the subsequent 12-month period and at 100 percent of principal on

October 2014 and thereafter The 2015 Notes are unconditionally guaranteed jointly and severally on senior secured

basis

As of December 31 2010 our total long-term debt consisted of $125.0 million of 2016 Notes and $400.0 million of

2015 Notes net of original issue discount of $16.8 million Under the indentures goveming the 2016 and 2015 Notes we are

prohibited from paying dividends on our common stock until the principal amount of all such notes has been repaid

The indentures goveming our 2016 Notes and 2015 Notes contain covenants that restrict our ability to incur

additional indebtedness unless among other things we can comply with fixed charge coverage ratios We may incur

additional indebtedness only if after giving pro forma effect to that incurrence our ratio of adjusted cash EBITDA to total

consolidated debt for the four fiscal quarters ending as of the most recent date for which intemal financial statements are

available meet certain levels or we have availability to incur such indebtedness under certain baskets in the indentures

Adjusted cash EBITDA is defined as Adjusted EBITDA less amortization of deferred revenue related to the NextView

agreement with the NGA in the indenture goveming the 2015 Notes and as Adjusted EBITDA less amortization of deferred

revenue related to the NextView EnhancedView or any successor agreement with the NGA in the indenture goveming the

2016 Notes As of December 31 2010 we were in compliance with all covenants associated with our borrowings

Equity Sources and Uses

In March 2010 the Company entered into Stock Purchase Agreement and Note Purchase Agreement with

Cerberus Satellite LLC or Cerberus The additional debt financing related to the development and launch of Geoflye-2 was

necessary because the original Request for Proposals for EnhancedView required that upon successful contract award the

Company would need to provide letter of credit for the frill amount of any potential cost share award for the development of

GeoEye-2 that would be received from the NGA for period of up to three years after the NGAs certification of the

satellites imagery Under the Stock Purchase Agreement Cerberus agreed to purchase from the Company and the Company

agreed to sell to Cerberus subject to certain conditions including successful contract award requiring letter of credit up to

115000 shares of newly issued series of convertible preferred stock of the Company having an initial liquidation

preference of $1000 per
share If the Company received contract award without the letter-of-credit requirement the

Company would no longer be obligated to issue 115000 shares of Preferred Stock to Cerberus hut Cerhems would have the

option to purchase 80000 shares of Series Convertible Preferred Stock or the Preferred Stock Under the terms of the Note

Purchase Agreement at the Companys option and assuming letter-of-credit requirement Cerberus also agreed to provide

the Company with debt financing of $100.0 million contingent upon the Company receiving an award from the NGA with

letter-of-credit requirement This letter-of-credit requirement was subsequently eliminated

On September 22 2010 we consummated preferred stock issuance pursuant to the Stock Purchase Agreement

with Cerberus Pursuant to the terms of the Stock Purchase Agreement and as result of the EnhancedView award by the

NGA being made without the letter-of-credit requirement Cerberus purchased 80000 shares of Preferred Stock having

liquidation preference of $1000 per share resulting in net proceeds to the Company of $78.0 million after discounts and

before issuance costs
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The issuance of 80000 shares of Preferred Stock to Cerberus represents an ownership interest assuming conversion

of such Preferred Stock to the Companys common stock of approximately 10 percent as of December 31 2010

The Preferred Stock will be entitled to receive dividend at an annual rate of percent payable in kind in cash or

securities at the Companys option The Preferred Stock will have conversion price of $29.76 per share subject to

adjustment and customary anti-dilution adjustments Holders of the Preferred Stock will vote with the Companys common
stock on an as-converted basis However Cerberus is not permitted to vote with the Preferred Stock to the extent it would

result in Cerberus voting more than an equivalent of 19.99 percent of the Companys outstanding voting securities On

December 17 2010 we filed shelf registration to register the common stock that is issuable upon the conversion of the

Preferred Stock

Contracted Backlog

We have historically had and currently have substantial backlog which provides some assurance regarding our

future revenue expectations Backlog reduces the volatility of our net cash provided by operating activities more than would

be typical for company outside our industry

Backlog to be recognized

Beyond Total Contract

in millions 2011 2011 Backlog

EnhancedView SLA 150.0 2686.2 2836.2

EnhancedView cost-share amortization 384.0 384.0

NextView cost-share amortization 24.2 148.0 172.2

Intemational 49.8 47.8 97.6

North American commercial 14.5 42.0 56.5

U.S government 41.1 4.8 45.9

TotalBacklog 279.6 3312.8 3592.4

Total backlog includes all contractual commitments These include the remaining portion of our ten-year term of the

EnhancedView SLA with the NGA infrastructure design and procurement services under the EnhancedView contract with

the NGA access fee agreements regional affiliate ground station operations and maintenance contracts with our international

regional affiliate customers commercial imagery contracts and value-added products and services and remaining

unamortized revenue from the NGA NextView cost-share payments made prior to the GeoEye- satellite becoming fully

operational In addition as part of the EnhancedView agreement the NGA has agreed to contribute to the overall

construction and launch costs of the GeoEye-2 satellite and associated ground station equipment as well as the design and

procurement of additional infrastructure to support government operations This award component will be initially recorded

as deferred revenue and recognized as revenue over the contractual term of the EnhancedView contract

The EnhancedView SLA contract is structured as one-year contract with nine one-year renewal options

exercisable by the NGA Most of our government contracts including the EnhancedView program are funded incrementally

on year-to-year basis however certain foreign government and commercial customers have signed multi-year contracts

Changes in government policies priorities or funding levels through agency or program budget reductions by the U.S

Congress or executive agencies could materially and adversely affect our financial condition and results of operations

Furthermore contracts with the U.S government may be terminated or suspended by the U.S government at any time with

or without cause which could result in reduction in our backlog

Capital Expenditures

For 2010 our capital expenditures included $219.9 million for satellites and ground systems and $13.8 million for

property plant and equipment
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We currently expect that total capital expenditures for 2011 will be approximately $300.0 million of which $260.0

million should be related to our continued construction of GeoEye-2 under the EnhancedView program Also during 2011
we expect to incur additional capital expenditures of approximately $40.0 million Approximately $22.0 million is associated

with building improvements including the construction of new satellite operating center we are making to our new

corporate headquarters facility Our new lease agreement provides for $4.9 million tenant improvement reimbursement

allowance Reimbursements under this provision will be recorded as deferred lease incentive and will reduce rent expense

over the remaining lease term We expect to utilize the remaining reimbursement allowance during 2011 We intend to fund

our capital expenditure requirements through cash on hand and cash provided by operating activities

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

We lease various real properties under operating leases that generally require us to pay taxes insurance

maintenance and minimum lease payments Some of our leases have options to renew

We do not have any other significant off-balance sheet arrangements that have or are reasonably likely to have

current or future effect on our financial condition results of operations liquidity capital expenditures or capital resources

Contractual Obligations and Commercial Commitments

The following table summarizes our contractual obligations as of December 31 2010

Payments due by year

Contractual 2016 and

Obligations 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 thereafter Total

in thousands

Long-term debt obligations 400000 125000 525000

Interest expense on long-term

debt 49281 49281 49281 49281 49281 10781 257186

Operating lease obligations 1918 3290 3578 2513 2429 17770 31498
Purchase obligations 152075 138713 47956 840 560 340144

Total contractual obligations 203274 $191284 100815 52634 452270 153551 $1153828

Represents contractual interest payment obligations on the $400.0 million outstanding principal balance of our 2015

Notes which bear interest at rate per annum of 9.625% and contractual interest payment obligations on the $125.0

million outstanding principal balance of our 2016 Notes which bear interest at rate per annum of 8.625%

Purchase obligations include all commitments to purchase goods or services of either fixed or minimum quantity

that are enforceable and legally binding As of December 31 2010 purchase obligations include EnhancedView

related commitments ground systems and communication services

In addition to the above the Company has entered into commitments subsequent to December 31 2010 totaling up

to approximately $13.9 million primarily purchase obligations all of which expire in 2011 and 2012

Operating Leases

We have commitments for operating leases primarily relating to equipment and office and operating facilities We
lease various real properties under operating leases that generally require us to pay taxes insurance maintenance and

minimum lease payments These leases contain escalation provisions for increases as result of increases in real estate taxes

and operating expenses We recognize rent expense under such leases on straight-line basis over the term of the lease

Substantially all of these leases have lease terms ranging from three to twelve years Some of our leases have options to

renew

Total rental expense under operating leases for the years ended December 31 2010 2009 and 2008 was

approximately $3.3 million $2.2 million and $1.9 million respectively

In August 2010 we entered into twelve-year lease agreement for total commitment of $26.6 million for office

space to relocate our corporate headquarters in Hemdon Virginia
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Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

The preceding discussion and analysis of financial condition and results of operations are based on our consolidated

financial statements which have been prepared in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United

States of America or GAAY The preparation of these consolidated financial statements requires management to make

estimates and judgments that affect the reported amounts of assets liabilities revenues expenses
and related disclosures On

an ongoing basis we evaluate estimates and assumptions including but not limited to those related to the impairment of

long-lived assets and goodwill revenue recognition satellites and related ground systems stock-based compensation and

income taxes We base our estimates on historical experience and various other assumptions that we believe to be reasonable

under the circumstances the results of which form the basis for making judgments about the carrying values of assets and

liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources Actual results may differ from these estimates under different

assumptions or conditions

We believe the following critical accounting policies affect our more significant judgments and estimates used in the

preparation of our consolidated financial statements

Revenue Recognition

Our principal sources of revenue are from imaging services the sale of satellite imagery directly to end users or

value-added resellers and the provision of direct access to our satellites and associated ground processing technology

upgrades and operations and maintenance services We also derive significant revenue from value-added production services

where we combine our images with data and imagery from our own and other sources to create sophisticated information

products Additionally effective in 2010 the dissemination hosting and analysis of imagery became source of revenue We
enter into fixed price unit-price and time-and-materials contracts with our customers When recognizing revenue we

consider the following

We consider the nature of our contracts and the types of products and services provided when we

determine the proper accounting for particular contract

We record revenues from the sale of satellite imagery directly to end users or value-added resellers based

on the delivery of the imagery

We recognize revenues for the provision of direct access to our satellites on straight-line basis over the

delivery term of the contract However certain multi-year sales contracts are based on minimum levels of

access time with adjustments based on usage

We recognize revenues for the sale of ground processing technology upgrades and support services based

on the delivery of these products and services If the satellite access service is combined with the sale of

ground processing technology upgrades and operations and maintenance services and the requirements for

separate revenue recognition are not met we recognize revenues on straight-line basis over the combined

delivery term of the services

We record revenues generated from the information services base service offering including dissemination and

hosting of imagery on straight-line basis over the subscription period

Revenue is recognized on contracts to provide value-added production services using the percentage-of-completion

method whereby revenue is recognized on each production contract based on either the contract price of units of production

delivered during period or upon costs to date plus an estimate of gross profit to date Anticipated contract losses are

recognized as they become known

Under the units-of-delivery method revenue on contract is recorded as the units are delivered and

accepted during the period at an amount equal to the contractual selling price of those units Contract costs

are recognized as incurred with costs to date of unfinished production for which revenue has not been

recognized being capitalized

Under the cost plus gross profit eamed method progress toward completion is measured against all

measurable deliverables based on either resources applied or cost incurred compared to total resources or

cost projected for the project We recognize costs as incurred Profit is determined based on our estimated

profit on the contract multiplied by our progress
toward completion Revenue represents the sum of our

costs and profit on the contract for the period
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Contract estimates involve various assumptions and projections relative to the outcome of future events over

period of several years These assumptions include future labor productivity and availability the nature and complexity of the

work to be performed the cost and availability of materials the impact of delayed performance the availability and timing of

funding from the customer and the timing of product deliveries These estimates are based on the Companys best judgment

significant change in one or more of these estimates could affect the profitability of one or more of the Companys
contracts We review our contract estimates on continual basis to assess revisions in contract values and estimated costs at

completion

At times we may receive payments from some customers in advance of providing services Amounts received from

customers pursuant to satellite access prepayment options are recorded in the consolidated financial statements as deferred

revenue These deferred amounts are recognized as revenue on straight-line basis over the agreement terms In addition

cost-share amounts received from the U.S government are recorded as deferred revenue when received and recognized on

straight-line basis over the useful life of the satellite

In addition our revenue recognition policy requires an assessment as to whether the collection is reasonably assured

which requires us among other things to evaluate the creditworthiness of our customers Changes in judgments in these

assumptions and estimates could materially affect the timing and/or amount of revenue recognition

Satellites and Related Ground Systems

Satellites and related ground systems are recorded at cost The cost of our satellite includes capitalized interest cost

incurred during the construction and development period In addition capitalized costs of our satellite and related ground

systems include internal direct labor and project management costs incurred in the construction and development of our

satellite and related ground systems During the construction phase the costs of our satellites are capitalized assuming the

eventual successful launch and in-orbit operation of the satellite The portion of any insurance premiums associated with the

insurance coverage of the launch and on-orbit commissioning period prior to satellite reaching start of commercial

operations are capitalized in the original cost of the satellite and are amortized over the estimated life of the asset Ground

systems are placed into service when they are ready for their intended use If satellite were to fail during launch or while in-

orbit the resulting loss would be charged to expense in the period in which such loss was to occur The amount of any such

loss would be reduced to the extent of insurance proceeds received as result of the launch or in-orbit failure

Asset Impairment Assessments

Goodwill

We evaluate the carrying value of goodwill on an aimual basis in the fourth quarter and when events and changes in

circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable In assessing the recoverability of goodwill we

calculate the fair market value at the Company level which is the sole reporting unit If the carrying value of the Company

exceeds the fair market value impairment is measured by comparing the derived fair value of goodwill to its carrying value

and any impairment determined is recorded in the current period An impairment test was performed on recorded goodwill

and it was determined that no impairment existed as of December 31 2010

Long-Lived Assets

In assessing the recoverability of our satellites fixed assets and other long-lived assets we evaluate the

recoverability whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset may not be

recoverable Recoverability of assets to be held and used is measured by comparison of the carrying amount of an asset to

future net cash flows expected to be generated by the asset If such assets are considered to be impaired the impairment to be

recognized is measured by the amount by which the carrying amount of the asset exceeds the fair value of the asset Changes

in estimates of future cash flows could result in write-down of the asset in future period Estimated future cash flows

could he affected by among other things changes in estimates of the useful lives of the assets for example degradation in

the quality of images downloaded from the satellite changes in estimates of our ability to operate the assets at expected

levels for example due to intermittent loss of satellite transmissions and the loss of one or several significant customer

contracts
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Satellites and other property and equipment are depreciated and amortized on straight-line basis over theft

estimated useful lives We estimate the useful lives of our satellites for depreciation purposes based upon an analysis of each

satellites performance including its orbital design life and its estimated service life The orbital design life of satellite is

the length of time that the manufacturer has contractually committed that the satellites hardware will remain operational

under normal operating conditions In contrast satellites service life is the length of time the satellite is expected to remain

operational as determined by remaining fuel levels and consumption rates Our in-orbit satellites generally have operational

lives of nine years and service lives as high as thirteen years The useful depreciable lives of our satellites are generally the

operational lives

Although the service lives of our satellites have historically extended beyond their depreciable lives this trend may
not continue We periodically review the remaining estimated useful lives of our satellites to determine if any revisions to our

estimates are necessary based on the health of the individual satellites Changes in our estimate of the useful lives of our

satellites could have material effect on our financial position or results of operations

We charge to operations the carrying value of any satellite lost as result of launch or in-orbit failure upon the

occurrence of the loss In the event of partial failure we record an impairment charge to operations upon the occurrence of

the loss if the undiscounted future cash flows are less than the carrying value of the satellite We measure the impairment

charge as the excess of the canying value of the satellite over its estimated fair value as determined by the present value of

estimated expected future cash flows using discount rate commensurate with the risks involved

Income Taxes

Income tax provision is based on income before taxes and is computed using the asset and liability method Deferred

tax assets and liabilities are determined based on the difference between the financial statement and tax basis of assets and

liabilities using tax rates projected to be in effect for the year in which the difference is expected to reverse Significant

judgment is required in the calculation of our tax provision and the resultant tax liabilities and in the recoverability of our

deferred tax assets that arise from temporary differences between the tax and financial statement recognition of revenue and

expense and net operating loss and credit carryforwards As part of our financial process we must assess the likelihood that

our deferred tax assets can be recovered This assessment requires significant judgment We evaluate the recoverability of our

deferred tax assets based in part on the existence of deferred tax liabilities that can be used to realize the deferred tax assets

In addition we have made significant estimates involving current and deferred income taxes tax attributes relating to the

interpretation of various tax laws historical bases of tax attributes associated with certain tangible and intangible assets and

limitations surrounding the realizability of our deferred tax assets We do not recognize current and future tax benefits until it

is deemed more likely than not that certain tax positions will be sustained Under ASC 740 valuation allowance is required

when it is more likely than not that all or portion of the deferred tax asset will not be realized The recognition of

valuation allowance would result in reduction to net income and if significant could have material impact on our

effective tax rate results of operations and financial position in any given period

During the ordinary course of business there are many transactions and calculations for which the ultimate tax

determination is uncertain We evaluate our tax positions to determine if it is more likely than not that tax position is

sustainable based solely on its technical merits presuming the taxing authorities full knowledge of the position and having

access to all relevant facts and information When tax position does not meet the more-likely-than-not standard liability is

recorded for the entire amount of the unrecognized tax benefit Additionally for those tax positions that are determined more

likely than not to be sustainable we measure the tax position at the largest amount of benefit more likely than not

determined by cumulative probability to be realized upon settlement with the taxing authority

Stock-Based Compensation

Employee stock-based compensation is estimated at the date of grant based on the employee stock awards fair value

using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model and is recognized as expense ratably over the requisite service period in

manner similar to other forms of compensation paid to employees Black-Scholes option-pricing model requires the use

of certain subjective assumptions The most significant of these assumptions are our estimates of the expected volatility of

the market price of our stock and the expected term of the award As required under the accounting rules we review our

valuation assumptions at each grant date and as result our valuation assumptions used to value employee stock-based

awards granted in future periods may change

Investments

We record our investments in debt securities at amortized cost or fair value and we classify these securities as short

term investments on the consolidated balance sheet when the original maturities at purchase are greater than ninety days but

less than one year
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The Companys short-term investments consist of debt securities that include commercial paper corporate bonds

agency notes variable rate demand notes and certificates of deposit Investments in debt securities that the Company has the

positive intent and ability to hold to maturity are recorded at amortized cost and classified as held-to-maturity Investments in

debt securities that are not classified as held-to-maturity are carried at fair value and classified as available-for-sale

We evaluate our investments for other-than-temporary impairment on quarterly basis Other-than-temporary

impairment occurs when the fair value of an investment is below our carrying value and we determine that difference is not

recoverable in the near ftiture Factors we consider to make such determination include the duration and severity of the

impairment the reason for the decline in value and the potential recovery period and our intent to sell or whether it is more

likely than not that we will be required to sell the investment before recovery of the amortized cost basis

As of December 31 2010 we categorized our investments as either available-for-sale or held-to-maturity and all of

these outstanding short-term investmepts mature within one year Although the variable-rate demand notes have long-term

contractual maturity dates of 20 to 30 years the interest rates reset weekly Despite the long-term nature of the underlying

securities they are classified as short-term due to our ability to quickly liquidate or put back these securities As of December

31 2009 we had no investments

Recent and Pending Accounting Pronouncements

In October 2009 the Financial Accounting Standards Board or FASB issued revised guidance on revenue from

multiple deliverable arrangements including principles and application guidance on whether multiple deliverables exist how

the arrangement should be separated and the allocation of the consideration Additionally this revised guidance requires an

entity to allocate revenue in multiple-element arrangements using estimated selling prices of deliverables if vendor-specific

or other third-party evidence of value is not available The new guidance is to be applied on prospective basis for revenue

arrangements entered into or materially modified in fiscal years beginning on or after June 15 2010 with earlier adoption

permitted An assessment of the impact of the adoption of this accounting guidance was performed and it was deemed to not

have material impact on our consolidated financial statements

In October 2009 the FASB revised its guidance on accounting for revenue that contains tangible products and

software The new guidance revised the scope
of software revenue guidance such that software included together with

tangible products would not be included within its scope The revised guidance is to be applied on prospective basis for

revenue arrangements entered into or materially modified in fiscal years beginning on or after June 15 2010 with earlier

application permitted An assessment of the impact of the adoption of this accounting guidance was performed and it was

deemed to not have material impact on our consolidated financial statements

In January 2010 the FASB issued new guidance that requires new disclosures for fair value measurements and

provides clarification for existing disclosures requirements More specifically it requires reporting entities to disclose

separately the amount of significant transfers into and out of Level and Level fair-value measurements and to describe the

reasons for the transfers and provide information on purchases sales issuances and settlements on gross basis rather than

net in the reconciliation of Level fair- value measurements This guidance is effective for interim and annual reporting

periods beginning after December 15 2009 except for the Level fair-value measurements disclosures that are effective for

fiscal years beginning after December 15 2010 The adoption of the updated guidance did not have an effect on the

Companys consolidated results of operations financial condition or cash flow during 2010

Item 7A Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosure About Market Risk

We are not currently exposed to the market risk associated with unfavorable movements in interest rates All of our

debt and held-to-maturity short-term investments as of December 31 2010 are fixed-rate At December 31 2010 the

estimated fair value of our long-term debt instruments was approximately $583.3 million compared with canying value of

$508.2 million excluding the $16.8 million unamortized discount While changes in interest rates impact the fair value of our

debt and held-to-maturity short-term investments there is no impact to earnings and cash flows because we intend to hold

these investments and
carry the debt to maturity unless market and other conditions are favorable Our available-for-sale

investments generally renew every seven days and therefore are classified as short-term investments due to our ability to

quickly liquidate or put back these securities These financial instruments may be subject to interest rate risk through lost

income should interest rates increase during their limited term to maturity or resetting of interest rates and thus may limit our

ability to invest in higher-income earning investments

Effective July 2008 we had entered into an interest rate cap agreement associated with the 2012 Notes that was

intended to protect us from increases in interest rates by limiting our interest rate exposure to the three-month LIBOR with

cap of 4.0 percent The 2012 Notes were subject to interest rate fluctuation because the interest rate reset semi-annually for

the term of the 2012 Notes The interest rate cap agreement was outstanding until January 2010 when we paid off the

remaining balance of the 2012 Notes
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We do not currently have any material foreign currency exposure Our subsidiary in Asia commenced operations in

January 2010 our revenue contracts are denominated in U.S dollars and the majority of our purchase contracts are

denominated in U.S dollars
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

The Board of Directors and Stockholders

GeoEye Inc

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Oeoflye Inc and subsidiaries as of December

31 2010 and 2009 and the related consolidated statements of operations stockholders equity and cash flows for each of the

years in the three-year period ended December 31 2010 These consolidated financial statements are the responsibility of the

Companys management Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our

audits

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board

United States Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the

financial statements are free of material misstatement An audit includes examining on test basis evidence supporting the

amounts and disclosures in the financial statements An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and

significant estimates made by management as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation We believe that

our audits provide reasonable basis for our opinion

In our opinion the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly in all material respects the

financial position of GeoEye Inc and subsidiaries as of December 31 2010 and 2009 and the results of their operations and

their cash flows for each of the years in the three-year period ended December 31 2010 in conformity with U.S generally

accepted accounting principles

We also have audited in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board United

States GeoEye Inc.s intemal control over financial reporting as of December 31 2010 based on criteria established in

Intemal Control Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway

Commission COSO and our report dated March 15 2011 expressed an unqualified opinion on the effectiveness of the

Companys intemal control over financial reporting

Is KPMG LLP

McLean Virginia

March 15 2011
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GEOEYE INC

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

December 31 December 31
2010 2009

In thousands except per

share amounts

ASSETS
Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents 283233 208872

Short-term investments 50124
Accounts receivable trade and unbilled receivables net of allowances 2010

$957 2009 $923 42868 32578
Income tax receivable 34385 40237

Restricted cash 3952 52268

Prepaid expenses and other current assets 16183 16836

Total current assets 430745 350791

Property plant and equipment net 36591 25381

Satellites and related ground systems net 696459 505035

Goodwill 71568 34264

Intangible assets net 14943 11685

Non-current restricted cash 10822 13653

Other non-current assets 7957 6398

Total assets 1269085 947207

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS EQUITY
Current liabilities

Accounts payable and accrued expenses 70936 33997
Current portion of deferred revenue 50533 52221

Current deferred tax liabilities 6656 4744
Current portion of long-term debt 497

Total current liabilities 128125 91459

Long-term debt 508160 380594

Long-term deferred revenue net of current portion 161673 192313

Non-current income tax reserve 626 248

Deferred tax liabilities 21336 2078

Other non-current liabilities 5922 560

Total liabilities 825842 667252

Commitments and contingencies

Stockholders equity

Series convertible preferred stock par value $.01 80 shares authorized 80 and

shares issued and outstanding at December 31 2010 and 2009 respectively

Common stock par value $01 50000 shares authorized 22061 and 19912

shares issued and outstanding at December 31 2010 and 2009 respectively 221 199

Additional paid-in capital 367723 227988

Retained earnings 75298 51768

Total stockholders equity 443243 279955

Total liabifities and stockholders equity 1269085 947207

See Accompanying Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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GEOEYE INC
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

Year Ended December 31
2010 2009 2008

In thousands except per share amounts
Revenues 330345 271102 146659

Operating expenses

Direct costs of revenue exclusive of depreciation and amortization 104010 94693 72216

Depreciation and amortization 65262 57166 11357

Selling general and administrative 57451 46608 36990

Inventory impairment and satellite impairment settlement 3296
Total operating expenses 226723 198467 123859

Income from operations 103622 72635 22800
Interest expense net 27918 31020 11452
Other non-operating expense 24466 1000
Gain from investments 3200
Loss from early extinguishment of debt 37 27127
Write-off of prepaid financing costs 6412
Income before provision benefit for income taxes 47989 14488 10348

Provision benefit for income taxes 23352 17573 16267

Net income 24637 32061 26615
Preferred stock dividends 1107

23530 32061 26615
Income allocated to participating securities 783
Net income available to common stockholders 22747 32061 26615

Earnings per share

Eamings per common share basic 1.05 1.71 1.48

Eamings per common share diluted 1.02 1.55 1.36

Shares used to compute basic eamings per share 21622 18753 17983

Shares used to compute diluted earnings per share 22250 20685 19558

See Accompanying Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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Balance as of December312007
Net income

Warrants exercised

Issuance of common stock..

Stock-based compensation..

Balance as of December

31 2008

Net income

Warrants exercised

Issuance of common stock..

Surrender of common stock

to cover employees

minimum tax liability

Stock-based compensation..

Balance as of December

31 2009

Net income

Warrants exercised

Issuance of common stock..

Surrender of common stock

to cover employees

minimum tax liability

Foreign currency translation

adjustment

Stock-based compensation..

Issuance of preferred stock.

Preferred stock dividends

Balance as of December

31 2010

Common Stock

Shares Amount

277
2371

80

227988

Total

Stockholders

Equity

193209

26615

7049

135

3396

230404

32061

14646

750

277
2371

279955

24637

18323

10430

137

56
6877

104321

1107 1107

GEOEYE INC
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS EQUITY

Series Convertible Additional Retained

Earnings

Preferred Stock Paid-In Accumulated
Shares Amount Capital Deficit

In thousands except share amounts

17868 179 199938 6908
26615

513 7044
41 135

3396

18422 184 210513 19707

32061

1407 14 14632

94 749

14

19912 199 51768

24637

1832 18 18305

319 10426

137

56
6877

104320

22061 221 80

See Accompanying Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

367723 75298 443243
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GEOEYE INC

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

Years Ended December 31

2010 2009 2008

In thousands

Cash flows from operating activities

Net income 24637 32061 26615

Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by used in operating activities

Depreciation and amortization 65262 57166 11357

Non-cash recognition of deferred revenue 31733 24477
Non-cash amortization of deferred costs 4337 1645

Amortization of debt discount and issuance costs 3529 3356 3531

Amortization of premium/discount on investments 64

Loss from early extinguishment of debt 37 27077

Bad debt expense and other 315 194 29

Asset impairment 3154

Change in fair value of fmancial instruments 24466 11 2408

Write-off of prepaid financing costs 6412

Gain from investments 3200
Deferred income taxes 23342 5637 23004
Stock-based compensation 6877 2371 3396

Changes in assets and liabilities net of effects of business combinations

Accounts receivable and other current assets 6729 12474 8302
Net transfer from to restricted cash 2831 17605
Other assets 329 2549
Accounts payable accrued expenses and current liabilities 2098 8768 6613

Income taxes receivable payable and reserves 5477 4619 61431
Deferred revenue and other long-term liabilities 1325 29065 36311

Net cash provided by used in operating activities 126693 100207 1872
Cash flows from investing activities

Capital expenditures 233736 79090 127937
Net transfer from to restricted cash 47757 47757
Proceeds from sale of investment 1700

Redemptions of short-term investments 3813 3750

Purchases of short term investments 50188
Payment for SPADAC acquisition net of cash acquired 31454

Net cash used in investing activities 265921 123034 124187
Cash flows from financing activities

Proceeds from issuance of long-term debt net of issuance costs 120962 377094

Proceeds from issuance of convertible preferred stock net of issuance costs 77761

Preferred stock dividend payments 100
Repayment of long-term debt 266965

Prepaid financing costs for preferred stock 4547
Net transfer from tin restricted cash from for debt extinguishment 35 5591

Proceeds from exercise of stock options and warrants 19478 15396 6031

Net cash provided by financing activities 213589 124966 6031

Net increase decrease in cash and cash equivalents 74361 102139 120028
Cash and cash equivalents beginning of period 208872 106733 226761

Cash and cash equivalents end of period 283233 208872 106733

Supplemental disclosures of cash flow information

Interest paid net of capitalized interest 21598 35161 11718

Income taxes paid 17969 3215 67340

Transfer of derivative liability to preferred stock value 26560

Non-cash surrender of common stock to cover employees minimum tax liability 137 277
Non-cash issuance of common stock for services provided 250

Common stock issued for SPADAC acquisition 9026

Non-cash dividend accrual 1007

See Accompanying Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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GEOEYE INC

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

December 31 2010

Business

GeoEye is leading commercial provider of high-accuracy high-resolution Earth imagery and provider of image-

processing services and geospatial information services to U.S and foreign government defense and intelligence

organizations domestic federal and foreign civil agencies and commercial customers We own and operate two Earth-

imaging satellites GeoEye- and IKONOS and three airplanes with advanced high-resolution imagery collection

capabilities GeoEye-1 is the worlds highest resolution and most accurate commercial Earth-imaging satellite In addition to

our imagery collection capacities we are global leader in the creation of enhanced satellite imagery information products

and services We operate four state-of-the-art high-resolution image processing and production facilities Our St Louis

Missouri facility processes imagery from numerous commercial and government sensors in addition to our own to produce

variety of value-added products We believe we are the only major commercial imagery satellite operator who can produce

imagery from multiple satellite sources in addition to our own Our satellite and aerial imagery products and services provide

our customers with timely and accurate location intelligence enabling them to analyze geospatial information and monitor

and map areas of interest to their needs and demands We serve growing global market that requires high-resolution

imagery and precision mapping products for applications such as national defense and intelligence online mapping

environmental monitoring and resource management energy exploration asset monitoring urban planning infrastructure

planning and monitoring disaster preparedness and emergency response We believe the combination of our highly accurate

satellite and aerial imaging assets our high-resolution image processing and production facilitiesespecially our multi-

source production capability and our color digital imagery library differentiate us from our competitors This combination

enables us to deliver comprehensive range of imaging products and services to our diverse customer base We serve both

domestic and international customers with products and services with our principal customer being the U.S government In

2010 the U.S government represented approximately 66 percent of our total revenues

Significant Accounting Policies

Basis of Presentation

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of GeoEye and all of our wholly owned subsidiaries All

intercompany transactions and balances have been eliminated in consolidation

Certain amounts in the priorperiod have been reclassified to conform to the current period presentation

Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United

States or GAAP requires management to make judgments estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts reported in the

Companys consolidated financial statements and accompanying notes Actual results could differ materially from those

estimates

Revenue Recognition

Our principal sources of revenue are from imaging services the sale of satellite imagery directly to end users or

value-added resellers the provision of direct access to our satellites and associated ground processing technology upgrades

and operations and maintenance services We also derive significant revenue from value-added production services where we

combine our images with data and imagery from our own and other sources to create sophisticated information products

Additionally effective in 2010 the dissemination and hosting of imagery became source of revenue

We record revenues from the sale of satellite imagery directly to end users or value-added resellers based on the

delivery of the imagery
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Sales of direct access to our satellites ordinarily require us to provide access over the term of multi-year sales

contracts under subscription-based arrangements Accordingly we recognize revenues on such imagery contracts on

straight-line basis over the delivery term of the contract However certain multi-year sales contracts are based on minimum

levels of access time with adjustments based on usage In addition to the sale of direct satellite access we may separately sell

ground processing technology upgrades and operations and maintenance services to customer To determine revenue

recognition for multiple element arrangements we consider whether individual customer arrangement elements have value to

the customer on standalone basis whether there is objective and reliable evidence of fair value of undelivered items and
whether the arrangement includes general right of retum relative to the delivered items and delivery performance of the

undelivered items is considered probable and substantially in the Companys control If the satellite access service is

combined with the sale of ground processing technology upgrades and operations and maintenance services and the

requirements for separate revenue recognition are not met we recognize revenues on straight-line basis over the combined

delivery term of the services Effective with the adoption of FASBs revised guidance on revenue from multiple deliverable

arrangements the inability to determine the fair value of undelivered items will no longer preclude our ability to separate

deliverables in multiple element arrangements Instead managements estimated selling price will be used to allocate the

contract value among the deliverables assuming all other separation criteria are met This revised guidance is to be applied

on prospective basis for revenue arrangements entered into or materially modified in fiscal years beginning on or after June

15 2010 with earlier adoption permitted Our current assessment is that the introduction of this accounting guidance will not

materially impact our consolidated financial statements

We record revenues generated from the information services base service offering including dissemination and

hosting of imagery on straight-line basis over the subscription period

Deferred revenue represents receipts in advance of the delivery of imagery or services Revenue for other services is

recognized as services are performed In addition cost-share amounts received from the U.S govemment are recorded as

deferred revenue when received and recognized on straight-line basis over the useful life of the satellite

Revenue is recognized on contracts to provide value-added production services using the percentage-of-completion

method Revenue is recognized under different acceptable alternatives of the percentage-of-completion method depending on

the terms of the underlying contract which include input measures based on costs and efforts expended or output measures

based on units of delivery or completion of contractual milestones Costs associated with products not yet delivered at year-

end are recorded as work in
progress Costs of $0.1 million and $1.8 million were recorded in work in progress at December

31 2010 and 2009 respectively Revenues recognized in advance of becoming billable are recorded as unbilled receivables

Such amounts generally do not become billable until after the products have been completed and delivered Total unbilled

accounts receiyable were $3.4 million and $1.6 million at December 31 2010 and 2009 respectively To the extent that

estimated costs of completion are adjusted revenue and profit recognized from particular contract will be affected in the

period of the adjustment Anticipated contract losses are recognized as they become known Losses recognized during 2010

and 2009 were immaterial

Accounts receivable are stated at amounts due from customers and primarily include international customers U.S

government customers and commercial customers Allowances for doubtftd accounts receivable balances are recorded when

circumstances indicate that collection is doubtful for particular accounts receivable or for all probable losses of accounts

receivable not specifically identified Management estimates such allowances based on historical evidence such as amounts

that are subject to risk Accounts receivable are written off if reasonable collection efforts are not successful The changes in

our allowance for doubtful accounts are as follows in thousands

Balance at Balance at

Beginniag Charged to Write- End of

Allowances for Doubtfnl Acconnts of Period Operations offs Acquisitions Period

YearendedDecember3l2008 738 183 183 738

Year ended December 31 2009 738 194 923

YearendedDecember3l2010 923 366 332 957
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Stock-Based Compensation

The Company accounts for stock-based compensation to employees and directors based on the estimated fair value

of the award at the grant date and the associated expense net of estimated forfeitures is recognized ratably over the requisite

service period which is generally the maximum vesting period of the award Further information regarding stock-based

compensation can be found in Note 19 Stock Incentive Plans

Cash and Cash Equivalents

We consider all highly liquid investments with maturities of three months or less at the date of acquisition to be cash

equivalents These investments generally consist of money market investments

Restricted Cash

The Company is party to frrevocable standby letters of credit in connection with contracts between Geoflye and

third parties in the ordinary course of business to serve as performance obligation guarantees As of December 31 2010 the

Company had $14.8 million classified as restricted cash as result of the irrevocable standby letters of credit Approximately

$4.0 million is available within one year
and is classified as current aud the remaining $10.8 million is available through

2022

In connection with the issuance of the 2015 Notes in 2009 see Note 14 the Company deposited $47.8 million of

the net proceeds into restricted cash account During the third quarter of 2010 these restricted proceeds were used to

finance portion of the costs of constructing new high-resolution satellite

In vestments

We record our investments in debt securities at amortized cost or fair value and classify these securities as short-

term investments on the consolidated balance sheet when the original maturities at purchase are greater than ninety days but

less than one year

The Companys short-term investments consist of debt securities that include commercial paper corporate bonds

agency notes variable rate demand notes and certificates of deposit Investments in debt securities that the Company has the

positive intent and ability to hold to maturity are recorded at amortized cost and classified as held-to-maturity Investments in

debt securities that are not classified as held-to-maturity are carried at fair value and classified as available-for-sale

We evaluate our investments for other-than-temporary impairment on quarterly basis Other-than-temporary

impairment occurs when the fair value of an investment is below our carrying value and we determine that difference is not

recoverable in the near Ibture Factors we consider to make such determination include the duration and severity of the

impairment the reason for the decline in value and the potential recovery period and our intent to sell or whether it is more

likely than not that we will be required to sell the investment before recovery of the amortized cost basis

As of December 31 2010 we categorized our investments as either available-for-sale or held-to-maturity and all of

these outstanding short-term investments mature within one year Although the variable-rate demand notes have long-term

contractual maturity dates of 20 to 30 years the interest rates reset weekly Despite the long-term nature of the underlying

securities they are classified as short-term due to our ability to quickly liquidate or put back these securities As of December

31 2009 we had no investments

Concentrations of Credit Risk

The Companys cash and cash equivalents are placed in or with various financial institutions We have not

experienced losses on such accounts and do not believe we have any significant risk in this area

Much of the Companys revenues are generated through contracts with the U.S govemment U.S govemment

agencies may terminate or suspend their contracts at any time with or without cause or may change their policies priorities

or flinding levels by reducing agency or program budgets or by imposing budgetary constraints If U.S govemment agency

terminates or suspends any of its contracts with the Company or changes its policies priorities or flinding levels these

actions could have material adverse effect on the business financial condition and results of operations Imagery contracts

with intemational customers generally are not cancelable pursuant to the terms of such contracts
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Satellites and Related Ground Systems and Property Plant and Equipment

Satellites and related ground systems and property plant and equipment are recorded at cost The cost of our

satellites includes capitalized interest cost incurred during the construction and development period In addition capitalized

costs of our satellites and related ground systems include intemal direct labor and project management costs incurred in the

construction and development of our satellite and related ground systems We also capitalize certain intemal and extemal

software development costs incurred to develop software for intemal use Costs of major enhancements to intemal use

software are capitalized while routine maintenance of existing software is charged to expense as incurred

While under construction the costs of our satellites are capitalized during the construction phase assuming the

eventual successful launch and in-orbit operation of the satellite Ground systems are placed into service when they are ready

for their intended use If satellite were to fail during launch or while in-orbit the resulting loss would be charged to expense

in the period in which the loss occurs The amount of any such loss would be reduced to the extent of insurance proceeds

received as result of the launch or in-orbit failure

Depreciation and amortization are provided using the straight-line method as follows

Asset Estimated Useful Life

Buildings 15 to 40 years

Fumiture computers equipment and software to years

Leasehold improvements Shorter of estimated useful life or lease term generally to 12 years

Vehicles years

Airplanes 15 years

Ground systems years

Satellites years

Satellite Insurance

We maintain in-orbit insurance policies covering our GeoEye-1 and IKONOS satellites We capitalize the portion of

the premiums associated with the insurance coverage of the launch and in-orbit commissioning period of our commercial

satellites Accordingly prior to the start of GeoEye-1 commercial operations we capitalized portion of insurance

premiums in the cost of the satellite that will be amortized over the estimated life of GeoEye- which is nine
years

Following launch and in-orbit commissioning insurance premium amounts related to in-orbit operations are charged to

expense ratably over the related policy periods

The Company maintains insurance policies for GeoEye- with both full
coverage and total-loss-only coverage in

compliance with our indenture As of December 31 2010 we carried $255.8 million in-orbit insurance for GeoEye-1

comprised in part by $135.5 million of frill
coverage to be paid if GeoEye-ls capabilities become impaired as measured

against set of specifications of such coverage $50.0 million expires on September 2011 and $85.5 million expires on

December 2011 We also
carry $120.3 million of insurance in the event of total loss of the satellite which expires

December 2011

Our IKONOS satellite was fully depreciated in June 2008 The IKONOS satellite is insured for $9.0 million of in-

orbit
coverage which expires on December 2011

Goodwill and Intangible Assets

We record as goodwill the excess of purchase price over the fair value of the identifiable net assets acquired The

determination of fair value of the identifiable net assets acquired was determined based upon third-party valuation and

evaluation of other information Goodwill is not amortized but is tested on an annual basis for impairment in the fourth

quarter and whenever events and changes in circumstances suggest that the carrying amount may not be fully recoverable

Intangible assets arising from business combinations are initially recorded at fair value We amortize intangible

assets with definitive lives on straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives which are generally three to ten years We
review for impairment when events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of such assets may not be

recoverable
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Impairment of Long-Lived Assets

We review long-lived assets for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying

value of an asset may not be fully recoverable or that the useful lives of these assets are no longer appropriate Impairment

losses are recognized when the sum of expected undiscounted net future cash flows is less than the carrying value of the

assets The amount of the impairment is measured as the difference between the assets estimated fair value and its canying

value Fair market value is determined primarily using the projected future cash flows

Research and Development Costs

We record as research and development expense all internal and external services and supplies costs incurred in the

development of the new information services business The Company incurred $1.6 million and $1.4 million in research and

development costs for the years ended December 31 2010 and 2009 respectively Research and development costs were not

significant for the
year ended December 31 2008 Any research and development expenses incurred are included in selling

general and administrative expenses in our consolidated statement of operations

Preferred Stock

In September 2010 the Company issued Series Convertible Preferred Stock or the Preferred Stock par value of

$.0 per share Cumulative dividends on the Preferred Stock are payable at rate of percent per annum of the $1000

liquidation preference per share At the Companys option dividends may be declared and paid in cash out of funds legally

available therefore when as and if declared by the Board of Directors of the Company If not paid in cash an amount equal

to the cash dividends due is added to the liquidation preference Dividends payable in cash are recorded in current liabilities

All dividends payable whether in cash or as an addition to the liquidation preference are recorded as reduction to our

retained earnings

Earnings per Share

Basic earnings per share is computed by dividing net income available to common shareholders by the weighted

average number of common shares outstanding during the period Net income available to common shareholders is equal to

net income less preferred stock dividends and income allocated to participating securities The Companys preferred shares

are participating securities and require the two-class method of computing earnings per share Diluted earnings per share is

calculated by dividing net income available to common shareholders as adjusted for the effect of dilutive common equivalent

shares by the weighted average number of common and dilutive common equivalent shares outstanding during the year

Common equivalent shares consist of the common shares issuable upon the conversion of the convertible preferred shares

and those issuable related to stock options deferred stock units restricted stock units employee stock purchase plan shares

and nonvested stock using the treasury stock method For purposes of computing diluted eamings per share the if-

converted method will be used to the extent that the result is more dilutive than the application of the two-class method

Income Taxes

The provision for income taxes is computed using the asset and liability method under which deferred tax assets and

liabilities are determined based on the differences between the financial statement carrying amounts of existing assets and

liabilities and their respective tax bases Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using enacted tax rates expected to be

applied to taxable income in the years in which those temporary differences are expected to reverse The effect on deferred

tax assets and liabilities of change in tax rates is recognized in income in the period that includes the enactment date The

deferred tax assets are reviewed periodically for recoverability and valuation allowances are provided as necessary

Interest and penalty expenses related to uncertain tax positions are recorded as part of the provision for income

taxes

Recent and Pending Accounting Pronouncements

In October 2009 the FASB issued revised guidance on revenue from multiple deliverable arrangements including

principles and application guidance on whether multiple deliverables exist how the arrangement should be separated and the

allocation of the consideration Additionally this revised guidance requires an entity to allocate revenue in multiple-element

arrangements using estimated selling prices of deliverables if vendor-specific or other third-party evidence of value is not

available The new guidance is to be applied on prospective basis for revenue arrangements entered into or materially

modified in fiscal years beginning on or after June 15 2010 with earlier adoption permitted An assessment of the impact of

the adoption of this accounting guidance was performed and it was deemed to not have material impact on our

consolidated financial statements
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In October 2009 the FASB revised its guidance on accounting for revenue that contains tangible products and

software The new guidance revised the scope of software revenue guidance such that software included together with

tangible products would not be included within its scope The revised guidance is to be applied on prospective basis for

revenue arrangements entered into or materially modified in fiscal years beginning on or after June 15 2010 with earlier

application permitted An assessment of the impact of the adoption of this accounting guidance was performed and it was

deemed to not have material impact on our consolidated financial statements

In January 2010 the FASB issued new guidance that requires new disclosures for fair value measurements and

provides clarification for existing disclosures requirements More specifically it requires reporting entities to disclose

separately the amount of significant transfers into and out of Level and Level fair-value measurements and to describe the

reasons for the transfers and provide information on purchases sales issuances and settlements on gross basis rather than

net in the reconciliation of Level fair- value measurements This guidance is effective for interim and annual reporting

periods beginning after December 15 2009 except for the Level fair-value measurements disclosures that are effective for

fiscal years beginning after December 15 2010 The adoption of the updated guidance did not have an effect on the

Companys consolidated results of operations financial condition or cash flows during 2010

NextView Program

The U.S governments National Geospatial-Intelligence Agency or NGA announced in March 2003 that it

intended to support through the NextView program the continued development of the commercial satellite imagery industry

The NGA also announced that it intended to award two imagery providers with contracts to support the engineering

construction and launch of the next generation of imagery satellites On September 30 2004 the NGA awarded us contract

as the second provider under the NextView program and as result we contracted for the construction of new satellite

Geoflye- Under the NextView program we began delivering imagery to the NGA from our IKONOS satellite in February

2007 and from our GeoEye- satellite in the first quarter of 2009 GeoEye- was launched in September 2008 and started

commercial operations and obtained certification from the NGA in February 2009 at which point the satellite commenced

flill operations Total capitalized costs including financing and launch insurance costs of the GeoEye- satellite and related

ground systems incurred were $478.3 million

Under the NextView contract the NGA agreed to support the project with cost-share totaling approximately

$237.0 million spread over the course of the project development and subject to various milestones On March 19 2009 the

NGA had paid the Company its cost-share obligation in hill GeoEye had deferred recognition of the cost-share amounts

from the NGA as revenue until GeoEye- ls in-service date in February 2009 We recognize this revenue on straight-line

basis over the expected nine-year depreciable operational life of the satellite During the years ended December 31 2010 and

2009 we recognized $24.2 million and $21.1 million respectively of deferred revenue under the NextView contract The

Company built launched and deployed GeoEye- for less than the maximum cost specified in the NGA contract As result

we credited portion of the NGAs cost-share payments approximately $20.0 million against imagery purchase obligations

during 2009

On December 2008 we entered into the NextView Service Level Agreement or SLA with the NGA under which

the NGA agreed to purchase GeoEye-1 imagery from us through November 30 2009 On September 2009 the NGA
extended the SLA through March 31 2010 In addition the NGA modified the SLA on March 2010 giving the NGA the

option to extend the term of the SLA beyond March 31 2010 The SLA was extended through August 31 2010 The

NextView SLA provided for monthly payments of $12.5 million subject to maximum reduction of 10 percent based on

performance metrics Under the NextView SLA to the extent that less than $12.5 million was paid by the NGA in any

month the shortfall was used to hind an extension of the contract On August 2010 the NGA awarded us new contract

under the EnhancedView program which includes the EnhancedView SLA on terms similar to the NextView SLA The

EnhancedView SLA replaced the NextView SLA portion of the NextView program as of September 2010 We recognized

$99.2 million and $124.9 million of imagery revenue under the NextView SLA during the years ended December 31 2010

and 2009 respectively

EnhancedView Program

On August 2010 the NGA awarded us contract under its EnhancedView program that is worth up to $3.8 billion

over ten years assuming the NGA exercises all of its options and we perform as specified The award provides for new

satellite imagery delivery SLA the engineering construction and launch of GeoEye-2 the design and procurement of

associated ground station equipment and the design and procurement of additional infrastructure to support govemment

operations value-added products and other services including Web-based delivery of information This competitively

awarded contract supports the EnhancedView program by providing products and services that will help meet the increasing

geospatial intelligence needs of the intelligence community and the Department of Defense
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The award provides for new satellite imagery delivery SLA with the NGA valued at up to $2.8 billion The

EnhancedView SLA initially provides for continued monthly payments by the NGA of up to $12.5 million $150.0 million

per year subject to maximum reduction of 10 percent based on performance metrics Under the EnhancedView SLA when

GeoEye-2 becomes operational which we currently expect will occur in 2013 payments under the award will increase by an

additional $15.3 million per month $183.6 million per year The term of the EnhancedView SLA is one year with nine one-

year renewal options exercisable by the NGA Imagery deliveries under the EnhancedView SLA began on September

2010 and the imagery is collected by the Companys existing satellite constellation with GeoEye-2 to collect additional

imagery when it becomes operational At the time the final cost share payment is made it is expected that any credits due to

the govemment will be determined and will be factored into the final payment amount

As part of the EnhancedView agreement the NGA has agreed to contribute up to $337.0 million of the overall

construction and launch costs of the GeoEye-2 satellite and associated ground station equipment The contribution will be

made in two cost-share payments the first payment of approximately $111.0 million when the GeoEye-2 satellite is ready for

integration and testing and the second payment and balance of the cost-share when the GeoEye-2 satellite becomes

operational

The award also provides for up to an estimated $702.0 million for value-added products and services and our EyeQ
Web Mapping Services to be delivered over the life of the EnhancedView SLA This award component includes finding for

the design and procurement of additional infrastructure to support govemment operations which will be initially recorded as

deferred revenue and recognized as revenue over the contractual term of the EnhancedView contract

This program replaced the NextView program except that OeoEye will continue to fulfill existing NextView value-

added product and services orders until such orders are complete New value-added product and services orders are expected

to be placed under the EnhancedView contract The NextView SLA portion of the NextView program was replaced by the

EnhancedView SLA as of September 2010 We recognized $49.0 million of imagery revenue under the EnhancedView

SLA during the year ended December 31 2010

Acquisitions

On December 15 2010 the Company completed the purchase of 100 percent of the stock of SPADAC Inc

geospatial predictive analytics company for net purchase price of $44.3 million which includes an adjustment for changes

to the tangible net worth of SPADAC as defined in the merger agreement The purchase price consisted of $32.8 million in

cash $9.0 million in restricted stock and $2.5 million of equity in SPADAC owned by the Company prior to the acquisition

With the completion of the acquisition SPADAC became wholly owned subsidiary named GeoEye Analytics GeoEye

Analytics currently provides geospatial predictive analytic solutions to over 40 customers in key markets of defense

intelligence and homeland security enabling their customers to gain the insight they need to support mission-critical

operations around the world

In coimection with the acquisition of SPADAC the Company assumed net assets of $1.1 million recognized $5.9

million of intangibles assets including $3.7 million related to customer relationships $2.0 million related to developed

technology and $0.2 million related to tradenames with estimated useftil lives ranging from two to five years and recognized

$37.3 million of goodwill None of the goodwill is expected to be deductible for income tax purposes

Prior to the acquisition the Company had 4.4 percent ownership interest in SPADAC and accounted for it as

cost-method investment On the acquisition date we recognized gain of $2.5 million resulting from the increase in the fair

value of our non-controlling interest in SPADAC prior to the acquisition This gain was reported within gain from

investments in the consolidated statement of operations

The Companys consolidated financial statements include the operating results of GeoEye Analytics from the date of

the acquisition Pro forma results of operations for this acquisition have not been presented because the financial impact to

the Companys consolidated results of operations is not material

The Company recognized $1.2 million of acquisition-related costs in 2010 as result of this acquisition These costs

were expensed in the period incurred and reported in the Companys consolidated statement of operations in selling general

and administrative expenses

Comprehensive Income

For the
years ended December 31 2010 2009 and 2008 there were no material differences between net income as

reported and comprehensive income
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Earnings per Share

Basic earnings per share or EPS is computed based on the weighted-average number of the Companys Common
Stock outstanding Diluted BPS is computed based on the weighted-average number of shares of the Companys Common
Stock outstanding and other dilutive securities Securities that contain non-forfeitable rights to dividends or dividend

equivalents whether paid or unpaid are participating securities and are required to be included in the computation of basic

BPS and diluted BPS pursuant to the two-class method The Companys preferred shares are participating securities

The following is reconciliation of the numerators and denominators of the basic and diluted BPS computations in

thousands

Numerator for basic and diluted earnings per share

Net income

Preferred stock dividends

Income allocated to participating securities

Net income available to common stockholders

Denominator

Weighted average shares outstanding used to compute basic eamings per share

Dilutive effect of

Warrants

Stock options deferred stock units restricted stock units employee stock

purchase plan shares and nonvested stock

For The Years Ended December 31
2010 2009 2008

24637

1107
23530

783
22747

32061

32061

32061

26615

26615

26615

21622 18753 17983

118 1710 1344

510 222 231

Weighted average shares outstanding and dilutive securities used to compute

diluted eamings per
share 22250 20685 19558

For the year ended December 31 2010 2.7 million potential common shares from the conversion of preferred stock

and 0.3 million stock options and nonvested stock awards were excluded from the computation of dilutive BPS because the

effect would have been anti-dilutive For the years ended December 31 2009 and 2008 outstanding stock options to

purchase 0.2 million and 0.1 million of our common stock respectively were excluded from the computation of dilutive

BPS because the effect would have been anti-dilutive See Note 19 Stock Incentive Plans for information on option

exercise prices and expiration dates and restricted stock units

Investments

As of December 31 2010 short-term investments consisted of the following in thousands

Available-for-sale securities

Variable-rate demand notes

Held-to-maturity securities

Commercial paper

Corporate bonds

Agency notes

Certificates of deposit

Total short-term investments

Gross unrecognized

Amortized Estimated

fair valuecost Gains Losses

10000 10000

19969 19973

5155 5loO

5000 5000

10000 10000

50124 50133
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As of December 31 2010 there were no other-than-temporary impairments of the Companys investments

Property Plant and Equipment

Property plant and equipment consisted of the following at December 31 2010 and 2009 in thousands

2010 2009

Land and buildings 7297 7239

Furniture computers equipment and software 42724 31970
Leasehold improvements 3460 3342
Vehicles and airplanes 2228 2096

Accumulated depreciation 29467 20419
Subtotal 26242 24228

Property plant and equipment in proOess 10349 1153

Property plant and equipment net 36591 25381

Depreciation expense was $9.2 million $7.7 million and $5.9 million for the
years ended December 31 2010 2009

and 2008 respectively

10 Satellites and Related Ground Systems

Satellites and related ground systems consisted of the following at December 31 2010 and 2009 in thousands

2010 2009

Satellites 414158 416658
Ground systems 89268 83728

Accumulated depreciation 118198 64827
Subtotal 385228 435559

Satellites and ground systems in process 311231 69476

Satelilites and related ground systems net 696459 505035

Included in satellites and ground systems in process are total capitalized costs related to the Companys

development efforts to build our next Earth-imaging satellite GeoEye-2

Total satellite and related ground systems depreciation expense was $53.4 million $46.8 million and $2.7 million

for the years ended December 31 2010 2009 and 2008 respectively
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11 Goodwill and Intangible Assets

The following table contains details related to the recorded goodwill for the years ended December 31 2010 and

2009 in thousands

Balance December 31 2009

Acquired during the year _________

Balance December 31 2010
_________

We performed our annual impairment test and concluded that goodwill was not impaired as of the test date

Intangible assets consisted of the following at December 31 2010 and 2009 in thousands

Net

Accumulated Carrying

_________ __________
Amortization Value

8149 10822

1406 687

_________ _____________ _________ __________ 3220 176

_____________ _________ __________
12775 11685

Total amortization expense related to intangible assets was $2.6 million $2.7 million and $2.7 million for the years

ended December 31 2010 2009 and 2008 respectively Estimated ftjture amortization expense related to intangible assets at

December 31 2010 is as follows in thousands

For the Year Ending December 31
2011

2012

2013

2014

2015

Thereafter

Total expected fttture amortization

12 Income Taxes

We file consolidated U.S federal income tax retum with our wholly owned subsidiaries The components of our

income tax provision benefit are as follows in thousands

10

10

20266 3296 21193

3076 2341 1811

23342 5637 23004

23352 17573 162o7

Total

34264

37304

71568

Contracts/customer relationships

Developed technology

Trade names

Patents and other

tntangible assets net

Weighted

Average

Life

8.4 years

5.0 years

5.1 years

5.0 years

2010 2009

Gross Net

Carrying Accumulated Carrying

Amount Amortization Value

22671 10241 12430

2000 2000

2293 1785 508

3396 3391
30360 15417 14943

Gross

Carrying

Amount

18971

2093

3396

24460

3481

3469

3261

3233

1332

167

14943

Current provision benefit

Federal

State

Total current provision benefit

Deferred provision benefit

Federal

State

Total deferred provision benefit

Total wrovision benefit for income taxes

2010 2009 2008

19893

3317

23210

6174
563

6737
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The differences between the tax provision calculated at the statutory U.S income tax rate and the actual tax

provision are as follows in thousands

2010 2009 2008

Federal tax at statutory rate 16796 5071 3622
State income taxes net 2316 295 212
Fair value adjustment of preferred stock commitment 9296
Book gain on SPADAC equity 875

Change in valuation allowance 230 121 568
Research credits 7995 515

Restored net operating losses 21419
Uncertain tax benefits adjustment 2321 1089 24133

Other net 1263 37 3464
Total provision benefit for income taxes 23352 17573 16267

The components of net deferred tax liabilities assets were as follows at December 31 2010 and 2009 in

thousands

2010 2009

Deferred tax assets

Deferred revenue 75874 74745
Accruals and reserves 5741 3622

Goodwill and intangibles 511

Net operating losses 56412 21036

Credit carryforwards net 7430 278

Deferred equity compensation 4032

Other 454 3375

Total gross deferred tax assets 149943 103567

Less valuation allowance 536 689
Deferred tax assets 149407 102878

Deferred tax liabilities

IRC 48 1a adjustment 18555 36906
Goodwill and intangibles 1131
Property plant and equipment 157455 72794
Other 258

Total deferred tax liabilities 177399 109700
Net deferred tax liabilities 27992 6822

In October 2009 the Intemal Revenue Service approved our ruling request regarding an ownership change to

effectively allow us to recover $57.6 million of previously limited net operating loss generated prior to November 2004 The

total federal and state net operating loss carryforwards are approximately $150.0 million and $70.3 million for 2010 and

2009 respectively The net operating loss carryforwards will expire between tax years 2024 and 2030 Certain net operating

loss carryforwards that were generated at various dates prior to November 2004 prior to December 2010 for GeoEye

Analytics Inc acquired net operating loss carryforwards are subject to limitations on their use pursuant to Intemal Revenue

Code Section 382 Section 382 as result of ownership changes as defined by Section 382 However we do not expect these

assets to expire unused

As of December 31 2010 we had tax credit carryforwards of approximately $7.4 million of which $6.5 million of

these carryforwards expire on various dates through 2026 Certain business tax credit carryforwards that were generated at

various dates prior to December 2008 are subject to limitations on their use pursuant to the Intemal Revenue Code However

we do not expect these business tax credits to expire unused

The statutes of limitation for income tax retums in the U.S federal jurisdiction and various state jurisdictions for tax

years 2006 through 2009 have not expired and thus these years remain subject to examination by the IRS and state

jurisdictions Significant state jurisdictions that remain subject to examination include Colorado and Missouri for tax years

2006 through 2009 and Virginia for tax years 2007 through 2009 For tax years
for which we are no longer subject to federal

state and local tax examinations by tax authorities the tax attribute carryforwards generated from these years may still be

adjusted upon examination by tax authorities
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The impact of the Preferred Stock issuance see Note 15 for income tax purposes relating to the fair value

adjustment of the Preferred Stock commitment of approximately $26.6 million is not deductible for income tax purposes

During 2008 we filed an application for change in method of tax accounting for the NextView cost-share

payments with the Intemal Revenue Service As result of the filing Section 481a revenue adjustment of $48.5 million is

recognized annually for tax years 2008 through 2011 During 2010 we submitted an amendment to the original application

for change in method of tax accounting which has not been finalized as of December 31 2010

Deferred tax assets are reduced by valuation allowance when in the opinion of our management it is more likely

than not that some portion or all of the deferred tax assets will not be realized In evaluating our ability to realize deferred tax

assets we consider all available evidence both positive and negative Accordingly we consider past operating results

forecasts of eamings and taxable income the reversal of temporary differences and any prudent and feasible tax planning

strategies Management believes the results of future operations will generate sufficient taxable income to realize the deferred

tax asset The change in the valuation allowance during the year is attributable to an additional valuation allowance recorded

against separate company state net operating losses for 2010 and the removal of valuation allowance related to deferred

tax asset that was reversed in the current year

reconciliation of the beginning and ending amount of unrecognized tax benefits is as follows in thousands

2010 2009

Balance at beginning of year 24

Additions for tax positions in prior years 101 24

Additions for tax positions in current year 1817

Balance at end of year 1942 24

We recognize accrued interest and penalties related to unrecognized tax benefits as component of income tax

expense as well as any potential tax liability arising from these positions Interest expense recorded through the income tax

provision benefit related to uncertain tax positions was $0.5 million and $0.1 million for the years ended December 31
2010 and 2009 Penalties expense recorded through the income tax provision benefit related to uncertain tax positions were

negligible for each of the years ended December 31 2010 and 2009

As of December 31 2010 and 2009 thg amount of accrued interest in the consolidated balance sheet associated with

uncertain tax positions was $0.6 million and $0.2 million respectively As of December 31 2010 and 2009 the amount of

accrued penalties in the consolidated balance sheet associated with uncertain tax positions was negligible for each period

The total amount of unrecognized tax benefits that if recognized would benefit the effective tax rate as of

December 31 2010 and 2009 is $1.9 million and $24 thousand respectively The total amount of unrecognized tax benefits

anticipated to result in net decrease to unrecognized tax benefits within 12 months of December 31 2010 is estimated to be

negligible

13 Accounts Payable and Accrued Expenses

Accounts payable and accrued expenses consisted of the following in thousands

December 31 December 31
2010 2009

Accounts payable and accrued expenses 17246 14196

Accrued payroll 14660 10077

Accrued expenses subcontractors 25912 1023

Accrued interest payable 12111 8701

Dividends payable 1007

Total accounts payable and accrued expenses 70936 33997

14 Long-Term Debt

On October 2010 the Company issued $125.0 million aggregate principal of 8.625 percent 2016 Notes in

publicly registered offering Interest payments on the 2016 Notes are due semi-annually in arrears on April and October

of each year At any time on or after October 2013 the Company may on one or more occasions redeem all or part of the

2016 Notes at 104.313 percent of principal for the subsequent 12-month period at 102.156 percent of principal on October

2014 for the subsequent 12-month period and at 100 percent of principal on October 2015 and thereafter
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The net proceeds of the 2016 Notes offering are being used for general corporate purposes which may include

working capital future production and services expansion capital expenditures and other strategic opportunities

The 2016 Notes are unconditionally guaranteed jointly and severally on secured second-priority basis by all

existing and future domestic restricted subsidiaries of the Company The 2016 Notes and the guarantees are secured by lien

on substantially all of the assets of the Company aud the guarantors Except for minor investment iii foreign subsidiary

the Company does not have any independent assets or operations other than its ownership in all of the capital stock of its

Guarantor Subsidiaries Since inception all of the Companys operations have been conducted through its wholly owned

subsidiaries

The full principal obligation amount of $125.0 million is due upon the maturity of the 2016 Notes in October 2016

On October 2009 the Company issued $400.0 million aggregate principal net of original issue discount of $20.0

million of 9.625 percent 2015 Notes Interest is payable on the 2015 Notes semi-annually in arrears on April and October

of each year At any time on or after October 2013 the Company may on one or more occasions redeem all or part of the

2015 Notes at 104.813 percent of principal for the subsequent 12-month period and at 100 percent of principal on October

2014 and thereafter Proceeds from the sale of the 2015 Notes were used in
part to redeem all of our Senior Secured Floating

Rate Notes due 2012 or the 2012 Notes With the issuance of the 2015 Notes during the fourth quarter of 2009 and

redemption of the 2012 Notes the Company recorded an early extinguishment of debt expense representing the remaining

unamortized prepaid financing costs unamortized discount and tender premium related to the 2012 Notes totaling

approximately $27.1 million

The 2015 Notes are unconditionally guaranteed jointly and severally on senior secured basis by all existing and

future domestic restricted subsidiaries of the Company The 2015 Notes and the guarantees are secured by lien on

substantially all of the assets of the Company and the guarantors

The full principal obligation amount of $400.0 million is due upon the maturity of the 2015 Notes in October 2015

The indentures governing our 2016 Notes and 2015 Notes contain number of restrictions and covenants that

among other things limit our ability to incur additional indebtedness We are permitted to incur additional indebtedness only

if after giving pro forma effect to that incurrence our ratio of adjusted cash EBITDA to total consolidated debt for the four

fiscal quarters ending as of the most recent date for which intemal financial statements are available would be less than or

equal to 4.5 to 1.0 or we have availability to incur such indebtedness under certain baskets in the indenture Adjusted

EBITDA is defined as net income loss before depreciation and amortization expenses net interest income or expense
income tax expense benefit non-cash stock based compensation expense and other items Adjusted cash EBITDA is

defined as Adjusted EBITDA less amortization of deferred revenue related to the NextView agreement with the NGA in the

indenture goveming the 2015 Notes and as Adjusted EBITDA less amortization of deferred revenue related to the NextView
EnhancedView or any successor agreement with the NGA in the indenture goveming the 2016 Notes Under the indentures

goveming the 2016 Notes and 2015 Notes except for certain provisions allowed under the indentures we are prohibited from

paying dividends on our common stock until the principal amounts of all such 2016 Notes and 2015 Notes have been repaid

In August 2010 the Company completed the exchange of $400.0 million aggregate principal amount of its 2015

Notes for notes that have been registered under the Securities Act of 1933 or the Securities Act as amended The terms of

the registered notes are the same as the terms of the original notes except that they are now registered under the Securities

Act The transfer restrictions registration rights and additional interest provisions are not applicable to the registered notes

On June 29 2005 we issued $250.0 million of Senior Secured Floating Rate Notes due July 2012 or the 2012

Notes The 2012 Notes were issued at discount of 2.0 percent of total principal resulting in cash proceeds of $245.0

million The interest rate on the 2012 Notes which reset semi-annually was equal to the greater of six-month LIBOR or 3.0

percent plus margin of 9.5 percent Total interest expense related to the 2012 Notes for the year ended December 31 2010

was negligible and for the years ended December 31 2009 and 2008 was $26.9 million and $36.4 million respectively As of

December 31 2010 and 2009 the carrying value of the 2012 Notes was zero and $0.5 million respectively

In connection with the issuance of the 2012 Notes the Company entered into an interest rate swap arrangement in

June 2005 pursuant to which the effective interest rate under the Notes was fixed at 13.75 percent through July 2008 We
recorded realized loss of $0.5 million and an unrealized loss of $1.4 million for the year ended December 31 2008 All

unrealized and realized losses are included in interest expense net in our consolidated statement of operations The interest

rate swap agreement expired on July 2008
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In February 2008 we entered into $250.0 million interest rate cap agreement that intended to protect us from rises

in interest rates by limiting our interest rate exposure to the three-month LIBOR with cap of 4.0 percent The cap agreement

cost was $0.5 million and was effective July 2008 For the year ended December 31 2008 we recorded an unrealized loss

of $0.5 million which is included in interest
expense

in our consolidated statement of operations As of December 31 2009

the fair value of the interest rate cap was zero The interest rate cap agreement was outstanding until January 2010 when we

paid off the remaining balance of the 2012 Notes

The composition of interest expense net is as follows in thousands

For The Year Ended December 31

Interest expense net 2010 2009 2008

Interest expense 44902 36183 38844

Capitalized interest 16580 4771 22657
Interest income 404 392 4735

Total interest expense net 27918 31020 11452

15 Convertible Preferred Stock

In March 2010 the Company entered into Stock Purchase Agreement and Note Purchase Agreement with

Cerberus Satellite LLC or Cerberus The additional debt financing related to the development and launch of GeoEye-2 was

necessary because the original proposal for EnhancedView required that upon successful contract award the Company
would need to provide cash secured letter of credit for the frill amount of any potential cost-share award for the

development of GeoEye-2 that would be received from the NGA for period of up to three
years

after the NGAs
certification of the satellites imagery Under the Stock Purchase Agreement Cerberus agreed to purchase from the Company
and the Company agreed to sell to Cerberus subject to certain conditions including successful contract award requiring

letter of credit up to 115000 shares of newly issued series of convertible preferred stock of the Company having an initial

liquidation preference of $1000 per share If the Company received contract award without the letter-of-credit requirement

the Company would no longer be obligated to issue 115000 shares of Preferred Stock to Cerbems but Cerbems would have

the option to purchase 80000 shares of the Preferred Stock Under the terms of the Note Purchase Agreement at the

Companys option and assuming letter-of-credit requirement Cerberus also agreed to provide the Company with debt

financing of $100.0 million contingent upon the Company receiving an award from the NGA with letter-of-credit

requirement This letter-of-credit requirement was subsequently eliminated

The Company was awarded the EnhancedView contract without the letter-of-credit requirement thus the debt

financing of $100.0 million was not issued and the Notes Purchase Agreement expired During the first quarter of 2010 the

Company had paid non-refundable commitment fee of percent or $2.0 million of the face value of the Cerberus debt

financing and incurred other costs related to the debt financing These costs incurred with respect to the Note Purchase

Agreement were written off at the time of the contract expiration Therefore total unamortized prepaid financing costs of

$6.4 million including the non-refundable commitment fee were expensed in 2010

The Preferred Stock Commitment represented an arms-length exchange of value between the Company and

Cerberus that contained multiple elements The Preferred Stock Commitment was comprised of Contingent Forward Sale of

115000 shares of Preferred Stock Contingent Written Call option on 80000 shares of Preferred Stock and $2.3 million

contingent fee payment by the Company All elements of the Preferred Stock Commitment were executed together in

contemplation of each other as single unit of account with three distinct mutually exclusive settlement altematives and

represented an obligation of the Company to issue shares of Preferred Stock that were redeemable for cash by the Company

upon conditional events that were outside of the Companys control We determined that this financial instrument not in the

form of share contained conditional obligation on the part of the Company to redeem its equity shares by transferring

assets in the future and was therefore presented as liability and was initially and subsequently measured at fair value until

Cerbems purchased the preferred stock on September 22 2010

On September 22 2010 we consummated the preferred stock issuance pursuant to the Stock Purchase Agreement

with Cerbems Pursuant to the terms of the Stock Purchase Agreement and as result of the EnhancedView award by the

NGA being made without the letter-of-credit requirement Cerberus purchased 80000 shares of Preferred Stock having

liquidation preference of $1000 per share This resulted in net proceeds to the Company of $78.0 million after discounts and

before issuance costs

The Preferred Stock is convertible on issuance at the option of the holders The liquidation value of $1000 per

preferred share and the conversion rate of $29.76 per common share allows the Preferred Stock to be initially convertible

into 2.7 million shares of common stock of the Company The Preferred Stock represents an ownership interest assuming

conversion of such Preferred Stock to the Companys common stock of approximately 10 percent as of December 31 2010
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On or afler September 22 2016 and subject to the right of the holder to first convert into common stock of the

Company the Company may at its option redeem the Preferred Stock in whole or in part provided the weighted average

trading price for the common stock of the Company is equal to or greater than $52.08 for period of 30 or more consecutive

trading days immediately preceding the call for redemption and the common stock underlying the Preferred Stock is

registered on an effective registration statement

The holders of the Preferred Stock are entitled to receive cumulative dividends payable quarterly at the rate of

percent per annum of the liquidation preference of $1000 per share At the Companys option dividends may be declared

and paid in cash out of ftmds legally available when as and if declared by the Board of Directors of the Company Dividends

are payable quarterly in arrears on January April July and October with the first dividend payable on October

2010 If not paid in cash an amount equal to the cash dividend due will be added to the liquidation preference The Preferred

Stock shall also participate in dividends on common stock if declared In the event of change in control of the Company
the dividends payable to the Preferred Stock holders shall be increased to 15 percent per annum The Company declared

dividends on the Preferred Stock of $1.1 million during 2010 The dividend payable of $1.0 million was included in accounts

payable and accrued expenses as of December 31 2010

The holders of the Preferred Stock will vote with the common stock on an as-converted basis However Cerbems is

not permitted to vote with the Companys common stock to the extent it would result in Cerberus voting more than an

equivalent of 19.99 percent of the Companys outstanding voting securities As long as Cerbems either owns at least 50

percent of the Preferred Stock or common stock issuable upon conversion thereof or ii owns Preferred Stock representing

at least 7.5 percent of the Companys outstanding voting securities on fhlly converted basis it will be entitled to appoint

one director to the Companys Board of Directors In addition as long as Cerbems either owns at least 50 percent of the

Preferred Stock or common stock issuable upon conversion thereof or ii owns Preferred Stock representing at least

percent of the Companys outstanding voting securities on frilly-converted basis it will be entitled to appoint one observer

to attend all meetings of the Companys Board of Directors In the fourth quarter of 2010 Cerberus representative was

appointed to the Companys Board of Directors as well as one observer On December 17 2010 we filed shelf registration

to register the common stock that is issuable upon the conversion of the Preferred Stock

In the event of change in control of the Company the holders of Preferred Stock will have the option to exchange

their Preferred Stock and receive either the amount and form of consideration that would have been received had such

Preferred Stock been converted to common stock immediately prior to consummation of such transaction or ii cash in an

amount equal to 115.0 percent of the then-applicable liquidation preference of such Preferred Stock plus any declared but

unpaid dividends Until the redemption price is paid in
frill

the conversion amount submitted for redemption may be

converted in whole or in part by the holder into shares of common stock of the Company

The Preferred Stock will ranjc senior upon liquidation to any other series of capital stock or other equity securities of

the Company In the event of liquidation event the holders of the Preferred Stock shall be entitled to receive in cash an

amount per preferred share equal to the liquidation preference amount of $1000 per share plus accrued dividends This shall

be paid out of the assets of the Company whether from capital or from eamings available for distribution to its stockholders

before any amount shall be paid to the holders of capital stock of the Company

Until converted by the holders of the Preferred Stock or redeemed by the Company the Preferred Stock shall be

recorded within the permanent equity section of the consolidated balance sheet of the Company as all the redemption

conditions are solely within the control of the Company On September 22 2010 the Preferred Stock Commitment was

valued at $26.6 million This amount which was recorded as non-operating expense during 2010 was then transferred to

additional paid-in capital upon issuance of the Preferred Stock and included in the basis of the Preferred Stock
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16 Commitments and Contingencies

Contractual Obligations

The following table summarizes our contractual cash obligations as of December 31 2010

Payments dne by year

2016 and

Contractual Obligations 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 thereafter Total

in thousands

Long-term debt obligations 400000 125000 525000

Interest expense on long-term

debt 49281 49281 49281 49281 49281 10781 257186

Operating lease obligations 1918 3290 3578 2513 2429 17770 31498

Purchase obligations 152075 138713 47956 840 560 340144

Total contractual obligations 203274 191284 100815 52634 452270 153551 1153828

Represents contractual interest payment obligations on the $400.0 million outstanding principal balance of our 2015

Notes which bear interest at rate per annum of 9.625% and contractual interest payment obligations on the

$125.0 million outstanding principal balance of our 2016 Notes which bear interest at rate per aimum of 8.625%

Purchase obligations include all commitments to purchase goods or services of either fixed or minimum quantity

that are enforceable and legally binding As of December 31 2010 purchase obligations include EnhancedView

related commitments ground systems and communication services

In addition to the above the Company has entered into commitments subsequent to December 31 2010 totaling up

to approximately $13.9 million primarily purchase obligations all of which expire in 2011 and 2012

Operating Leases

We have commitments for operating leases primarily relating to office and operating facilities and equipment We
lease various real properties under operating leases that generally require us to pay taxes insurance maintenance and

minimum lease payments These leases contain escalation provisions for increases as result of increases in real estate taxes

and operating expenses We recognize rent expense under such leases on straight-line basis over the term of the lease

Substantially all of these leases have lease terms ranging from three to twelve years Some of our leases have options to

renew

Total rental expense under operating leases for the years ended December 31 2010 2009 and 2008 was

approximately $3.3 million $2.2 million and $1.9 million respectively

In August 2010 we entered into twelve-year lease agreement for total commitment of $26.6 million for office

space to relocate our corporate headquarters in Hemdon Virginia The lease provides for $4.9 million tenant improvement

reimbursement allowance Reimbursements under this provision will be recorded as deferred lease incentive and will

reduce rent expense over the lease term

Contingencies

GeoEye from time to time may be party to various lawsuits legal proceedings and claims arising in the normal

course of business The Company cannot predict the outcome of these lawsuits legal proceedings and claims with certainty

Nevertheless the Company believes that the outcome of any existing or known threatened proceedings even if determined

adversely should not have material adverse impact on the Companys financial results liquidity or operations
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17 Employee Benefit Plan

The GeoEye Retirement Savings Plan or the Plan combination employee savings plan and discretionary profit-

sharing plan covers most GeoEye employees The Plan qualifies under section 401k of the Intemal Revenue Code or IRC
Under the Plan participating employees may elect to voluntarily contribute on pre-tax basis between percent and 100

percent of their salary up to the annual maximum established by the IRC Participating employees may also elect to

contribute on an after-tax basis between percent and 10 percent of their salary up to the annual maximum established by the

IRC Participants are always 100 percent vested in their accounts Our matching contributions to the Plan are based on certain

Plan provisions and at the discretion of the Board of Directors Other than our matching obligations profit sharing

contributions are discretionary The matching annual contribution expense was $1.4 million $1.1 million and $1.0 million for

the years ended December 31 20102009 and 2008 respectively

18 Warrants

There were no outstanding warrants as of December 31 2010 Of the outstanding warrants as of December 31

2009 1.8 million were exercised for shares of the Companys Common Stock at $10 per share through March 25 2010 The

remaining warrants which were immaterial expired unexercised on March 25 2010

19 Stock Incentive Plans

Employee Stock Plans

We adopted an Employee Stock Purchase Plan or ESPP on July 2008 The ESPP allows eligible employees to

purchase common stock at not less than 85 percent of the closing fair market value of share of the common stock on the

purchase date The ESPP is considered to be compensatory as defined under current FASB accounting guidance Unless

modified by the ESPP administrator each offering period under the ESPP will last six months and begin on January and

July The purchase price is established on each new purchase date Purchases are limited to 10 percent of each employees

eligible compensation and subject to certain IRS restrictions In general all of our regular full-time employees are eligible to

participate in the ESPP The ESPP provides for maximum of 500000 shares in the aggregate to be issued Of the 100000

shares of common stock reserved for issuance under the ESPP 22638 shares have been issued as of December 31 2010

Stock Incentive Plans

In September 2006 the stockholders approved the 2006 Omnibus Stock and Performance Incentive Plan or the

2006 Plan which provides for the granting of maximum of 1.7 million shares of the Companys Common Stock in the form

of equity and cash awards including stock options stock appreciation rights nonvested stock unrestricted stock stock units

and restricted stock units The 2006 Plan was adopted to replace the Companys 2003 Employee Stock Incentive Plan

In June 2010 the stockholders approved the 2010 Omnibus Incentive Plan or the 2010 Plan which provides for the

granting of maximum of 1.45 million additional shares of the Companys Common Stock subject to adjustment as

provided in the 2010 Plan to participants under the 2010 Plan in the form of equity and cash awards including stock options

stock appreciation rights nonvested stock restricted stock units deferred stock units performance-based and other share-

based awards

During 2010 we granted awards under both the 2006 Plan and 2010 Plan Although future awards will be granted

under the 2010 Plan we currently have outstanding awards subject to vesting and or available for exercise under all three of

our stock incentive plans

We accounted for our stock incentive plan using the modified prospective method as of January 2006 We
recognize stock-based compensation expense based on the estimated grant date fair value over the requisite service period of

the award During 2010 2009 and 2008 we recognized $6.9 million $2.4 million and $3.4 million of stock-based

compensation expense respectively Stock-based compensation expense of $1.6 million is included in direct costs of

revenue and $5.3 million is included in selling general and administrative
expenses on the consolidated statement of

operations for the year ended December 31 2010

Stock Options

Option awards are generally granted with an exercise price equal to the market price of the Companys stock on the

date of grant
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Valuation Assumptions

The fair value of each option grant is estimated on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model

The estimated forfeiture rate is based on the Companys historical experience of actual forfeitures Information pertaining to

stock options granted during the
years

ended December 31 2010 2009 and 2008 and related assumptions are noted in the

following table

2010

41.84% 52.75%

0.00%

1.77% 3.69%

5.90 6.90 years

23.91 $44.68

14.67

Year Ended December 31

2009

75.93% 83.59%

0.00%

1.90% 3.39%

5.22 6.25 years

19.52 $32.69

2008

50.89% 66.83%

0.00%

1.83% 3.84%

6.25 6.33 years

15.46- $25.98

Expected Dividend Yield We have not issued dividends on our common stock in the past nor do we expect to issue

dividends in the future as such the dividend yield used was zero

Expected Volatility The expected volatility was determined using combination of implied volatility based on

exchange-traded options for our shares and actual historical volatility calculated over period that we believe is

representative of the expected future volatility over the expected term We determined that blended volatility is more

reflective of market conditions and better indicator of expected volatility than historical volatility The options generally

have graded vesting over four years 25 percent of the options in each grant vest annually and the contractual term is either

eight or ten years

Risk-free Interest Rate The yield on actively traded non-inflation indexed Treasury notes was used to

extrapolate an average risk-free interest rate based on the expected term of the underlying grants

Expected Term The expected term of options granted was determined based on historical experience of similar

awards giving consideration to contractual terms of the awards vesting schedules and expectations of future employee

behavior The options had graded vesting over four years 25 percent of the options in each grant vest annually and the

contractual term was eight or ten years

The following table summarizes stock option activity for the year
ended December 31 2010 in thousands except

exercise price and contractual term data

Number of

Shares

709

318

93
26
908

377

877

Weighted-

Average

Exercise Price

17.70

28.32

12.84

26.47

21.67

15.96

21.53

Weighted

Average-

Remaining

Contractual

Term in

Years

The intrinsic value of options exercised during 2010 2009 and 2008 was $2.2 million $1.1 million and $0.2 million

respectively As of December 31 2010 there was $5.6 million of total unrecognized compensation costs related to nonvested

stock option awards That cost net of forfeitures is expected to be recognized over weighted-average period of 2.92 years

The total fair value of shares vested during the years ended December 31 2010 2009 and 2008 was $1.5 million $1.0

million and $2.8 million respectively

Volatility

Dividend yield

Risk-free interest rate

Expected average life

Exercise price per option

Weighted average fair value of options granted

during the year 15.84 11.17

Outstanding at January 2010

Granted

Exercised

Forfeited/Canceled

Outstanding December 31 2010

Exercisable at December 31 2010

Vested and expected to vest at December 31 2010

Aggregate

Intrinsic

Value

19009

10.054

18493

6.48

5.15

6.45
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Nonvested Stock

In 2010 we granted total of 526031 shares of nonvested stock This included grants of 285196 shares of

nonvested stock at grant price of $25.04 to employees for exceptional performance ii 201136 shares at grant price of

$42.38 to new employees and executives of the Company hired as result of the SPADAC acquisition and iii total of

39699 shares granted at prices from $28.78 to $44.02 per share to employees and executives for range of purposes

including promotions new hire incentives and exceptional performance

summary of the status of our nonvested shares as of December 31 2010 and changes during the year are

presented below in thousands except fair value price data

Weighted-

Number Average Grant

Nonvested Stock of Shares Date Fair Value

NonvestedatJanuary 2010 24 22.72

Granted 526 32.63

Vested 15 22.05

ForfeitedlCanceled 17 25.04

NonvestedatDecember3l2010 518 32.72

As of December 31 2010 there was $12.1 million of total unrecognized compensation cost related to nonvested

share-based compensation arrangements granted under the stock incentive plans That cost is expected to be recognized over

weighted-average period of 2.94 years The total fair value of shares vested during the years ended December 31 2010
2009 and 2008 was $0.3 million $1.5 million and $0.2 million respectively

Restricted Stock Units

On May 2010 we granted 132373 restricted stock units to executive officers as part of Long Term Incentive

Plan or LTIP Restricted stock unit awards under the LTIP have both performance and service requirements with vesting

periods of two to three years All units granted vest if at all between 2011 and 2012 depending on performance measured at

the end of the agreement term at which time the vested units are converted into shares of common stock As of December 31

2010 no units have vested summary of the status of our nonvested shares as of December 31 2010 and changes during

the
year

is presented below in thousands except fair value price data

Weighted-

Number Average Grant

Nonvested Restricted Stock Units of Shares Date Fair Value

NonvestedatJanuaryl2010 88 21.44

Granted 132 25.98

Forfeited 29 19.01

Nonvested at December31 2010 191 24.91

The fair value of each restricted stock unit award is calculated using the share price at the date of grant We

recognize compensation cost ratably over the requisite service period based on the achievement of the performance

conditions and the estimated expected payout each reporting period As of December 31 2010 there was $4.4 million of total

unrecognized compensation cost related to the nonvested restricted stock units That cost is expected to be recognized over

weighted-average period of 1.29 years

Deferred Stock Units

Under the current non-employee director compensation plan each January non-employee directors receive annual

grants of deferred stock units valued at $50000 Deferred stock units will vest in two installments at six months after grant

and at twelve months after grant Deferred stock units will be settled in shares of the Companys common stock six months

after the non-employee directors separation from Board service

Weighted
Number Average Grant

Deferred Stock Units of Shares Date Fair Value

BalanceatJanuaryl2010 71 20.50

Granted 16 27.82

Balance at December 31 2010 87 21.86
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20 Fair Value Measurements

The Company applies authoritative accounting guidance for fair value measurements of financial and nonfinancial

assets and liabilities The guidance defines fair value as the price that would be received in the sale of an asset or paid to

transfer liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date The guidance requires

disclosure of the extent to which fair value is used to measure financial assets and liabilities the inputs utilized in calculating

valuation measurements and the effect of the measurement of significant unobservable inputs on earnings or changes in net

assets as of the measurement date There is an established hierarchy for inputs used in measuring fair value that maximizes

the use of observable inputs and minimizes the use of unobservable inputs by requiring that the most observable inputs be

used when available There are three levels of inputs that may be used to measure fair value

Level quoted prices unadjusted in active markets for identical assets or liabilities

Level observable prices that are based on inputs not quoted on active markets but corroborated by

market data

Level unobservable inputs are used when little or no market data is available

GeoEyes financial instruments include cash and cash equivalents short-term investments restricted cash accounts

receivable accounts payable accrued liabilities and debt The carrying amounts of cash and cash equivalents available-for-

sale short-term investments restricted cash accounts receivable accounts payable and accmed liabilities approximate their

respective fair values due to the short-term nature of these instruments

As of December 31 2010 financial assets and liabilities that were required to be measured for disclosure purposes

at fair value on recurring basis consisted of cash and cash equivalents available-for-sale short-term investments restricted

cash accounts receivable accounts payable accrued liabilities and debt

The following table provides information about the financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value on

recurring basis as of December 31 2010 and 2009 in thousands

December 31 2010 December 31 2009

Carryiug Estimated Carrying Estimated

Amount Fair Value Amount Fair Value

Available-for-sale securites 10000 10000

Senior Secured Notes due 2016 125000 131250

Senior SecuredNotes due 2015 383160 452000 380594 411500
Senior Secured Floating Notes due 2012 497 497

As of December 31 2010 our financial assets that are required to be measured for disclosure purposes at fair value

are our short-term investments in variable-rate demand notes We classified these securities as Level instruments due to the

usage of quoted market prices and observable market data

The Company issued $125.0 million of 2016 Notes due October 2016 and $400.0 million of 2015 Notes due

October 2015 The Company classifies the fair value measurement of the 2016 Notes and the 2015 Notes within Level as

the valuation inputs are determined based on quoted prices and market observable data The fair value of the 2012 Notes as of

December 31 2009 approximated the carrying amount The 2012 Notes were fully paid off as of January 2010

21 Significant Customer and Geographic Information

The Company operates in single industry segment in which it provides imagery imagery information products

and image-processing services to customers around the world

Geoflye recognized revenue related to contracts with the U.S government the Companys largest customer of

$218.6 million $181.9 million and $56.5 million for the years ended December 31 2010 2009 and 2008 representing 66

percent 67 percent and 39 percent of total revenues respectively We had no other customers for whom revenues exceeded

10 percent of total revenues in 2010 2009 and 2008
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Services

22

The Company has two product lines Imagery including the NextView cost-share and Production and Other

Total revenues by product lines were as follows in thousands

2010

249698

24153

56494

330345

Total domestic and international revenues were as follows in thousands

2010

244826

85519

330345

Our property plant and equipment and related ground systems are held domestically

Summary of Quarterly Information Unaudited

Quarterly financial information for the years ended December 31 2010 and 2009 is summarized below in

thousands except per share amounts

Revenues

Income from operations

Net income loss

Net income loss available to common stockholders

Eamings per share basic

Earnings per
share diluted

2010 Quarters

First Second Third Fourth

Unaudited

80389 80961 86452 82543

26504 24276 29148 23694
774 12149 6376 18090

774 12149 6475 15211

0.04 0.56 0.30 0.70

0.04 0.55 0.30 0.68

Net income loss available to common stockholders and earnings per share is computed individually for each of the

quarters presented therefore the sum of the quarterly net income loss available to common stockholders and

eamings per share may not necessarily equal the total for the year

Revenues

Income from operations

Net loss income

Earnings per share basic

Eamings per share diluted

2009 Quarters

First Second Third Fourth

Unaudited

72701 79941 73249

23859 27717 19354

9552 12527 11719

0.52 0.67 0.60

0.46 0.61 0.55

45211

1705

1737
0.09

0.09

In the fourth quarter of 2009 in connection with the issuance of the 2015 Notes we recorded pre-tax loss from

early extinguishment of debt of $27.1 million

In the fourth quarter of 2009 as result of favorable IRS ruling we recorded $21.4 million of tax benefits related

to the recovery of net operating losses previously limited due to an ownership change

In the fourth quarter of 2009 we recorded pre-tax reductions of revenue of $6.1 million as result of the GeoEye-1

satellite irregularity and contract modifications

Imagery

NextView cost-share

Production and other services

Total revenues

Domestic

Intemational

Total revenues

Year Ended December 31
2009 2008

206417 102102

21062

43623 44557

271102 146659

Year Ended December 31
2009

____________

196722

74380 ____________

271102
___________

2008

75880

70779

146659
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Item Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure

None

Item 9A Controls and Procedures

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

As of December 31 2010 we carried out an evaluation of the effectiveness of the design and operation of our

disclosure controls and procedures pursuant to Rule 13 a- 15b as adopted by the Securities and Exchange Commission or

the SEC under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 as amended or the Exchange Act This evaluation was carried out

under the supervision and with the participation of our management including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief

Financial Officer Disclosure controls and procedures are the controls and other procedures that are designed to ensure that

information required to be disclosed in the reports that we file or submit under the Exchange Act is recorded processed

sununarized and reported within the time periods specified in the SECs rules and forms Disclosure controls and procedures

include without limitation controls and procedures designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed in the

reports that we file or submit under the Exchange Act is accumulated and communicated to management including the Chief

Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer as appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure

Based on their evaluation our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer have concluded that as of

December 31 2010 the end of the period covered by this Report our disclosure controls and procedures as defined in Rules

3a- 15e and Sd- 15e under the Exchange Act were effective

Managements Annual Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting

Management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate intemal control over financial reporting as

defined in Rule 3a- 5f under the Exchange Act

Intemal control over financial reporting refers to process designed by or under the supervision of our Chief

Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer and effected by our Board of Directors management and other personnel The

process provides reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial

statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles Intemal control over financial

reporting includes those policies and procedures that

pertain to the maintenance of records that in reasonable detail accurately and fairly reflect the transactions

and dispositions of our assets

provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial

statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles and that our receipts and

expenditures are being made only in accordance with authorizations of our management and members of

our Board of Directors and

provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition use or

disposition of our assets that could have material effect on our consolidated financial statements

Internal control over financial reporting has inherent limitations Internal control over financial reporting is process

that involves human diligence and compliance and is subject to lapses in judgment and breakdowns resulting from human

failures Internal control over financial reporting also can be circumvented by collusion or improper management override

Because of such limitations there is risk that material misstatements will not be prevented or detected on timely basis by

intemal control over financial reporting However these inherent limitations are known features of the financial reporting

process Therefore it is possible to design into the process safeguards to reduce though not eliminate this risk

Management has excluded SPADAC Inc now named GeoEye Analytics from its assessment of internal control

over financial reporting as of December 31 2010 as they were acquired by the Company during December 2010
and represent $50.5 million of total assets as of December 31 2010 and $1.1 million of total revenues for the year ended

December 31 2010

Management with the participation of our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer evaluated the

effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of December 31 2010 using the framework set forth in the

report of the Conimittee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission or COSO in Intemal Control

Integrated Framework
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Based on managements assessment using the COSO criteria and in consideration of the results of the Companys
remediation efforts with respect to intemal controls over the accuracy and valuation of the provision for income taxes as

discussed within Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting below management has concluded that the

Companys internal control over financial reporting was effective as of December 31 2010

Managements assessment of the effectiveness of the Companys intemal control over financial reporting as of

December 31 2010 has been audited by KPMG LLP as stated in their report which appears on page 50 of this Form 10-K

under the heading Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting

As disclosed in the Companys 2009 Annual Report on Form 10-K and in its Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q for

each of the first three quarters of 2010 the Company reported the following material weakness in its internal control ovef

financial reporting

The Company did not maintain effective controls over the accuracy and valuation of the provision for income taxes

We did not maintain effective controls over reviewing and monitoring the accuracy of the income tax provision calculation

This material weakness resulted in material errors in income tax benefit and the related deferred tax asset and current income

tax payable that were corrected prior to the issuance of the Companys consolidated financial statements

material weakness is deficiency or combination of deficiencies in intemal control over financial reporting

such that there is reasonable possibility that material misstatement of the Companys annual or interim financial

statements will not be prevented or detected on timely basis

In September 2009 we hired Director of Tax to prepare and facilitate all tax-related information as required to

calculate the tax provision including monitoring the tax depreciation for all fixed assets capitalized costs and associated

valuation and satellite and research and development expenses for proper treatment In addition the Director of Tax ensures

that all information is accurately reflected and the permanent and temporary differences and uncertain tax positions are

reasonable and supported During 2010 the third-party tax expert provided the review and approval of the income tax

accounting for compliance with generally accepted accounting principles and to ensure corporate compliance with tax

regulations Additionally the Company improved the tax provision process by conducting training for key management

personnel to provide insight on current tax law changes and tax regulations and to improve communication around significant

transactions

To determine if the control objective over the accuracy and valuation of the provision for income taxes was achieved

as of this period we specifically relied on the following controls

third-party accounting firm reviewed the tax package for the year to date income tax provisions and the

related deferred tax account joumal entries The income tax provision file was initially compiled and

prepared by the Director of Tax This includes the Director of Tax preparing the income tax provision

workbook to ensure that all information is accurately reflected and the permanent and temporary

differences and uncertain tax positions are reasonable and supported This was then provided to the third-

party accounting firm for review and completion of the income tax provision If there are adjustments or

comments dialogue occurs between the third-party accounting firm and the Director of Tax to resolve the

issues The third-party accounting firm then prepares memo summarizing all significant tax items for the

year to date period The third-party accounting firm then presented and reviewed the final tax provision

including provision to return adjustments valuation of deferred tax assets estimate of uncertain tax

positions and tax memos including the memo summarizing all significant tax items with the Director of

Tax Controller and Chief Financial Officer

The third party accounting firm prepares the tax returns and supporting schedules and provides

walkthrough of the significant assumptions and calculations to the Director of Tax Controller and CFO
Annually the CFO signs the tax retum indicating his review and approval before filing the tax retums
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Annually usually in the third quarter the Director of Tax and third-party accounting firm conduct an

update/training for key management personnel including the CFO Controller and senior members of the

Legal and Sales groups to provide insight on current tax law changes/tax regulations and to improve

communication around significant transactions The session includes written presentation of key tax items

for the Company and provides forum where GeoEye personnel can ask questions and/or discuss business

activities that could be pertinent to the Companys tax provision

Based on this evaluation our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer concluded that our internal

controls over financial reporting as it relates to the income tax provision were operating effectively and the material

weakness related to the accuracy and valuation of the income tax provision as previously reported has been satisfactorily

remediated as of December 31 2010
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

The Board of Directors and Stockholders

Geoflye Inc

We have audited GeoEye Inc.s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31 2010 based on criteria

established in Internal Control Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the

Treadway Commission COSO GeoEye Inc.s management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over

financial reporting and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting included in the

accompanying Managements Annual Report on Intemal Control Over Financial Reporting Item 9Ab Our responsibility

is to express an opinion on the Companys intemal control over financial reporting based on our audit

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board

United States Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether

effective intemal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects Our audit included obtaining an

understanding of internal control over financial reporting assessing the risk that material weakness exists and testing and

evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk Our audit also included

performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances We believe that our audit provides

reasonable basis for our opinion

companys intemal control over financial reporting is process designed to provide reasonable assurance

regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for extemal
purposes in accordance

with generally accepted accounting principles companys internal control over financial reporting includes those policies

and procedures that pertain to the maintenance of records that in reasonable detail accurately and fairly reflect the

transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as

necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles and that

receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and

directors of the company and provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized

acquisition use or disposition of the companys assets that could have material effect on the financial statements

Because of its inherent limitations internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements

Also projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become

inadequate because of changes in conditions or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may
deteriorate

In our opinion GeoEye Inc maintained in all material respects effective internal control over financial reporting

as of December 31 2010 based on criteria established in Internal Control Integrated Framework issued by the Committee

of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission COSO

GeoEye Inc acquired SPADAC Inc during 2010 and management excluded from its assessment of the

effectiveness of Geoflye Inc.s intemal control over financial reporting as of December 31 2010 SPADAC Inc.s internal

control over financial reporting associated with total assets of $50.5 million and total revenues of $1.1 million included in the

consolidated financial statements of GeoEye Inc as of and for the year ended December 31 2010 Our audit of internal

control over financial reporting of GeoEye Inc also excluded an evaluation of the internal control over financial reporting of

SPADAC Inc

We also have audited in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board United

States the consolidated balance sheets of GeoEye Inc and subsidiaries as of December 31 2010 and 2009 and the related

consolidated statements of operations stockholders equity and cash flows for each of the years in the three-year period

ended December 31 2010 and our report dated March 15 2011 expressed an unqualified opinion on those consolidated

financial statements

Is KPMG LLP

McLean Virginia

March 15 2011
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Item 9B Other Information

None

PART III

Item 10 Directors Executive Officers and Corporate Governance

The information required by this item is incorporated by reference to Proposal Election of Directors

Corporate Govemance Committees of the Board of Directors and Section 16a Beneficial Ownership Reporting

Compliance in our Proxy Statement

Item 11 Executive Compensation

The information required by this item is incorporated by reference to Compensation Discussion and Analysis

Executive Compensation Committee Report Compensation Tables and Compensation of Directors in our Proxy

Statement

Item 12 Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters

The information required by this item is incorporated by reference to Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial

Owners and Management and Compensation Tables in our Proxy Statement

Item 13 Certain Relationships and Related Transactions and Director Independence

The information required by this item is incorporated by reference to Certain Relationships and Related

Transactions and Corporate Govemance in our Proxy Statement

Item 14 Principal Accounting Fees and Services

The information required by this item is incorporated by reference to Independent Registered Public Accountants

in our Proxy Statement

Item 15 Exhibits Financial Statement Schedules

An index to exhibits has been filed as part of this Annual Report beginning on page 83 and is incorporated herein by

reference
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15d of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 the registrant has duly

caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned thereunto duly authorized

March 15 2011

GeoEye Inc

By Is Matthew OConnell

Matthew OConnell

ChiefExecutive Officer

Signature

Is James Abrahamson

James Abrahamson

Is Matthew OConnell

Matthew OConnell

/5/ Joseph Greeves

Joseph Greeves

Is Jeanine Montgomery

Jeanine Montgomery

President Chief Executive Officer and Director

Principal Executive Officer

Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer

Principal Financial Officer

Vice President Accounting and Corporate Controller

Principal Accounting Officer

/5/ Joseph Aheam

Joseph Aheam

/5/ William Ballhaus

William Ballhaus

Is Martin Faga

Martin Faga

Is Michael Hom Sr

Michael Hom Sr

Is William Sprague

William Sprague

Director

Director

Director

Director

Director

Director

Director

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 this report has been signed by the following

persons on behalf of the registrant and in capacities indicated on March 15 2011

Table

Chairman of the Board

/sI Lawrence Hough

Lawrence Hough

Is Roberta Lenczowski

Roberta Lenczowski

/s/ James Simon Jr

James Simon Jr

Director
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INDEX TO EXHIBITS

Exhibit No Exhibit Description

1.1 Underwriting Agreement dated October

2010 by and among J.P Morgan Securities

LLC as Representative of the several

Underwriters listed in Schedule thereto

UeoEye Inc and its subsidiaries party tbereto

Incorporated by Reference

SEC File Filing Date Filed Here

Form No Exhibit
_________ with

8-K 001-33015 1.1 10/12/10

3.la Certificate of Incorporation of the Company as

filed with the Secretary of the State of Delaware

5-1 333-122493 3.1 06/21/05

lb Certificate of Amendment to Certificate of

Incorporation of the Company as filed with the

Secretary of the State of Delaware

10-K 001-33015 3.1 03/15/07

3.2 Fourth Amended and Restated Bylaws of

Company

8-K 001-33015 3.2 11/06/07

3.3 Certificate of Designations Preferences and

Rights of Series Convertible Preferred Stock

of the Company as filed with the Secretary of

the State of Delaware

8-K 001-33015 4.1 09/24/10

4.1

4.2

Specimen Common Stock Certificate

Warrant Agreement with The Bank of New

York dated as of March 14 2005

S-8 333-142758 4.4 05/09/07

S-i 333-122493 4.10 03/21/05

4.3 Specimen Warrant Certificate with respect to

Warrant Agreement dated as of March 14 2005

S-l 333-122493 4.8 03/21/05

4.4 Indenture dated as of October 2009 between

the Subsidiary luarantors and The Bank of

New York Mellon as Trustee relating to the

9.625% Senior Secured Notes due 2015

10-K 001-33015 4.14 03/12/10

4.5 Form of 9.625% Senior Secured Note due 2015 10-K 001-33015 4.15 03/12/10

4.6 Security Agreement dated as of October

2009 between the Subsidiary Guarantors and

The Bank of New York Mellon as Collateral

Agent

10-K 001-33015 4.16 03/12/10

4.7 Registration Rights Agreement dated as of

October 2009 among Geoflye Inc the

Guarantors and J.P Morgan Securities Inc
Banc of America Securities LLC Jefferies

Company Inc Deutsche Bank Securities Inc
Canaccord Adams Inc Dougherty Company
LLC and SMH Capital Inc

10-K 001-33015 4.17 03/12/10
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4.8 Indenture dated as of October 2010 between 8-K 001-33015 4.1 10/12/10

the Subsidiary Guarantors and Wilmington

Trust FSB as Trustee relating to the .625%

Senior Secured Notes due 2016

4.9 Form of Intercreditor Agreement by and among S-3 333-169706 4.6 10/01/10

The Bank of New York Mellon Wilmington

Trust FSB the Company and the grantors

named therein

4.10 Form of 8.625% Senior Secured Note due 2016 8-K 001-33015 4.2 10/12/10

10.1 2006 Omnibus Stock and Performance 10-K 001-33015 10.1 03/15/07

Incentive Plan Of ORBIMAGE Holdings Inc

10 2a Employment-at-Will and Retention Agreement 10-120 000-50933 10.6 09/13/04

for Matthew OConnell

0.2b Amendment to Amendment to Employment

Agreement By and between Matthew

OConnell and GeoEye Inc as effective

October 27 2003

0.3a Employment-at-Will Agreement for William 5-1 333-122493 10.15 02/02/05

Schuster

0.3b Amendment to Amendment to Employment

Agreement By and between William Schuster

and GeoEye Inc as effective December 2004

10.4 Employment Agreement for Joseph Greeves 10-Q 001-33015 10.1 08/10/09

0.5a Employment Letter Agreement with William

Warren

10.5b GeoEye Inc Amendment to the Terms and

Conditions of Employment of William Warren

dated as of December 24 2008

0.6a Employment Letter Agreement with Brian

OToole

0.6b GeoEye Inc Amendment to the Terms and

Conditions of Employment of Brian OToole

dated as of December 24 2008

10.7 Form of Indemnity Agreements for Directors 10-12G 000-50933 10.10 09/13/04

and Executive Officers

10.8 Contract No HM1573-04-C-0003 with U.S 10-12G 000-50933 10.12 01/28/05

National Geospatial-Intelligence Agency

10.9 Contract No HM1573-04-3-0001 with U.S 10-12G 000-50933 10.13 01/28/05

National Geospatial-Intelligence Agency

10.l0 Contract No HM1573-04-3-0014 with U.S l0-12G 000-50933 10.14 01/28/05

National Geospatial-Intelligence Agency
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10.11ff Modification P00015 to Contract HM1573-04- 10-K 001-33015 10.9 04/02/09

C-00 14 of existing NextView contract with

NGA on December 2008

10.12 2009 Annual Performance Award Policy to 10-K 001-33015 10.10 04/02/09

2006 Omnibus Stock and Performance

Incentive Plan Of ORBIMAGE Holdings Inc

10.13ff Modification P00023 to Contract HM1573-04- 10-K 001-33015 10.11 03/12/10

C-00 14 of existing NextView contract with

NGA on December 2008

10.14ff Modification P00027 to Contract HM1573-04- 10-K 001-33015 10.12 03/12/10

C-00 14 of existing NextView contract with

NGA on December 2008

10.15ff Modification P00028 to Contract HM1573-04- 10-K 001-33015 10.13 03/12/10

C-00 14 of existing NextView contract with

NGA on December 2008

10.16ff Contract No HMO21O-10-C-003 with U.S l0-Q 001-33015 10.1 11/09/10

National Geospatial-Intelligence Agency

10.17ff Contract No HMO21O-10-9-000l with U.S 10-Q 001-33015 10.2 11/09/10

National Geospatial-Intelligence Agency

10.18ff Modification P00034 to Contract HM1573-04- 10-Q 001-33015 10.15 08/09/10

C-0014 of existing NextView contract with

NGA on December 2008

10.19ff Modification P00032 to Contract 8-K 001-33015 10.1 06/09/10

HM 57304C00 14 of NextView contract with

NGA dated June 2010

10.20 Stock Purchase Agreement dated March 22 8-K 001-33015 10.1 03/26/10

2010 between GeoEye Inc and Cerberus

Satellite LLC

10.21 Notes Purchase Agreement dated March 22 8-K 001-33015 10.2 03/26/10

2010 between GeoEye Inc and Cerberus

Satellite LLC

10.22 GeoEye Inc 2010 Omnibus Incentive Plan

10.23 2010 Annual Performance Award Policy to

2006 Omnibus Stock and Performance

Incentive Plan Of ORBIMAGE Holdings Inc

21.1 Subsidiaries of the Registrant

23.1 Consent of KPMG LLP Independent

Registered Public Accounting Firm

31.1 Certification of the Companys Chief Executive

Officer Matthew OConnell pursuant to

Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
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31.2 Certification of the Companys Chief Financial

Officer Joseph Greeves pursuant to Section

302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

32.1 Certification of the Companys Chief Executive

Officer Matthew OConnell pursuant to

Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

32.2 Certification of the Companys Chief Financial

Officer Joseph Greeves pursuant to Section

906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

Management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement

Confidential treatment requested
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Corporate information

Executive Team Stock Listing

GeoEye Inc.s common stock is traded on the

Matthew Oconnell NASDAQ Global Market and is listed under

President Chief Executive Officer and Director the symbol GEOY

Joseph reeves Transfer Agent
Executive Vice President Chief Financial Officer BNY Mellon Shdreownler Servines

480 Washington Boulevard

William Schuster
Jersey City New Jersey 07310

Chief Operating Officer

Telephone 877.295.8616

www.bnymellon.com/shareowner/equityaccessWilliam Warren

Executive Vice President General Counsel and
Independent Auditors

Corporate Secretary KPMG LLP

1676 International Drive
Brian Toole

Suite 1200
Chief Technology Officer

McLean Virginia 22102

Telephone 703.286.8000

Board of Directors

Investor Relations contact
Lt General James Abrahamson USAF Ret

Randy Scherago
Chairman of the Board Vice President of Investor Relations

Geo Eye

Joseph Ahearn
Telephone 703.480.6325

William Ballhaus scherago.randy@geoeye.com

Martin Faga investorrelations@geoeye.com

Acting Chairman of the Strategy Committee

Michael Horn Sr

Chairman of the Audit Committee

Lawrence Hough
Chairman of the Nominating and

Governance Committee

Roberta Lenczowski

Chairman of the Risk Committee

Matthew Oconnell

James Simon Jr

Chairman of the Strategy Committee

William Sprague

Chairman of the Compensation Committee



GeoEye
Elevating Insight

Corporate Headquarters

Dulles Corner Office Center

2325 Dulles Corner Boulevard

Herndon VA 20171

Phone 703.480.7500

Fax 703.480.8175

McLean Virginia

7921 Jones Branch Drive Suite 600

McLean VA 22102

Phone 703.893.3500

Fax703.893.8131

Thornton Colorado

12076 Grant Street

Thornton CO 80241

Phone 303.254.2000

Fax 303.254.2317

St Louis Missouri

1835 Lackland Hill Parkway

St Louis MO 63146

Phone 314.991.3095

Fax 314.991.4059

MJ Harden GeoEye Company

5700 Broadmoor Street Suite 800

Mission KS 66202-2402

Phone 913.981.9600

Singapore

Prudential Tower Level 14

30 Cecil Street

Singapore 049712

Phone 65 62322970
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